

University of Cagliari

PhD in Toxicology

Toxicology of Food and Environment

Cycle XXVII

SCIENTIFIC SECTOR OF AFFERENCE MED/04

Harmful effect of oxysterols in the gut and at systemic level: modulatory activity of olive oil phenolics

PhD student:

Dr. Gessica Serra

PhD coordinator:

Supervisor:

Co-supervisors:

Prof. Gaetano Di Chiara

Dr. Monica Deiana

Dr. Giulia Corona Prof. Jeremy P.E. Spencer

Final exam academic year 2013-2014



Gessica Serra gratefully acknowledges Sardinia Regional Government for the financial support of her PhD scholarship (P.O.R. Sardegna F.S.E. Operational Programme of the Autonomous Region of Sardinia, European Social Fund 2007-2013 - Axis IV Human Resources, Objective 1.3, Line of Activity 1.3.1)

Acknowledgments

Since I am at the end of my PhD I would like to thank all people who directly and indirectly contributed to my important milestone.

Firstly, I'd like to fondly remember Prof. Maria Assunta Dessì, who gave me the opportunity to work and improve my scientific knowledge in the Experimental Pathology Unit at the University of Cagliari.

Then, I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Monica Deiana for her guidance, help, patience, support and encouragement during these three years.

I'm also grateful to Dr. Alessandra Incani, Dr. Angela Atzeri, Dr. Barbara Cabboi, Dr. M. Paola Melis, Dr. Antonella Rosa and Giacomo Satta for their valuable and constant help and support, for sharing expertise and knowledge and for making enjoyable this long period.

I'd like to especially thank Prof. Jeremy P.E. Spencer to welcoming me in his research group and giving me the opportunity to work and improve my knowledge in the laboratories of the Food and Nutritional Sciences Department, at the University of Reading, for 18 months.

I'd like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Giulia Corona, my supervisor at University of Reading, for her patience, guidance, support, scientific advice and suggestions during my visiting PhD.

I'm also very grateful for all people that helped and encouraged me during my wonderful experience in Reading.

Last but not the last I'd like to express a special and huge thank to my family and my boyfriend Mario for constantly encouraging and supporting me throughout this experience and for their unconditional love.

Contents

Abstract	1 -
1. Introduction	5 -
1.1 Oxysterols	6 -
1.1.1 Oxysterols absorption	11 -
1.1.2 Esterification and distribution	13 -
1.1.3 Further reactions or metabolism	14 -
1.1.4 Excretion	15 -
1.1.5 Biological activities	16 -
1.2 Oxysterols in the gut	18 -
1.3 Oxysterols in the circulatory system	27 -
1.4 Mediterranean diet and health	33 -
1.5 Olive oil	36 -
1.6 Phenolic compounds in olive oil	40 -
1.7 Metabolism and bioavailability of phenolics	44 -
1.8 Biological activities of olive oil phenolics	48 -
1.8.1 Phenolic extracts	52 -
1.8.2 Hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol and homovanillic alcohol	54 -
2. Aim of the study	60 -
3. Materials and methods	65 -
3.1 Reagents and chemicals	66 -
3.2 Extra virgin olive oils (EVOO)	68 -
3.3 Extraction of EVOO phenols and secoiridoids	68 -

3.4 Determination of phenolic compounds and secoiridoids by liqu	ıid
chromatography and diode array detector (LC-DAD)	69 -
3.5 Caco-2 cell cultures	71 -
3.5.1 Material for cell cultures	71 -
3.5.2 Maintenance of cell cultures	71 -
3.5.3 Preparation of the oxysterols mixture	72 -
3.5.4 Measurement of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) production	73 -
3.5.5 Quantification of intracellular glutathione (GSH)	74 -
3.5.6 Evaluation of glutathione peroxidase activity (GPX)	75 -
3.5.7 Evaluation of cell viability/malondialdehyde (MDA) production	76 -
3.5.7.1 TBARS method and HPLC analysis	76 -
3.5.7.2 Neutral red test	77 -
3.5.8 Modulation of intracellular signaling pathways	78 -
3.5.8.1 Cells treatment	78 -
3.5.8.2 Extraction and quantification of proteins	78 -
3.5.8.3 Electrophoresis and immunoblotting	79 -
3.5.9 Evaluation of cytokines production (IL-6 and IL-8) by ELISA	80 -
3.6 Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) cultures	81 -
3.6.1 Material for cell cultures	81 -
3.6.2 PBMCs isolation	81 -
3.6.3 Preparation of the oxysterols mixture	82 -
3.6.4 Evaluation of cytokines/chemokines production	83 -
3.6.4.1 PBMCs treatments	83 -
3.6.4.2 Measurement of cytokine/chemokines production by membrane array spot	83 -
3.6.4.3 Evaluation of cytokines/chemokines (MCP-1, IL-1β, MIF and RANTES) by ELISA	84 -
3.6.5 Measurement of intracellular ROS production	85 -
3.6.6 Modulation of intracellular signaling pathways	86 -
3.6.6.1 Cells treatment	86 -

3.6.6.2 Extraction and quantification of proteins 8	6 -
3.6.6.3 Electrophoresis and immunoblotting 8	7 -
3.7 Statistical analysis 8	8 -
4. Results8	9 -
4.1 Pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory activity of oxysterols in the	
gut and protective effect of EVOO phenolic extracts	0 -
4.1.1 Intracellular ROS production9	0 -
4.1.2 Quantification of glutathione (GSH)	2 -
4.1.3 Modulation of glutathione peroxidase (GPX) activity	4 -
4.1.4 Measurement of malondialdehyde (MDA) production	6 -
4.1.5 Cell viability 9	8 -
4.1.6 Modulation of intracellular signaling pathways	0 -
4.1.6.1 Caspase 3 10	0 -
4.1.6.2 Akt/PKB 10	3 -
4.1.6.3 ERK 1/2 10.	5 -
4.1.6.4 P38 10	7 -
4.1.6.5 JNK 1/2 10	9 -
4.1.7 Induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines synthesis: IL-8 and IL-6 11	1 -
4.2 Pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory activity of oxysterols in	
PBMCs and protective effects of hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol and	
homovanillic alcohol 11	3 -
4.2.1 Induction of the synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines/chemokines: MCP-1, IL-1 β , MIF and RANTES	3 -
4.2.2 Intracellular ROS production 11	6 -
4.2.3 Modulation of intracellular signaling pathways 11	8 -
4.2.3.1 JNK 1/2 11	8 -
4.2.3.2 P38 12	0 -
5. Discussion	1 -
Bibliography 14	0 -

Abstract

A healthy and proper diet is essential to prevent the onset of various diseases, as with the diet we can also introduce harmful substances.

Among others, the oxysterols are particularly relevant; they can be absorbed from the diet and are the oxidized products of cholesterol present in cholesterolcontaining foodstuffs after cooking, processing and storage, such as meat, fish, dairy products and eggs. They can be also generated endogenously from either the spontaneous or enzymatic oxidation of cholesterol.

Oxysterols have been shown to exert several in vitro and in vivo biochemical activities, physiological but mostly pathological. In particular, they may induce cytotoxicity, cell death (necrosis and apoptosis), pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory effects in different cells and tissues and have been linked with the onset and development of major chronic diseases.

Only in the last few years, oxysterols have been shown to interfere with the homeostasis of the human digestive tract, demonstrating their involvement in the pathogenesis of human inflammatory bowel disease and colon rectal cancer.

Experimental studies suggest that the ingestion of compounds with antioxidant action, such as phenolics, is able to counteract the oxidative stress and inflammatory response in the intestine and inhibit the onset of the main related diseases.

Extra virgin olive oil polyphenols in particular, recognized for their strong antioxidant property and related anti-inflammatory action, may display this effect in the intestinal lumen where they concentrate before absorption, preventing intestinal diseases.

The first aim of this study was to evaluate the ability of different extra virgin olive oil phenolic extracts to counteract the pro-oxidant, pro-apoptotic and pro-

- 1 -

inflammatory action of oxysterols in the human colon adenocarcinoma cell line (Caco-2) and the molecular mechanism involved.

Oxysterols treatment, depending on time of exposure and concentrations used, significantly altered the cellular redox status (ROS production increase, GSH decrease, GPX activity enhancement), induced an oxidative damage to the membrane lipid fraction (MDA production increase) and cell death (Caspase 3 increase); cytokines production (IL-6, IL-8) was indicative of a pro-inflammatory effect. Phenolic extracts were able to significantly counteract the oxysterols harmful effects, at least in part by modulating intracellular signaling pathways (Akt/PKB, MAPK) involved in the cellular response to oxidative stress, apoptosis and inflammation.

Several studies in animals and humans have shown that dietary oxysterols, after digestion can be absorbed from the gut and transported into the circulation within chylomicrons and other lipoproteins. Furthermore, the presence of oxysterols in plasma can derive from the oxidation of endogenous cholesterol through enzymatic or spontaneous reactions.

Oxysterols have been found at increased levels in the plasma of hypercholesterolemic subjects and have been linked with the atherosclerotic process.

In this context the second part of this study was specifically focused on the protective effect of pure olive oil phenolics, which can be found in the blood stream after absorption (hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol, and homovanillc alcohol), against the pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory activity of oxysterols in blood cells (PBMCs).

It was demonstrated that all phenolic compounds tested, HT, TYR and HVA were able to inhibit oxysterol-induced pro-inflammatory cytokines production.

According to the hypotesis that pro-inflammatory cytokine release may be induced by changes in intracellular redox status, it was observed that, in human PBMCs treated with the oxysterols mixture, simple phenols were also able to inhibit ROS production as well as to suppress both redox-based MAPK phosphorylation (JNK, p38).

These data suggest that olive oil phenolic extracts may significantly contribute to preserve the integrity of intestinal mucosa against oxidative damage and inflammation related disorders and simple phenols found in the blood after metabolism and absorption counteract the oxysterols-induced inflammatory effect at systemic level.

1. Introduction

1.1 Oxysterols

Oxysterols are a group of 27-carbon-atom cholesterol oxidation products (COPs) that may be generated in the blood, cell and tissues through enzymatic or nonenzymatic reactions, but are also absorbed from the diet (Addis 1986, Smith 1987, Leonarduzzi et al. 2002, Jessup et al. 2005, Poli et al. 2009).

COPs have been studied and identified since 1966 when they were first detected in human atheromatous plaques (**Brooks et al. 1966**). In the 90s, isotope dilution mass spectrometry enabled the study of oxysterols in human plasma (**Breuer et al. 1990**, **Dzeletovic et al. 1995**). Since then, 7 α -hydroxycholesterol (7 α -HC), 7 β hydroxycholesterol (7 β -HC), 7-ketocholesterol (7-KC), 5 α ,6 α -epoxycholesterol (5 α ,6 α -EC), 5 β ,6 β -epoxycholesterol (5 β ,6 β -EC), 3 β ,5 α ,6 β -cholestanetriol (α -triol), 24-hydroxycholesterol (24-HC), 25-hydroxycholesterol (25-HC) and 27hydroxycholesterol (27-HC) and many others have been found in human biological samples.

Oxysterols are structurally identical to cholesterol, but with one or more additional oxygen containing functional groups (such as alcohol, carbonyl or epoxide groups) (Brown et al. 2009).

Cholesterol (Figure 1) is composed of three regions: a hydrocarbon tail (also called the lateral chain), a ring structure region with four hydrocarbon rings (A, B, C, and D), and a hydroxyl group.



Figure 1: Molecular structure of cholesterol

Oxidation can occur on the ring structure and on the lateral chain. The double bond present on the B hydrocarbon ring can be the target of free radical attacks, and therefore positions 4, 5, 6, and 7 are the most sensitive sites of spontaneous oxidation (Vejux et al. 2009).

In general, biological oxysterols fall into two main categories: those oxygenated on the sterol ring, mainly at the 7-position (i.e. 7-KC and $7\alpha/\beta$ -HC) and those oxygenated on the side-chain (i.e. 24-HC, 25-HC and 27-HC). Generally, ringoxygenated sterols tend to be formed non-enzymatically, whereas side-chain oxygenated sterols usually have an enzymatic origin. However, there are exceptions to this rule; for example 25-HC and 7α -HC can be produced by both enzymatic and non-enzymatic routes (Gill et al. 2008).

Endogenous formation of oxysterols mainly occurs through autoxidation of cholesterol (Figure 2).

Cholesterol is attacked by reactive oxygen species (ROS) abstracting an allylic hydrogen atom at C-7 of the sterol ring. The radical generated can react with oxygen to form a cholesterol peroxyl radical (COO·), which further reacts abstracting hydrogen and generates the relatively stable cholesterol $7\alpha/\beta$ -hydroperoxides (7 α - and 7 β -OOHC) (**Brown et al. 2009**). At this point, hydroperoxides may continue oxidizing non-enzymatically, in fact, in the presence of trace levels of transition metals, they are further decomposed to $7\alpha/\beta$ -alkoxy radicals (CO·), which in turn can undergo further reactions to generate $7\alpha/\beta$ -hydroxycholesterols and 7-ketocholesterol. These are the major non-enzymatically generated oxysterols that are present in most tissues. Cholesterol hydroperoxides can be also reduced to epoxycholesterols enzymatically (**Brown et al. 2009**).

Of note, some oxysterols of endogenous origin are exclusively produced via enzymatic reaction (Figure 2). 24-, 25- and 27-HCs are generated by enzymatic side-chain hydroxylation of cholesterol **(Romer et al. 2006)**. Sterol 27-hydroxylase (CYP27A1) and cholesterol 24-hydroxylase (CYP46A1) are P450 enzymes

expressed in liver and macrophages, and neural cells of the brain and retina, respectively (**Brown et al. 2009**). They catalyse the hydroxylation reactions to form 27- and 24-HCs. Cholesterol 25-hydroxylase (Ch25 h) is the enzyme responsible for generating 25-HC and it is expressed at very low levels. Nevertheless, it is very interesting, since its product (25-HC) regulates the sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP) for cholesterol synthesis (**Russell 2000**). Non-enzymatic oxidation of 25-HC has also been described (**Smith 1987**), although the main source of this oxysterol is the enzymatic oxidation. Similarly, 7α -HC can be enzymatically generated by 7α -hydroxylase and 7-ketonedehydrogenase (**Smith 1996**).

In addition, there are some enzymes (5α , 6α -epoxydase) that reduce hydroperoxides to 5,6-ECs. These ECs can be further converted to their triol end products via hydration in an acidic environment (**Tai et al. 1999**).



Figure 2: Enzymatic and non-enzymatic oxysterols production

Relatively high levels of oxysterols are present also in various foodstuffs, notably cholesterol-rich foods such as dairy products, milk, eggs, dried egg powder, clarified butter (or ghee), meat products, and dried or stored fish. Specifically, for example, the amount of COPs in meat products ranges from $0.1 \mu g/g$ (beef) to 18.7 μ g/g (mortadella), while in seafood products up to 19.4 μ g/g (Brazilian Sardines) and 33.6 μ g/g (anchovies), in dried egg pasta ranges from 44 to 52 μ g/g. For butter and spread, the content of oxysterols is around 13–27 µg COPs per gram and up to 259 µg/g for ghee (Otaegui-Arrazola et al. 2010). Generally, products containing cholesterol are susceptible to oxidation, especially dehydrated foodstuffs subjected to radiation or submitted to high temperatures, as well as those that are cooked in the presence of oxygen (Guardiola et al. 2002, Vejux et al. 2008). Indeed, under these conditions, alimentary cholesterol is exposed to numerous reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as singlet oxygen (O_2) , which can contribute to the generation of cholesterol hydroperoxides, hydrogen peroxide (H2O2), hydroxyl radical (·OH), and ozone (O₃). Consequently, when food is stored for lengthy periods in an environment other than in a vacuum, the generation of oxysterols markedly increases.

The most commonly detected oxysterols (Figure 3) in processed foods are 7oxygenated sterols (7-KC, 7 α -HC, 7 β -HC), 5,6-oxygenated sterols (5 α ,6 α -EC, 5 β ,6 β -EC, cholestane-3 β ,5 α ,6 β -triol), as well as 25-HC, 19-HC, 20 α -HC, 3 β hydroxy-5 α -cholestane-6-one, and 3 β ,5 α -dihydroxycholestane-6-one, which are present in smaller amounts (**Guardiola et al. 2002, Vejux et al. 2008**). Their concentrations have been quantified in the 10–100 µM range (**Kanner 2007**). With regard to their percentage distribution, Plat and co-workers showed that, on heating cholesterol for 3 h at 180°C, about 95% oxysterols were produced, of which nearly 40% was 7-ketocholesterol, 35% the two epoxides, and 25% the two hydroxides (**Plat et al. 2005**). Lipid oxidation reactions not only usually cause food spoilage from the sensory point of view, but also induce chemical changes that might compromise their safety for consumption (Otaegui-Arrazola et al. 2010).







 7α -hydroxycholesterol

7β-hydroxycholesterol

7-ketocholesterol







 5α , 6α -epoxycholesterol

5β,6β-epoxycholesterol

cholestane-3 β ,5 α ,6 β -triol





`ОН



27-hydroxycholesterol

24-hydroxycholesterol

25-hydroxycholesterol

Figure 3: Main endogenous and dietary oxysterols

1.1.1 Oxysterols absorption

Several studies in rats, mice, hamsters and rabbits have shown that oxysterols incorporated through the diet or excreted by the liver where cholesterol is oxidized enzymatically and non-enzymatically can be absorbed in human intestine and distributed in tissues (Otaegui-Arrazola et al. 2010).

The absorption of COPs is lower than that of cholesterol, probably due to the lower solubility of COPs in micelles, the lower susceptibility to esterification in enterocytes and the cytotoxic effects in mucosal cells, which could explain the reduced lymph flow in rats that had been given COPs (**Osada et al. 1994**). Also, each type of COP is absorbed to different degrees; 7β -HC, 7-KC and 5α , 6α -EC are detected in greater amounts than 5β , 6β -EC and 25-HC, which are not quantified in some studies done on rabbits and healthy humans (**Osada et al. 1994, Linseisen et al. 1998, Vine et al. 1998**). Interestingly, contrary to 7β -HC, the 7-KC is slightly absorbed and rapidly metabolized by the liver (**Schweizer et al. 2004**).

A correlation exists between serum levels of COPs and their concentration in the diet. In rabbits that had been fed with COP-enriched diet, increased concentrations of COPs in plasma were found compared to those in the control diet group (Vine et al. 1998, Ubhayasekera et al. 2010a). Also, a diet containing highly oxidized lipids has been found to significantly increase the contents of oxycholesterols in meat, liver and plasma of chickens (Ubhayasekera et al. 2010b). These authors concluded that meat products from animals fed a diet containing higher levels of oxidized lipids may result in higher ingestion of oxycholesterols by humans.

Similarly, studies carried out in healthy humans have shown that after a diet containing 400 mg of α -EC, serum α -EC can be detected, in comparison with the control group in which α -EC was not quantified **(Staprans et al. 2003)**. Linseisen and Wolfram have found that the intake of Parmesan cheese and salami (providing 0.84 mg of unesterified COP and 2.64 mg of COP acyl esters) raises plasma COP levels. Free oxidized cholesterol concentration increased three hours

after the meal, but with very high interindividual variation. In contrast, total COP levels in plasma were up to 100-fold higher 6–8 h after the intake of salami and Parmesan, while the variation was lower **(Linseisen et al. 1998)**.

Hence, in several studies, the sterol oxidation concentrations found in plasma and tissues are higher than those that would be predicted from the concentrations in the test diets (Linseisen et al. 1998).

Despite their lower absorption compared to cholesterol, oxysterols are absorbed more quickly in the intestine, have faster plasma clearance and are quickly collected by tissues. Oxysterols in human plasma or serum may vary from about 1 μ M (0.05% of total cholesterol) in healthy subjects to 20-30 μ M (0.5-0.75% of total cholesterol) in diseased individuals, but much higher concentrations of plasma oxysterols have also been reported (Schroepfer 2000).

Part of the absorbed oxysterols is secreted back into the intestinal lumen by transporters ABCG5 and ABCG8 which are a subfamily of ATP-binding cassette transporters. Oxysterols might be pumped back into the gut through this route **(Hovenkamp et al. 2008)**. However, there have not been any specific studies about the implication of ABCG5 and ABCG8 in oxysterol transport.

1.1.2 Esterification and distribution

Oxysterols are mainly absorbed as esters in the intestinal tract, in fact, most of them measured in plasma and tissues are predominantly esterified (Linseisen et al. 1998, Staprans et al. 2003), suggesting that they are good substrates for acylcoA cholesterol acyl transferase (ACAT) in cells and lecitin cholesterol acyl transferase (LCAT) in the circulation (Gill et al. 2008).

Once the ACAT in the enterocyte reacts with oxysterols, they are incorporated to chylomicrons and later to Very Low Density Lipoproteins (VLDL), Low Density Lipoproteins (LDL) and High Density Lipoproteins (HDL) (Staprans et al. 2003, Staprans et al. 2005). Some studies have also shown that oxysterols can be transported by albumin and oxysterols in plasma have been found also in free form (Guardiola et al. 2002).

Hence, oxysterols can be transported to different cells of the organism.

COPs amounts in chylomicrons, LDL and HDL increased 2 h after a COP-enriched meal (400 mg of α -EC), while little α -EC was detected in VLDL. COPs remained in chylomicrons until 8 h, but at 72 h the circulating α -EC was found mainly in LDL, and less in HDL (**Staprans et al. 2003**). This showed that the oxidized sterol products increased much more in LDLs than in other lipoproteins after the intake of a COP test diet. These results suggest that COPs may play an important role in atherogenesis.

 $7\alpha/\beta$ -HCs and 7-KC are the most quantified oxysterols in lipoproteins and their concentrations are greater than those found in the test diets, suggesting that they are also synthesized endogenously (Linseisen et al. 1998, Vine et al. 1998).

1.1.3 Further reactions or metabolism

Oxysterols can be metabolized or degraded to other compounds, mainly in the liver. Oxysterols are found to be further oxidized or reduced by enzymes. Some of them are key enzymes of the bile acid biosynthesis, such as 7α -hydroxylase and 27-hydroxylase (**Ryan et al. 2009**). CYP27A1 can metabolize 7-KC to 27-hydroxylated-7-ketocholesterol and further to water-soluble metabolites which can be eliminated from cells (**Lyons et al. 2001**, **Larsson et al. 2007**). On the other hand, 7-KC can also follow a reduction route, being converted to 7β -HC by 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type1 (Schweizer et al. 2004, Larsson et al. 2007). Cholesterol sulfotransferase enzyme (SULT2B1b) usually sulfates the 3β -hydroxyl group of cholesterol, but oxysterols also have been found to be substrates of this enzyme (Fuda et al. 2007). SULT2B1b is expressed in retina, skin, platelets, liver and other tissues; hence, this route could be an important oxysterol excretion pathway (**Vogelsang et al. 1998**, **Higashi et al. 2004**, **Fuda et al. 2007**).

1.1.4 Excretion

Most of the oxysterols can be only eliminated from cells through specific membrane lipid transporters as a consequence of their hydrophobicity. Apart from the ABCG5 and ABCG8 transporters that pump back oxysterols into the intestine, there are other ATP-binding cassette transporters involved in oxysterol excretion. ABCA1 and ABCG1 are mainly located in the macrophages and liver to transport oxidized sterols and other molecules out of the cell (**Brown et al. 2009**).

Some of the absorbed oxysterols are taken up from the circulation into tissues, but the relative abundance of individual oxysterols is different in diet, serum and tissues, indicating dietary oxysterols are modified in vivo by differential uptake, metabolism and elimination. The extent to which dietary sources contribute to tissue oxysterol levels is expected to depend heavily on the specific types as well as the levels of their intake (**Brown et al. 2009**).

1.1.5 Biological activities

Oxysterols have been shown to exert several *in vitro* and *in vivo* biochemical activities of both physiologic and pathologic relevance (**Brown et al. 1999**, **Schroepfer 2000**). Compared to cholesterol, the presence of a further oxygen group makes these compounds more polar and more easily diffusible through cell membranes (van Amerongen et al. 1989, Kan et al. 1992). As a consequence, they are much more reactive than the parent compound, promoting and sustaining cytotoxicity, mutagenicity, carcinogenicity, atherogenicity, inflammation, fibrosis, and programmed cell death in a number of cells and tissues (Smith et al. 1989, Lordan et al. 2009).

It is well established that oxysterols are involved in some physiological processes, they exert important functions as regulators of the expression of genes involved in lipid and sterol biosynthesis (Brown et al. 1974, Kandutsch et al. 1974), as substrates for the formation of bile acids (Danielsson et al. 1984) and as mediators of reverse cholesterol transport whereby excess cholesterol is returned to the liver for excretion (Bjorkhem et al. 1994, Lutjohann et al. 1996, Norlin et al. 2000, Bjorkhem 2007).

However the oxysterols are potentially involved in the onset and progression of major chronic diseases which inflammation, but also oxidative damage and to a certain extent cell death, are hallmarks and primary mechanisms of progression. These include atherosclerosis, diabetes, kidney failure, ethanol intoxication (Guardiola et al. 1996, Guardiola et al. 2002, Sottero et al. 2009), neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's (Bjorkhem et al. 2006, Cao et al. 2007, Vaya et al. 2007) and Parkinson's diseases (Bosco et al. 2006, Rantham Prabhakara et al. 2008) and recently they have been associated with human inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) such as ulcerative colitis and Crohn's diseases (Biasi et al. 2009, Mascia et al. 2010, Biasi et al. 2013a).

Therefore it is now suggested that oxysterols might contribute to the development of numerous other degenerative diseases such as multiple sclerosis (**Diestel et al. 2003, Leoni et al. 2005**), age-related macular degeneration (**Malvitte et al. 2006**), osteoporosis (**Liu et al. 2005**) and cataract (**Girao et al. 1998**).

In vitro and in vivo studies have also demonstrated an association between different types of oxysterols and the development and progression of cancer of the colon, lung, breast and bile ducts (Jusakul et al. 2011).

1.2 Oxysterols in the gut

The gastrointestinal tract is constantly exposed to dietary oxidized food compounds produced during the reactions that occur during processing and storage of foods (Kanner 2007). Unintended ingestion of COPs is increasing in recent years due to frequent use of industrialized foods, longer shelf-life, and the consumption of questionable quality fast food (Vicente et al. 2012).

The colon mucosa provides a physiological barrier against potentially pathogenic components of the diet, as well as against intestinal flora present in the lumen. Colon epithelial cells counteract potential insults through a highly complex network of cell signals that control the intestinal immune response, inflammatory status and mucosal wound healing **(Biasi et al. 2008)**.

Persistent inflammation, due to bacterial pathogens or genetic predisposition, induces massive recruitment of inflammatory cells, which lead to derangement of mucosal barrier. Cytokines, chemokines and antimicrobial mediators, such as prostaglandins and eicosainoids derived from lipid metabolism, are actively involved in this process. Dietary lipids have an important patho-physiological impact on mucosa function: they influence membrane fluidity, which may alter cell signaling from the receptor system, immune response, inflammatory reactions and cell death (O'Sullivan et al. 2003, Mills et al. 2005). A large body of evidence from epidemiological studies indicates that dietary lipids, such as polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) or cholesterol oxidation products, and intestinal microflora, are the main responsible for the production of oxidized species in the colon (O'Sullivan et al. 2003, Whiting et al. 2005). Excessive oxidative cell reactions together with reduced antioxidant tissue defences are prominent features in the pathogenesis of several chronic gastrointestinal diseases (Bruce et al. 2000, Keshavarzian et al. 2003).

Oxysterols have very recently been shown to potentially interfere with homeostasis of the human digestive tract, by promoting and sustaining irreversible damage of the colonic epithelial layer (Mascia et al. 2010), these products could contribute to the pathogenesis of the intestinal epithelial barrier dysfunction that occurs in human inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), the gut preneoplastic disorders, like ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease (Biasi et al. 2009), and colon cancer (Biasi et al. 2008, Jusakul et al. 2011).

Studies from O'Sullivan and colleagues have shown that 25-HC, 5α , 6α -EC, 5β , 6β -EC or 7β -OH added to undifferentiated Caco-2 cells determined a reduction in cell viability and 25-HC exhibited the greatest cytotoxicity **(O'Sullivan et al. 2003)**.

The same research group further challenged undifferentiated Caco-2 cells for 24 h in the presence of 30 μ M 5 β , 6 β -EC, 7 β -HC, or 7-KC, showing that cell viability, in terms of neutral red uptake, had decreased by 36, 11, and 17%, respectively **(Ryan et al. 2005)**.

In another study 30 μ M 7 β -HC inhibited cell growth by 50% in undifferentiated Caco-2 cells. However 7 β -HC, didn't alter the cell cycle, didn't activate caspase-3 and 8, but there was a significant increase in the activity of caspase-9 and DNA fragmentation. Treatment with a caspase inhibitor (Z-VAD.fmk) didn't delay apoptosis induced by 7 β -HC. These results suggest that the 7 β -HC induces cell death in Caco-2 through a mechanism not mediated by caspases (Roussi et al. 2005).

The same research group further challenged undifferentiated Caco-2 cells 12 and 24 h in the presence of 30 μ M 7 β -HC, showing a decrease of cell viability and mitochondrial membrane potential, as well as the release of cytochrome c. However, 7 β -HC didn't affect the expression of the two members of Bcl 2 family proteins Bcl-2 and Bax, which are known to regulate mitochondrial membrane permeabilization. They showed that this oxysterol was also able to induce lysosomal membrane permeabilization, and suggested that cytotoxic effect of 7 β -HC could be explained by a direct action on membrane integrity of both mitochondria and lysosomes (**Roussi et al. 2007**).

Biasi and colleagues showed that a mixture of oxysterols stemming from the heating of dietary cholesterol, comprising 7-KC, 7α -HC, 7β -HC, 5α , 6α -EC and 5β , 6β -EC, led differentiated human epithelial colonic cells (Caco-2 cells) to apoptotic death. Specifically, they observed, in cells treated with oxysterol mixture, a net decrease in mitochondrial potential followed by cytochrome C release into the cytosol and caspase-3 activation was found to be 30–40% higher than in untreated cells (**Biasi et al. 2009**). The observed pro-apoptotic effect was prevented when upregulation of Nox1 was inhibited; Nox1 is the intestinal isoform of NADPH oxidase, and its activation increases intracellular ROS steady-state, in fact the key event in the sterol-induced up-regulation of programmed death in differentiated Caco-2 cells was an enhanced production of reactive oxygen species consequent to the marked activation of colonic NADPH oxidase. Indeed, both mitochondrial Caco-2 cells were prevented by the pharmacologic [diphenylene iodonium (DPI)] inhibition of NOX activity (**Biasi et al. 2009**).

Very recently, the likely role of phagocytic NOX (Nox2) as well as that of isoforms highly expressed in the gastrointestinal mucosa (Nox1, Duox2) in the pathogenesis of IBD and colon carcinogenesis have been comprehensively analyzed and described (Rokutan et al. 2008).

The cytotoxicity of 7-KC at different concentrations (0-120 μ M) and incubation times (4-24 h), in intestinal epithelial cells (Caco-2 cells) was also evaluated. 7-KC showed a deleterious effect upon the mitochondrial compartment after 24 h of exposure (120 μ M), as well as upon mitochondrial membrane potential when incubated at all concentrations (12/24 h), but without affecting the endo/lysosomal compartment.

Cells incubated with 7-KC (30–60 μ M) showed an increasing trend for total RNA in the G1 phase population. Accordingly, these changes were associated to a decreasing trend of total RNA content in the G2 population. On the other hand, the opposite trend was observed when cell cultures were exposed to 120 μ M of 7-KC, where total RNA content in the G1 population was significantly lower than

the values found even in control cultures. This reflecting the negative effects of this compound upon the main functional cell population, impairing protein synthesis (Alemany et al. 2012).

Biasi and colleagues determined the effects in colon cancer Caco-2 cells (undifferentiated) of the same representative dietary mixture of oxysterols previous cited, that was used in concentrations corresponding to low (30 μ M), moderate (60 μ M) and high (90 μ M) daily dietary intake. Only the 90 μ M concentration appeared to be necrogenic, and to exclude any necrosis and to achieve the maximum biological effects, all subsequent experiments used 60 μ M concentration of oxysterols, added individually or as a mixture. 60 μ M oxysterol mixture exerted a slight apoptotic effect in terms of caspase-3/-7 activities, compared to control and regarding the single compounds, only 5 α ,6 α -EC and 7 α -HC values were significantly higher than controls, and caspase-3/7 activation in 7 β -HC-treated cells was significantly increased compared to both controls and oxysterol mixture.

Caco-2 cells incubated, with the oxysterol mixture showed also, a slight but significant NOX1 increase compared to controls. As regards cell treatment with individual components, similarly to findings for caspases' activity, 5α , 6α -EC and 7β -HC were significantly more efficient than the oxysterol mixture in inducing NOX1 activity. In particular, NOX1 activation by 7β -HC was significantly elevated compared to controls, and also compared to the oxysterol mixture. Consequent on the stimulation exerted on NOX1 activity, a burst in ROS production by Caco-2 cells was observed, the trend being similar to that detected for NOX1. The oxysterols-dependent apoptosis in Caco-2 cancer cells was mediated most likely through a strong early generation of ROS upon activation of the colonic NADPH oxidase complex NOX1. Indirect confirmation of these results comes from the significant protection against pro-apoptotic events afforded by cell pre-treatment with specific NADPH oxidase inhibitor (DPI).

In this study the production of IL-8 and MCP-1, the two well known proinflammatory cytokines with chemoattractant property for neutrophils and macrophages, respectively, have been investigated.

The only slight increase in IL-8 was observed in the oxysterol mixture treatment group, but neither 7β -HC, nor 5α , 6α -EC, nor 7α -HC enhanced cytokine synthesis. Interestingly, pre-treatment of cells with DPI only caused 0-20% inhibition of IL-8 production. Unlike IL-8, cell treatment with 7β -HC significantly induced MCP-1, which was also increased by cholesterol and oxysterol mixture. However, DPI pre-treatment wasn't able to reduce MCP-1 induction to control values in all experimental groups.

Notably, the partial or even absent inhibition of MCP-1 by DPI suggests a secondary role of NADPH oxidase in the induction of inflammation by oxysterols in this colon cancer cytotype. Other mechanisms are probably involved in the induction of inflammatory chemokines in undifferentiated Caco-2 cells (**Biasi et al. 2013a**).

The same dietary oxysterol mixture (30 μ M), but also one of its component, i.e. 7 β -HC (4.4 μ M), also exhibited a strong pro-inflammatory effect on differentiated Caco-2 cells, significantly up-regulated the expression of IL-8 mRNA levels, that was followed by a net increase in synthesis of the cytokine. This is one of the most important cytokines involved in intestinal inflammation, exercises chemo-attraction and promotes neutrophil migration into the epithelial layer. The sterols' pro-inflammatory effect seems to be mediated by enhanced activation of NOX1.

Data reported in the paper, in fact, show that the representative dietary mixture of oxysterols exerts a colitic effect through up-regulation of the colonic NADPH oxidase isoform NOX1. Furthermore induction of IL-8 in Caco-2 cells by oxysterol mixture was prevented by pretreating the cells with the NOX inhibitor DPI.

The interactions among the various components of the oxysterol mixture in inducing IL-8 expression and synthesis were also investigated. Each oxysterol was added singly to the differentiated Caco-2 cells at the same concentration as when

applied in the mixture. Components 7-KC, 5α , 6α -EC, 5β , 6β -EC, and 7α -HC didn't produce the IL-8 values observed in the cells treated with the oxysterol mixture when used singly. In contrast, 7β -HC, used singly, enhanced IL-8 mRNA and IL-8 protein, respectively 2.1 and 1.3 times more than did the oxysterol mixture.

The probable interaction of 7 β -HC with the other components of the oxysterol mixture was then examined: the cells were treated with 7 β -HC plus 7-KC, with 7 β -HC plus 5 α , 6 α -EC, with 7 β -HC plus 5 β , 6 β -EC, or with 7 β -HC plus 7 α -HC, and IL-8 expression and synthesis were evaluated. Three of the four oxysterols appeared to slightly modulate the IL-8 up-regulation exerted by 7 β -HC. Only combined treatment with 5 β , 6 β -EC and 7 β -HC induced IL-8 mRNA and protein levels similar to those reached in cells treated with the oxysterol mixture.

Cell treatment with the oxysterol mixture significantly up-regulated the expression of other pro-inflammatory interleukins in addition to IL-8, namely IL- 1α , IL-6, MCP-1, and IL-23; in addition, the oxy-mixture increased the mRNA cellular levels of the multifunctional peptide TGF- β 1 and of two membrane receptors involved in modulating innate intestinal immunity, namely TLR2 and TLR9. Cell treatment with 7β -HC increased the expression of all the molecules induced by the oxy-mixture, except for TLRs 2 and 9; its effect appeared more marked than that of the oxysterol mixture as regards the frankly pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 α , IL-6, MCP-1, and IL-23 (**Mascia et al. 2010**).

Bai and colleagues investigated the effect of oxysterols, including 25-HC and 7 β -HC, on IL-1 β -induced IL-8 production in Caco-2 cells. Pre-treatment of Caco-2 cells with 25-HC significantly enhanced IL-1 β -induced IL-8 expression at both mRNA and protein levels. However, 7 β -HC showed very little effect on IL-8 production. IL- β is an important mediator in intestinal inflammation, promotes IL-8 production, which can be modulated by a number of factors, including oxidative stress.

Furthermore, pre-treatment with 25-HC, followed by IL-1 β stimulation, enhanced IL-8 promoter activity beyond that observed with IL-1 β alone. These results suggest that 25-HC enhances IL-1 β -induced IL-8 production, possibly by enhancing promoter activity (**Bai et al. 2005**).

Cholesterol oxidation products were shown able to induce expression and synthesis of transforming growth factor beta1 (TGF β 1), an event which can be detrimental or beneficial, essentially depending on its actual intensity. TGF β 1 is fundamental to maintain the intestinal epithelial cell homeostasis through its control action on cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis, but its deregulation has been observed in several chronic human diseases, including ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease and colon carcinoma (**Biasi et al. 2007**).

Certain lipid oxidation products may enhance the activity of several inflammatory cytokines, including TGF β 1, and thus these products may exert pro-inflammatory and pro-fibrogenic effects within the colon mucosa **(Leonarduzzi et al. 1997, Poli 2000)**.

The inflamed intestinal mucosa is characterized by uncontrolled release of cytokines and of oxidative species, which chiefly arise from respiratory burst of activated phagocytes. The dysfunction of TGF β 1 signaling is widely involved in the overproduction of inflammatory mediators in IBD (Marek et al. 2002, Kader et al. 2005, Monteleone et al. 2005). In the advanced stages of IBD, fibrosis is the major complication; it manifests as strictures in Crohn's disease and as colonic shortening in ulcerative colitis. Fibrosis is mediated by intestinal fibroblasts, located at the interface between the epithelium and the lamina propria, which achieve the myofibroblast phenotype in the presence of TGF β 1(Biasi et al. 2007).

Neoplastic cells tend to become less susceptible to the growth regulatory effects of TGF- β 1 mainly because of reduced expression and/or activity of TGF- β 1-specific receptors, as reported for many human cancers including colon cancer. Consequently, a sustained increase of TGF- β 1 in the intestinal mucosa, like that caused by inflammatory processes and/or high dietary intake of animal fat, might

become crucial for the progression of a neoplastic clone. In fact, this proapoptotic and pro-differentiating cytokine could eliminate neoplastic cells still susceptible to TGF- β 1's antiproliferative action (TGF- β 1 receptor-positive cells), indirectly favoring the expansion of TGF-β1 resistant ones (TGF-β1 receptors deficient or negative cells). The actual concentration of TGF- β 1 in the colonic mucosa undergoing neoplastic transformation is still debated, and the phase of the relevant carcinogenetic process in which a reduced susceptibility to this antiproliferative molecule first occurs has not been precisely established yet. However, no doubt that TGF- β 1 level and activity may be up-regulated in cells of the macrophage lineage by animal fat oxidation products, such as oxysterols and aldehydes. But phagocytes as well as fibroblasts constitutively express TGF-B1 and are accumulating in tumor-associated stroma. Thus, up-regulation of this cytokine system within colonic tumor-associated stroma by excess dietary intake of cholesterol and n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids appears as a primary mechanism of cancer progression at least in neoplastic lesions of the digestive tract (Biasi et al. 2008).

In vitro studies demonstrated the effect of oxysterols on cytokine release by intestinal cells cultured alone. However, physiologically, the response of the intestinal epithelium to external agents occurs in the presence of dendritic cells (DCs) migrating within the subepithelial space (Iwasaki et al. 2001, Rimoldi et al. 2005). Furthermore, when the epithelial barrier is broken, cholesterol and other compounds may affect the activity of cells such as DCs in tissues deeper within the intestinal wall.

Chalubinski and colleagues showed the effects of oxidised cholesterol on epithelial barrier functions in human intestinal epithelium co-cultured with dendritic cells. In particular, they showed that 7-ketocholesterol decreased the transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) of Caco-2 cell co-cultured with DCs. The loss of TEER, reflecting monolayer integrity, was consistent with the decrease of tight junction protein ZO-1 mRNA expression (Chalubinski et al. 2014).

Oxidized cholesterols, as previously shown, are able to aggravate local inflammatory processes by inducing the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-8, IL-1 β and TNF- α (Lemaire et al. 1998, Dushkin et al. 2006, Mascia et al. 2010). However, 7-KC, a strong proinflammatory agent, has been demonstrated to have no effect on IL-10 synthesis in Caco-2 cells cultured alone (Alemany et al. 2013). Otherwise, Chalubinski and colleagues demonstrated that 7-ketocholesterol diminished IL-10 mRNA expression in Caco-2 cell induced by the presence of DCs (Chalubinski et al. 2014).

A previous study of the same research group has demonstrated, in a Real-time Cell Electric Impedance Sensing system, the ability of 7-KC and 25-HC to decrease the integrity of intestinal epithelial monolayer **(Chalubinski et al. 2013)**.

1.3 Oxysterols in the circulatory system

Hypercholesterolemia has long been related to the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, but the actual mechanism by which cholesterol favours both the initiation and the progression of this disease is still debated. The epidemiologic evidence supporting cholesterol as a primary risk factor of cardiovascular diseases has not been validated thus far by available biochemical data, which clearly indicate cholesterol as a poorly reactive molecule. Conversely, especially in the last 10–15 years, a number of experimental studies have consistently shown that cholesterol oxidation products, in particular oxysterols, possess a much higher biochemical reactivity than that of the parent compound (Sottero et al. 2009).

This evidence prompted several research groups to focus on the potential modulation of atherosclerotic disease by the oxysterols, that have been detected in human plasma of hypercholesterolemic individuals, especially in LDL subfractions, in human macrophages/foam cells and atherosclerotic plaque **(Chang et al. 1997, Brown et al. 1999)**.

Oxysterols in plaque are derived both non-enzymically, either from the diet and/or from in vivo oxidation, or (i.e. 27-HC) are formed enzymically during cholesterol catabolism (Brown et al. 1999).

The formation of atherosclerotic lesions is a complex process in part mediated by inflammatory and oxidative mechanisms (Steinberg et al. 1989, Ross 1999, Steinberg 2002). Oxidative changes occurring to low density lipoproteins (LDL) are widely regarded as playing a critical role in fibrotic plaque initiation and development. Several studies have shown that following endothelial insult by various stimuli, significant amounts of LDL micelles are retained in the sub-intimal spaces of the arterial wall where they undergo oxidative modifications leading to the formation of oxidized LDL (oxLDL) (Salvayre et al. 2002). Several lipid-derived bioactive molecules are generated in LDL during oxidation, for example, oxidized phospholipids, lysophospholipids, aldehydes, and mainly
cholesterol oxidation products that accumulate in the vascular subintimal space **(Sevanian et al. 1995, Chang et al. 1997)**. Oxidized LDL, in fact, are not recognized by LDL receptors, they are instead taken up by scavenger receptors on macrophages of arterial walls **(Stocker et al. 2004)**.

The accumulation of these compounds within the vascular subintimal space is unanimously recognised as being involved in the recruitment of circulating monocytes, their transformation into macrophages, the subsequent uptake of modified lipoprotein particles and the eventual formation of foam cells. These lipid-filled cell undergo apoptosis leading to an abnormal accumulation of cell debris in the lesion, which contributes to the instability of plaque and the atherothrombosis (Sottero et al. 2009).

Specifically, COPs are involved in various key steps of the atherogenic process: (1) endothelial cell dysfunction (increasing permeability); (2) adhesion and transmigration of monocytes (expression of cell adhesion molecules, chemokines and cytokines); (3) generation of foam cells (differentiation of monocytes to macrophages); (4) macrophages and smooth muscle cell interaction and extracellular matrix over-production; (5) inflammation and fibrotic cap formation; (6) vascular apoptosis and extracellular matrix degradation (Poli et al. 2009).

Some studies have indicated that oxLDL, known to contain high levels of oxysterols, and some oxysterols identified in atherosclerotic lesions or entering retinal pigmentary epithelial cells through choriocapillaris (**Brown et al. 1999**, **Colles et al. 2001**, **Malvitte et al. 2006**) are relevant in the induction of oxidative processes resulting from an overproduction of ROS. ROS are either free radicals such as superoxide anion ($O_{2^{--}}$) and hydroxyl radical (\cdot OH), reactive anions containing oxygen atoms such as H₂O₂ and peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), and/or secondary radicals [alkyl (R·), alkoxyl (RO·) and peroxyl (ROO·)], which are chemically activated by ROS following the oxidizing activity of ROS on unsaturated fatty acids, carbohydrates, and/or proteins; they can, in turn, contribute to producing free radicals. It is worth noting that these ROS have

important side effects on vascular wall cells at various stages of the development of atherosclerosis as well as on retinal and neuronal cells. Indeed, they favour certain major pro-atherosclerotic events: proliferation of smooth muscle cells; enhanced accumulation of oxLDL in macrophages and smooth muscle cells as well as subsequent formation of foam cells; loss of endothelial cell reactivity; peroxidation of membrane lipids and accumulation of lipid oxidation products such as malondialdehyde and oxysterols resulting from the autoxidation of cellular cholesterol (Guardiola et al. 2002); induction of cell death (Colles et al. 2001).

In atherosclerotic apolipoprotein E-deficient mice, it has also been reported that some oxysterols (7-KC, 7β-HC, and 5β,6β-EC) induced the activation of macrophage NADPH oxidase, arachidonic acid release, and superoxide anion production, which contribute to enhancing cell-mediated oxidation of LDL, and that vitamin E was able to counteract these different events (Rosenblat et al. 2002). In vitro, under treatment with 7-KC, 7 β -HC, 5 β ,6 β -EC, 5 α ,6 α -EC, and 25-HC, important oxidative processes, sometimes associated with a complex mode of cell death with some of the characteristics of apoptosis, have also been described on various cell types (Miguet-Alfonsi et al. 2002, Pedruzzi et al. 2004, Lemaire-Ewing et al. 2005). Thus, on 7-KC treated U937 cells, an abrupt drop in reduced glutathione associated with an increased production of ROS preceding caspase activation has been reported (Lizard et al. 1998). In human aortic smooth muscle cells, 7-KC also induces oxidative stress associated with apoptotic events, and it has been demonstrated that this specific effect of 7-KC is mediated by a robust upregulation (3-fold from the basal level) of Nox-4, an ROS-generating NAD(P)H oxidase homologue (Pedruzzi et al. 2004).

Oxysterol mixtures, in atheroma-relevant proportions, also display pro-oxidative activities. Thus, when 7β -HC is combined with 5β , 6β -EC the decrease in the glutathione level in U937 cells is significantly greater than with 7β -HC alone **(O'Sullivan A et al. 2005)**. Subsequent experiments showed that when 7-KC is

administered to cells together with another oxysterol, 7β -HC, the generation of ROS in J774-A1 murine macrophages is markedly attenuated (Biasi et al. 2004). It has been proposed that competition among oxysterols, apparently at the level of NADPH oxidase, diminishes the ROS induction and direct toxicity that is evoked by specific oxysterols. Moreover, in the J774-A1 murine macrophage cell line, with a biologically representative oxysterol mixture [5-cholestene-3 β ,7 α -diol (10.2%), 5cholestene- 3β , 7β -diol (6.7%), cholestane- 5α , 6α -epoxy- 3β ol (10.3%), cholestane-5β,6β-epoxy-3β-ol (24.3%), cholestane-3β,5α,6β-triol (10.0%), 5-cholestene-3β-ol-7one (31.0%), and 5-cholestene- 3β ,25diol (7.3%)], which approximates the proportions of oxysterols found in LDL from human plasma, the mRNA level of manganese superoxide dismutase was markedly increased after 24-h exposure. This over expression of manganese superoxide dismutase mRNA may serve as an important adaptive response of oxysterols to regulate oxygen species involved in the apoptotic death of macrophage/foam cells. However, in certain conditions, anti-oxidative effects of oxysterols have also been described. Thus, oxidized cholesterol in oxLDL may be responsible for the inhibition of lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced nitric oxide production in J774-A1 murine macrophages (Liu et al. 1998).

Oxysterols have been shown to up-regulate the expression of various inflammatory molecules, including adhesion molecules, growth factors, cytokines and chemokines. In human monocytic cells, 7-KC, 7 β -HC and 25-HC (at concentration 50 μ M) are potent in vitro inducers of a variety of molecules, such as IL- β , TNF α , MIB-1 β and MCP-1 (**Prunet et al. 2006**).

25-HC was found to up-regulate expression and synthesis of IL-1 β in human macrophages (**Rosklint et al. 2002**), and IL-1 β is also markedly induced by 7-KC, 7 α -HC, and, in particular by 7 β -HC in human promonocytic cells U937 and U4 (**Lizard et al. 1997, Lemaire-Ewing et al. 2005**).

Of the oxidative agents present in oxLDLs that may be responsible for inflammatory processes, various oxysterols are of primary interest (Lemaire-

Ewing et al. 2005). When human monocytes, monocyte-derived macrophages (THP-1 cells), and porcine retinal pigment epithelial cells were exposed to a series of different oxysterols (7-KC, 7 β -HC, 24-HC, 25-HC, or cholestan-3 β , 5 α , 6 β -triol), all of them had a tendency to stimulate IL-8 production, but 25-HC was the most potent one (Liu et al. 1997, Joffre et al. 2007). It should be noted that on human mononuclear cells, the pro-inflammatory activity of 25-HC was enhanced in hypoxic conditions (Rydberg et al. 2003). Moreover, on human promonocytic leukemia cells (U937) and on the J774-A1 murine macrophage cell line, a biologically representative oxysterol mixture 7 α -HC (5%), 7 β -HC (10%), 5 α ,6 α -EC (20%), 5β,6β-EC (20%), cholestan-3β,5α,6β-triol (9%), 7-KC (35%), and 25-HC (1%) induced both expression and synthesis of key chemokines for monocytes/macrophages, particularly MCP-1 (Leonarduzzi et al. 2005), and upregulated TGF- β 1 expression, thus playing a pivotal role in smooth muscle cell chemoattraction and differentiation myofibroblast-like into structures (Leonarduzzi et al. 2001).

In addition, on human umbilical venous endothelial cells (HUVECs), 7α -HC, 7β -HC, 7-KC, and 25-HC also enhanced the expression of adhesion molecules involved in the recruitment of immunocompetent cells, such as ICAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), and E-selectin (Lemaire et al. 1998, Naito et al. 2004).

Increased levels of IL-6 have been found in macrophagic cells treated with 25-HC or 27-HC (Yudkin et al. 2000, Rosklint et al. 2002), IL-6 transcript was also increased by 7-KC treatment in human aorta SMCs (Sung et al. 2009), and synthesis of TNF α , a strong pro-inflammatory cytokine, was stimulated by 22-hydroxycholesterol in human peripheral monocytes and in monocytic THP-1 cells (Landis et al. 2002). 25-hydroxycholesterol induced the production of TNF α and IL-1 in adherent human peripheral blood mononuclear leukocytes (Feng et al. 2001).

In relation to atherosclerosis, 7-KC significantly stimulated vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) production as well as NO synthesis in rat and human vascular SMCs. Indeed these oxysterols-mediated effects might contribute to the growth of atherosclerotic plaque (**Dulak et al. 2001**).

Oxysterols may also enhance the inflammatory response by inhibiting secretion of IL-10, a key anti-inflammatory cytokine. Pre-incubation of macrophages with atorvastatin, an anti-inflammatory agent, increased the IL-10 level by 41%, while 7-KC and 25-HC inhibited secretion of IL-10 respectively by 48 and by 55% (Dushkin et al. 2006).

Another interesting effect that these compounds show in sustaining inflammation is the promotion of monocyte differentiation into macrophages. It has recently been shown that a mixture of oxysterols detectable in human plaques (total amount 20 μ M), up-regulates expression and synthesis of the scavenger receptor CD36 with a consequent uptake of oxLDL (Leonarduzzi et al. 2008).

1.4 Mediterranean diet and health

Eating is one of life's great pleasures, and there are many time-tested diets that are compatible with good health. The Mediterranean diet (MD) is considered one of the healthiest dietary models for its contribution to a favourable health status and a better quality of life (Willett et al. 1995, Serra-Majem et al. 2006). The traditional MD has entered the medical literature following publications by the legendary Ancel Keys and his colleagues of results from their "Seven Countries Study", initiated in the late 1950s (Keys 1980).

Several complementary dietary patterns have existed around the Mediterranean basin for centuries, in fact, there is no single MD; indeed more than 20 countries have a coastline on the Mediterranean Sea, and more countries are included in what is termed the Mediterranean region. There are many variations to the MD, due to social, political and economic differences between these countries (**Perez-Lopez et al. 2009**).

Mediterranean dietary patterns (MDPs) are characterized by the consumption of cereals (preferably as whole grains), legumes, nuts, vegetables and fruits, in high amount and frequency; MDPs also include reduced consumption of fish or seafood, white meat and eggs, moderate to small amounts of poultry and dairy products and low ethanol intake, usually in the form of wine. The principal source of dietary lipids is olive oil, the key component of a MD (Estruch et al. 2013). In addition, MDPs also include the practicing of physical activity in order to maintain a healthy physical and mental status (Bach-Faig et al. 2011). On the contrary, the "Western" diet, diffused in industrialized countries, presents a higher intake of animal-derived foods (saturated fats), eggs, sweets, desserts and a lower eating of fruits, vegetables (fibers and micronutrients) and whole cereals (Lairon 2007). Furthermore, in the MD, the consumption of traditional and local food products is a strength, respecting the seasonal availability and the biodiversity of food (Del Chierico et al. 2014).

Since the first data from the seven countries study, several studies in different populations have established a beneficial role for the main components of the MD (Serra-Majem et al. 2006).

Vegetables, fruits and nuts are the most important source of fibers and chemical compounds, like flavonoids, phytosterols, vitamins, terpenes and phenols, which give protection against oxidative processes, hence reducing the incidence of cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (Garritano et al. 2005, Ninfali et al. 2005, Panico et al. 2005, Ortega et al. 2006). Furthermore, the consumption of olive oil, as the predominant fat intake, provides high oleic acid content and polyphenols, which have antiatherogenic, antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects, reducing the cholesterol/high density lipoprotein (HDL) ratio and the concentration of the oxidized low density lipoprotein (LDL) (Covas et al. 2006, Jakobsen et al. 2009, Lopez-Miranda et al. 2010). Furthermore, olive oil has high levels of monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) and a higher MUFA/saturated FAs (SFAs) ratio, which contribute to the protective effects (Serra-Majem et al. 2009, Bos et al. 2010). Polyunsaturated FAs (PUFAs), contained in fish (i.e., eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids), regulate hemostatic factors and provide protection against cardiac arrhythmias, cancer and hypertension and play a role in the preservation of cognitive functions (Ortega et al. 2006, Grosso et al. 2014, Grosso et al. 2014). Typically, MDPs include low-glycemic index and low-glycemic load foods, derived from the whole grain and other fiber-rich product intake, which have been associated with a lower risk of diabetes, mainly type 2, coronary health diseases (CHD) and cancer, while refined grain has been linked to the risk of diabetes, obesity, CHD and other chronic diseases (Barclay et al. 2008, Haas et al. **2009)**. The water-rich dairy products characteristic of the MD, such as yoghurt and cheese, are well tolerated by lactose-intolerant subjects. In addition, lactic acid bacteria, contained in the yoghurt, improve gastrointestinal (GI) health and immune response, displaying probiotic benefits (Ortega et al. 2006). Moreover, the consumption of yoghurt may induce positive modifications in the gut microbiota,

which have been associated with a reduction of colon cancer risk indices (Bartram et al. 1994).

Another important aspect in the MD, frequently ignored, is the low sodium intake; in fact, high sodium intake has been linked with high blood pressure, while consumption of salt-preserved foods has been connected with higher risk of stomach cancer, CHD and mortality (**Bibbins-Domingo et al. 2010**). Some of the beneficial effects of the MD in human diseases have been attributed to the polyphenols contained in red wine. Indeed, the antioxidant activity of these compounds may also be responsible for cytoprotective and cardioprotective action (**Chiva-Blanch et al. 2013**).

The MD is associated with reduced risk of morbidity (particularly atherosclerosis, cardiovascular disease, and certain types of cancer) and mortality and this has partially been explained by the consumption of extra virgin olive oil **(Cicerale et al. 2010)**.

1.5 Olive oil

The Olive (Olea europaea L.) is a small, even green tree, which belongs to the family Oleaceae and is native to tropical and warm temperate regions of the world, but it is well adapted for survival in extreme temperatures and periods of drought. The tree, famous for its fruit, also called the olive, is commercially important in the Mediterranean region as a prime source of olive oil (Boskou et al. 1996). The tree is typically distributed in the coastal areas of the eastern Mediterranean Basin, the adjoining coastal areas of south-eastern Europe, western Asia and northern Africa as well as northern Iran at the south end of the Caspian Sea. Although olive is now cultivated in several parts of the world, the Mediterranean region still serves as the major production area accounting for about 98% of the world's olive cultivation (Ryan et al. 1998).

According to estimates, the cultivation of olive tree dates back more than 7000 years. The olive tree has a long history of medicinal and nutritional values. The products of Olea europaea have been used as aphrodisiacs, emollients, laxatives, nutritives, sedatives, and tonics. Specific conditions traditionally treated include colic, alopecia, paralysis, rheumatic pain, sciatica, and hypertension (Gilani et al. 2005).

The olive fruit is an oval-shaped drupe and possesses a typical size of 2-3 cm (width and length) and pulp per stone ratios of 3.0-6.5. The olive fruit is essentially made up of 3 parts, epicarp or skin, mesocarp or pulp and endocarp or stone. The epicarp (skin) is covered with wax; during the growth phase the skin colour turns from light green to purple and brown or black. The mesocarp, with a soft, pulpy flesh, accounts for 84-90% (of the total fruit mass) while the hard endocarp (stone) containing the seed or kernel may differ from 13 to 30% of fruit weight. The seed contains 2-4 g oil /100 g. Olive fruit weight may range from 2-12 g, although some varieties may weigh as much as 20 g **(Boskou et al. 2006, Niaounakis et al. 2006)**.

The growth and ripening of olive fruit is a long process, which takes about 5 months in usual climatic conditions. However, in cold climatic conditions, growth is slower. Olive fruit's average composition includes water (50%), protein (1.6%), oil (22%), carbohydrate (19.1%), cellulose (5.8%), inorganic substances (1.5%) and phenolic compounds (1-3%). Other important compounds present in olive fruit are pectin, organic acids, and pigments. The distribution and structure of the chemical constituents of olive fruit is complex and dependent on parameters including variety, cultivation practices, geographical origin, and the level of maturation and these parameters influenced also the quality of extra virgin olive oil (Boskou et al. 1996).

Extra virgin olive oil (EVOO) is obtained solely through physical means by mechanical or direct pressing of the olives under mild thermal conditions that do not lead to alterations in the oil composition. The olives are first crushed to form a pomace, then homogenized and pressed. This oil is not subjected to any treatment except washing, decantation, centrifugation and filtration. The oil produced from this first press is known as extra virgin olive oil and is of the highest quality. It contains also the highest levels of beneficial constituents (**Rafehi et al. 2012**).

It is widely used for food preparations (as salad oil, cooking oil, in frying and pasta sauces), in cosmetics and the pharmaceutical industry. In the olive fruits, oil is mainly concentrated in the pericarp (96–98%). The formation and accumulation of oil in the drupe, a rich reservoir of many classes of lipids, is possibly the reason why the oil has a unique flavour and fragrance. The olive flesh components are transformed to the oil, which mainly consists of two components, namely saponifiables and unsaponifiables. The former, comprising triacylglycerols (TAG), partial glycerides, esters of fatty acids or free fatty acids and phosphatides, represent nearly 98% of the oil chemical composition, while the later, consisting of mainly minor components such as hydrocarbons (squalene), phytosterols (β -sitosterol, stigmasterol, and campersterol), tocopherols (α -tocopherol), carotenoids (β -carotene), coloring pigments (chlorophylls), aliphalic and triterpenic alcohols,

volatile compounds and phenolics (tyrosol and hydroxytyrosol), contribute around 1–2% of the oil composition (Viola et al. 2009, Rafehi et al. 2012).

The oil triglycerides are mainly represented by monounsaturates (oleic acid), along with small amount of saturates and considerable quantity of polyunsaturates (mainly of linoleic acid) **(Aparicio et al. 2000)**.

Historically, the healthful properties of virgin olive oil were attributed to a high proportion of monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) (**Tripoli et al. 2005**). However, several seed oils (including sunflower, soybean, and rapeseed) rich in MUFA have been demonstrated to be ineffective in beneficially altering chronic disease risk factors (**Aguilera et al. 2004**, **Harper et al. 2006**). In addition to MUFA, virgin olive oil contains a minor, yet significant phenolic component that other seed oils lack. Thus, the phenolic fraction of virgin olive oil has generated much interest regarding its health promoting properties. Subsequent studies (human, animal, *in vivo* and *in vitro*) have demonstrated that olive oil phenolics have positive effects on certain physiological parameters, possibly reducing the risk of chronic disease development, such as CVD, neurodegenerative disease and cancer (Martin-Moreno et al. 2003, Boskou et al. 2006, Covas et al. 2006, Meza-Miranda et al. 2015, Rodriguez-Morato et al. 2015).

Olive oil exerts potentially beneficial biological effects resulting from antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of its phenolic fraction (Cicerale et al. 2012).

The consumption of olive oil can provide heart health benefits such as favourable effects on cholesterol regulation and LDL-cholesterol oxidation (EFSAJournal 2011), as well as exerting anti-inflammatory, antithrombotic and antihypertensive vasodilatory effects (Esposito et al. 2004, Covas 2007, Perez-Jimenez et al. 2007). However, there are many other benefits, including on haemostasis: platelet function, thrombogenesis and fibrinolysis (Covas 2007, Lopez-Miranda et al. 2007).

Recent studies consistently support the concept that the Mediterranean diet and consumption of olive oil have been connected with a reduced risk of morbidity and mortality and compatible with healthier aging and increased longevity (Martin-Pelaez et al. 2013). In countries where the population adheres to the MD, such as Spain, Greece and Italy, and olive oil is the principal source of fat, rates of cancer incidence (mainly breast, colorectal and prostate cancers) are lower than in northern European countries (Lopez-Miranda et al. 2010).

1.6 Phenolic compounds in olive oil

The chemical composition of the phenolic fraction of olive oil has been studied extensively. Phenolic compounds of olive oil are conventionally called polyphenols, although not all of them are polyhydroxyl derivates (Martin-Pelaez et al. 2013).

Phenolics can be grouped according to their similar chemical structure in the following groups:

- *Phenolic acids*. They can be divided into two subgroups; benzoic acid derivatives and cinnamic acid derivatives, such as gallic acid, protocatechuic acid, p-hydroxybenzoic acid, vanillic acid, caffeic acid, syringic acid, p- and o-coumaric acid, ferulic acid, and cinnamic acid (Mannino et al. 1993, Servili et al. 2004).
- *Phenolic alcohols*. These compounds possess a hydroxyl group attached to an aromatic hydrocarbon group, hydroxytyrosol (3,4-dihydroxyphenyl-ethanol or 3,4-DHPEA,) and tyrosol (p-hydroxyphenyl-ethanol or p-HPEA) (Montedoro et al. 1992). Their concentration is usually low in fresh oils but increases during oil storage (Montedoro et al. 1992) due to the hydrolysis of extra virgin olive oil secoiridoids.
- Secoiridoid. The most abundant dialdehydic are the form of decarboxymethyl elenolic acid linked to hydroxytyrosol (3,4-DHPEA) or tyrosol (p-HPEA), (3,4-DHPEA-EDA or p-HPEA-EDA), oleuropein, an isomer of the oleuropein aglycon (hydroxytyrosol linked to elenolic acid) (3,4-DHPEA-EA), and ligstroside aglycon (tyrosol linked to elenolic acid) (p-HPEA-EA). p-HPEA-derivates and dialdehydic forms oleuropein and ligstroside aglycon were also detected as minor hydrophilic phenols of extra virgin olive oil (Owen et al. 2000, Rovellini et al. 2002).
- *Hydroxy-isocromans*. This is a class of phenolic compounds recently characterized of extra-virgin olive oil and the presence of 1-phenyl-6,7-

dihydroxy-isochroman and 1-(39-methoxy-49-hydroxy) phenyl-6, 7dihydroxy- isochroman has been shown in several samples (**Bianco et al. 2001**).

- *Flavonoids*. These phenolic compounds contain two benzene rings joined by
 a linear three carbon chain. They can be further divided into seven
 subgroups. Luteolin and apigenin are the most important (Rovellini et al.
 2002).
- *Lignans*. The exact structure of this type of phenolic is not well understood but is based on the condensation of aromatic aldehydes. (+)-1acetoxypinoresinol and (+)-1-pinoresinol were characterized as the most concentrated lignans in extra virgin olive oil (Owen et al. 2000). These compounds are present in the pulp and in the woody portion of the seed (Servili et al. 2004).

The phenolic acids were the first group of phenolic compounds found in extra virgin olive oil; these compounds together with phenyl-alcohols, hydroxy-isochromans and flavonoids (Bianco et al. 2001), are present in small amounts in extra virgin olive oil (Montedoro 1972), while secoiridoids and lignans are the most prevalent phenolic compounds.

The phenolic fraction of virgin olive oil is heterogeneous, with at least 36 structurally distinct phenolic compounds identified; not all phenolics are present in every virgin olive oil and there is variation in the phenolic concentration between oils (100–700 mg/kg) (Cicerale et al. 2009). Such variation in the phenolic fraction among virgin olive oils is partially a result of an array of production factors including: variety of the olive fruit (cultivar), region in which the olive fruit is grown, agricultural techniques used to cultivate the olive fruit, maturity of the olive fruit at harvest, and olive oil extraction, processing, storage methods and time since harvest. Cooking methods have also been shown to alter phenolic concentrations in virgin olive oil. Finally, research has shown that the analytical method used to quantify the concentration of phenolic compounds present in

virgin olive oil has an influence on the reported concentration (Cicerale et al. 2010).

Many different studies have deepened the topic regarding the factors that influence olive oil phenolics content, in particular the type of cultivar.

Olive polyphenols content depends both quantitatively and qualitatively from the olive variety. Different varieties, cultivated in the same environment and processed at a fixed ripening stage, produce EVOO with different total polyphenols content (Vitaglione et al. 2013).

Gomez-Alonzo and colleagues (Gomez-Alonso et al. 2002) demonstrated that the concentrations of several phenolic compounds varied significantly among different Spanish virgin olive oil varieties. For instance, the total phenolic content of the four virgin olive oil varieties examined in the study were as follows: Arbequina 25.5 \pm 1.85 mg/kg, Hojiblanca 33.6 \pm 3.14 mg/kg, Picual 37.9 \pm 4.64 mg/kg, and Cornicabra 39.2 \pm 1.80 mg/kg.

Virgin olive oils from different cultivars have also been found to possess characteristic phenolic profiles. For example, the olive oil variety Santulhana was found to contain a high amount of luteolin, Lentisca was found to contain a high concentration of hydroxytyrosol and oleuropein, and Madural Fina was found to contain a high hydroxytyrosol/oleuropein ratio (Vinha et al. 2005).

Another study investigated the phenol content of monovarietal olive oils obtained from different Sardinian cultivars. The total phenolic content was highly variable between cultivars: Bosana 440 mg/Kg, Semidana 340 mg/Kg, Nera 200 mg/Kg, Nocellara 323 mg/kg, Carolea 360 mg/Kg and Pizz'è Carroga 108 mg/Kg. The Bosana cultivar among others contains the highest amount of total polyphenols, and also of single compounds like, hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol and their derivatives **(Cerretani et al. 2006)**.

The phenolic constituents contribute to the organoleptic profile of raw olives and, consequently, to that of extra virgin olive oil **(Uylaser et al. 2014)**. They confer a

bitter, pungent taste and a strong, fruity flavour to the oil, indicating a high organoleptic quality (Visioli et al. 2002).

Extra virgin olive oils with high phenol levels exhibit also a high stability, in fact its antioxidant capacity, contributes significantly to determine the shelf-life of the oil, preventing its autoxidation (Fito et al. 2007).

Studies conducted thus far (including human, animal, in vivo and in vitro experiments) have demonstrated that olive oil phenolic compounds have positive effects on various physiological biomarkers, implicating phenolic compounds as partially responsible for health benefits associated with the Mediterranean diet. Furthermore, olive oil phenolic compounds have been shown to be highly bioavailable, reinforcing their potential health promoting properties (Cicerale et al. 2010).

1.7 Metabolism and bioavailability of phenolics

The phenolic concentration and composition of EVOO are important parameters to be considered, but the degree to which these components are bioavailable (absorbed, metabolized, distributed and eliminated) is fundamental in understanding and evaluating the health benefits associated with such compounds. To achieve an effect in specific tissues or organs, olive oil phenolic compounds must be readily bioavailable **(Cicerale et al. 2012)**.

The metabolic fate of phenolic compounds after ingestion has been the subject of study by the scientific community to find out the mechanisms through which they exert their activity into the organism. It is known that polyphenols suffer strong metabolism phase I and phase II, in which they are hydrolysed (phase I) and later conjugated (phase II) into their glucuronidated, methylated and sulphated forms in order to be absorbed (**Manach et al. 2004**). In the case of EVOO, studies have focused on some specific compounds such as hydroxytyrosol (HT), tyrosol (TYR) and oleuropein (OL), and they have been reported to be readly bioavailable and the most biologically active (**Cicerale et al. 2010**).

After ingestion, olive oil polyphenols can be partially modified in the acidic environment of the stomach. Aglycone secoiridoids are subjected to a timedependent hydrolysis in the acidic gastric environment, leading to an approximate 5-fold increase in the amount of free HT and 3-fold increase in free TYR, after only 30 min (Corona et al. 2006). This decomposition of secoiridoid aglycones increases with increased gastric residency, although under normal pH conditions (pH 2.0) and normal physiological time frames (up to 4 h) some remain intact and enter the small intestine un-hydrolyzed (Corona et al. 2006). In contrast, if the ingested secoiridoid is glucosylated it appears not to be subjected to gastric hydrolysis (Vissers et al. 2002), meaning that phenolics such as the glucosides of oleuropein enter the small intestine unmodified, along with high amounts of free HT and TYR and remaining secoiridoid aglycones. A human study conducted in normal and ileostomy subjects fed with olive oil polyphenols (OL and ligstroside aglycon, HT and TYR) has indicated that the major site for the absorption of olive oil polyphenols is the small intestine and the amount of phenolics absorbed was 55-66% (Vissers et al. 2002). Tuck and colleagues demonstrated increased bioavailability of HT and TYR when administered as an olive oil solution compared to an aqueous solution. The differences in bioavailability have been suggested to be due to the high antioxidant content of virgin olive oil compared to water and this high antioxidant content may have protected the breakdown of phenolics in the gastrointestinal tract prior to absorption (Tuck et al. 2001).

Following ingestion of EVOO, the levels of HT and TYR increase rapidly achieving a peak concentration at approximately 1 h in plasma (Miro-Casas et al. 2003a) and around 2 h in urine (Miro-Casas et al. 2001a, Miro Casas et al. 2001b, Miro-Casas et al. 2003a), which supports the evidence that the small intestine is the major site of absorption for these compounds.

A low quantity of phenolics present in urine after ingestion would indicate that these phenolics are readily absorbed. Excreted phenolics (mainly in the form of HT and TYR) were determined to be 5–16% of the total ingested (Vissers et al. 2002). Excretion of approximately 24% of administered TYR was demonstrated in a study by Miro-Cases and colleagues (Miro Casas et al. 2001b). Finally, Visioli and colleagues (Visioli et al. 2000b) reported the excretion of administered HT and TYR to be between 30–60% and 20–22% of the total ingested by human subjects, respectively. The above findings demonstrate that humans absorb a significant portion (~40–95%, using HT and TYR as proxy) of the dietary olive oil phenolic compounds they consume (Vissers et al. 2002).

The mechanism by which absorption occurs with regards to olive oil phenolic compounds remains unclear. However, the different polarities of the various phenolics has been postulated to play a role in the absorption of these compounds **(Vissers et al. 2002)**. For instance, the phenolics TYR and HT are polar compounds and their absorption has been postulated to occur via passive diffusion **(Manna et**)

al. 2000). The polar but larger phenolic, oleuropein-glycoside may be absorbed via a different mechanism to TYR and HT. It has been proposed that oleuropein-glycoside may diffuse through the lipid bilayer of the epithelial cell membrane and be absorbed via a glucose transporter. Two additional mechanisms for oleuropein-glycoside absorption are potentially via the paracellular route or transcellular passive diffusion (Edgecombe et al. 2000). The phenolics, oleuropein and ligstroside-aglycones are less polar and currently there are no data available on their mechanism of absorption. Further research is required to substantiate the mechanisms of absorption for these phenolics and further investigate the mechanisms for other phenolic compounds.

The analysis of human plasma and urine (Miro Casas et al. 2001b, Miro-Casas et al. 2003a) has also demonstrated that both HT and TYR are dose-dependently absorbed and are metabolized primarily to O-glucuronidated conjugates (Visioli et al. 2000b, Caruso et al. 2001, Visioli et al. 2001, Miro-Casas et al. 2003b). HT also undergoes O-methylation by the action of catechol-O-methyl-transferase (COMT), and both homovanillic acid and homovanillyl alcohol (HVA) have been detected in human and animal plasma and urine after the oral administration of either EVOO or pure HT and TYR (D'Angelo et al. 2001, Tuck et al. 2001, Tuck et al. 2002, Visioli et al. 2003, Miro-Casas et al. 2003b). A study conducted by Corona et al. about absorption, metabolism and microflora-dependent transformation of HT, TYR and their conjugated forms, such as Ol also shown similar results, in fact, both HT and TYR transferred across human Caco-2 cell monolayers and rat segments of jejunum and ileum, were subject to classic phase I/II biotransformation. The major metabolites identified were an O-methylated derivative of HT, glucuronides of HT and TYR and a novel glutathionylated conjugate of HT (HT-GSH). In contrast, there was no absorption of Ol in either model. However their studies have also demonstrated that secoiridoids, which appear not to be absorbed in the small intestine, undergo bacterial catabolism in the large intestine with oleuropein undergoing rapid degradation by the colonic microflora producing HT as the major end product **(Corona et al. 2006)**.

Most recently, Garcia-Villalba et al. reported the presence of metabolites for the majority of olive oil phenolic compounds (i.e. secoiridoids, flavanoids and phenolic alcohols) in human urine, further suggesting that these compounds are metabolised and absorbed post-ingestion. For instance, the largest number of metabolites was produced from HT, oleuropein aglycone and oleocanthal, significant postabsorption metabolism of indicating these compounds. Conversely, the lowest number of metabolites came from TYR, luteolin, apigenin, pinoresinol and acetoxypinoresinol, suggesting that these compounds may have been excreted in faeces, destroyed in the gastrointestinal tract, excreted through another metabolic pathway or poorly absorbed (Garcia-Villalba et al. 2010). In the case of poorly absorbed phenolic compounds, it has been suggested that these components may exert local antioxidant activities in the gastrointestinal tract and this proposal is supported by research demonstrating the free radical scavenging capacity of olive oil phenolics in both the faecal matrix and intestinal epithelial cells (de la Torre 2008). Further, it is postulated that unabsorbed olive oil phenolics may exert antimicrobial activities in the gastrointestinal tract as has been demonstrated with tea and certain fruit phenolics (Selma et al. 2009). However, further research is required to substantiate these and to gain a more thorough understanding of the metabolism of the various phenolic compounds present in EVOO.

1.8 Biological activities of olive oil phenolics

Many reviews, focused on the nutritional properties of EVOO phenolics, have been published in the last years (Covas et al. 2006, Covas 2007, Fito et al. 2007, Corona et al. 2009, Covas et al. 2009, Cicerale et al. 2010, Cicerale et al. 2012).

Human and animal research (both *in vitro* and *in vivo*), conducted using some pure compounds typical of EVOO (HT, TYR, oleocanthal, etc) or EVOO polyphenol extracts, concurrently attributed to these compounds many health benefits, demonstrating their important biological activities and preventive effects in regards to the development of chronic degenerative diseases.

One of the main properties of olive oil phenolics contributing directly or indirectly to their beneficial health effects is their antioxidant capacity.

An excess of free radicals like reactive oxygen species (ROS), which are continuously formed by our organism as a result of normal metabolic process, and also enter our body through food or the environment, can cause oxidative damage to cellular biomolecules (i.e. lipids, DNA and proteins), increasing the risk of developing numerous chronic diseases such as atherosclerosis, cancer, CVD, IBD, chronic inflammation, stroke and other degenerative diseases (Uttara et al. 2009). Phenolic compounds in EVOO have been shown to exert beneficial effects on lipid oxidation, DNA oxidative damage and in general oxidative stress, *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and these activities have been shown to have a subsequent positive effect on disease risk (Cicerale et al. 2009).

In experimental studies (*in vivo* and *in vitro*), phenolics have been shown to beneficially alter blood lipid composition (Vissers et al. 2001, Visioli et al. 2005), inducing a significant increase in circulating HDL (Mangas-Cruz et al. 2001, Marrugat et al. 2004, Weinbrenner et al. 2004, Covas et al. 2006), and in particular significantly decreasing LDL, total cholesterol and triglycerides (Gimeno et al. 2002, Gorinstein et al. 2002).

In addition, different studies have demonstrated that an increased ingestion of olive oil phenolics was able to reduce and inhibit the oxidation of LDL, considered to be a major risk factor for the development of atherosclerosis and CVD (Witztum 1994).

Polyphenols can also exert a protective effect against the oxidative damage to DNA, considered a precursor for human carcinogenesis (Cooke et al. 2003). Research concerning DNA damage for example (as measured by the comet assay and 8-oxo-deoxyguanosine) showed that the intake of phenol-rich EVOO decreased oxidative DNA damage in vivo in humans by up to 30% (Salvini et al. 2006, Machowetz et al. 2007). Animal and in vitro studies have also mirrored these human study findings (Fabiani et al. 2008, Jacomelli et al. 2010).

In vitro studies have shown that olive oil has beneficial effects on cellular function **(Fabiani et al. 2006)**, for example modulating factors that are underlying for tumor formation and progression, such as deregulated cell proliferation and suppressed cell death **(Evan et al. 2001)**.

Epidemiology has shown an inverse correlation between an olive oil rich in polyphenols consumption and cancer in different sites, breast (Martin-Moreno et al. 1994, Trichopoulou et al. 1995, Garcia-Segovia et al. 2006), pancreas (Soler et al. 1998), oral cavity (Franceschi et al. 1999), oesophagus (Bosetti et al. 2003), colon-rectum (Stoneham et al. 2000), prostate (Hodge et al. 2004) and lung (Fortes et al. 2003).

A number of human studies have also demonstrated the beneficial effects of olive oil phenolics on other markers of oxidative stress (Cicerale et al. 2010), such as F2isoprostanes, lipid peroxides (LPO), and glutathione including oxidized glutathione (GSSG), reduced glutathione (GSH) and glutathione peroxidase (GPX). F2-isoprostanes are formed from the free radical oxidation of the cell membrane derived polyunsaturated fatty acid (FA), arachidonic acid. LPO is likely to be derived from oxidation of FA (Ruano et al. 2005). Furthermore, the main biological role of glutathione is protecting an organism from oxidative damage. In particular, depletion of GSH precedes lipid oxidation and atherogenesis in vivo (Biswas et al. 2005).

Oxidation and inflammation are intertwined processes and it is well established that the pathophysiology of common disease states such as cancer, cardiovascular diseases and neurodegenerative diseases are associated with chronic inflammation (Cicerale et al. 2012). Phenolic compounds derived from EVOO have been reported to have also a significant anti-inflammatory capacity. In vivo and in vitro research has suggested that the dietary intake of EVOO, containing significant concentrations of phenolics, may attenuate inflammatory responses in the body and therefore reduce the risk of chronic inflammatory disease development (Corona et al. 2009, Khymenets et al. 2009, Konstantinidou et al. 2010).

It has been demonstrated in humans that administration of phenol-rich virgin olive oil or particular olive oil phenolics decreased the concentration of different markers of inflammation like arachidonic acid and its metabolites, thromboxane B2 (TXB2) and leukotriene B4 (LTB4) (Weinbrenner et al. 2004, Visioli et al. 2005, Bogani et al. 2007), interleukin 6 (IL-6) and C-reactive protein (CRP) (Fito et al. 2008), cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1) and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) (Beauchamp et al. 2005).

Olive oil phenolics at nutritionally relevant concentrations also inhibited endothelial adhesion molecule expression (**Carluccio et al. 2003**) and human platelet activity in vitro (**Togna et al. 2003**).

Blood platelets play a major role in CVD and atherosclerosis, in that, chronic and recurrent damage to the vascular epithelium results in the development of lesions. These lesions then stimulate endothelial adhesion molecules expression, platelet activity, and aggregation (White 1994, De La Cruz et al. 2000).

The ingestion of phenolic compounds from olive oil can also influence the gut microbial balance since most of them are not completely absorbed into the upper parts of the gastrointestinal tract and reach the lower parts where they are metabolised by the gut microflora (**Corona et al. 2006**).

In addition, phenolics have demonstrated their efficacy in vitro as inhibitors of a wide range of microbial gastrointestinal pathogens such as Escherichia coli (Medina et al. 2007) or Helicobacter pylori (Romero et al. 2007), respiratory pathogens such as Haemophilus influenzae (Bisignano et al. 1999) or Mycoplasma pneumoniae (Furneri et al. 2004) dental pathogens like Streptococcus mutans (Medina et al. 2006) and genital pathogens such as Candida albicans (Medina et al. 2006) or even virus like herpes mononucleosis (Fredrickson 2000) and the para-influenza type 3 virus (Ma et al. 2001).

1.8.1 Phenolic extracts

Nowadays, it is clear that many of the beneficial effects of ingesting EVOO are due to its minor polyphenol compounds such flavonoids, lignans as (acetoxypinoresinol), secoiridoids (oleuropein-aglycone and ligstroside aglycone) and their hydrolysis and metabolic products HT and TYR, HVA respectively, among others. Most of studies focus mainly on the activity of the individual compounds, but recently there is great interest to evaluate the action of phenolic extracts (PE). In fact, at cellular level, the activity of the total phenolic fraction extracted from EVOO and the plausible action mechanisms have not been completely described.

A recent study showed the anti-oxidant and cytoprotection of an EVOO PE in Caco-2 cell exposed to a mycotoxin. The extract protected epithelial cells significantly decreasing ROS production and promoting cell viability and proliferation (Chiesi et al. 2015).

The effect of a PE from olive oil was also analysed on the antioxidant status in rats by DPPH and FRAP in plasma and by superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPX) activities in erythrocytes. Plasma nonenzymatic antioxidant capacity was significantly modulated (increased DPPH and FRAP values) by the PE, that was also able to significantly decrease SOD and GPX and increase CAT activities (**Rubio et al. 2014**).

PE down regulate also inflammatory responses in different districts.

A study conducted in LPS-stimulated murine macrophages established the antiinflammatory activity of an EVOO PE: in particular it decreased nitric oxide (NO) and ROS generation, induced a significant down-regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), COX-2 and microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1 (mPGES-1) protein expressions, in addition reduced mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) phosphorylation and prevented the nuclear transcription factor kappa B (NF-KB) translocation to the nucleus **(Cardeno et al. 2014b)**. The protective effect of dietary PE was also analysed in the inflammatory response associated to chronic colitis model in mouse. In animals treated with the extract disease activity index (DAI) and cell proliferation were significantly reduced, as well as MCP-1, TNF- α , COX-2 and iNOS expression levels. In addition, notably down-regulated JNK phosphorylation, prevented I κ B α (inhibitory) degradation and peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma (PPAR γ) deactivation (Sanchez-Fidalgo et al. 2013).

In another study the effects of EVOO PE were evaluated in a model of rheumatoid arthritis, the collagen-induced arthritis model in mice. The study demonstrated that PE decreases joint edema, cell migration, cartilage degradation and bone erosion. PE significantly reduced the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and prostaglandin E2 in the joint as well as the expression of COX-2 and mPGES-1. PE inhibited also c-Jun N-terminal kinase, p38 and signal transducer and activator of transcription-3. In addition, PE decreases NF-KB translocation leading to the down-regulation of the arthritic process (Rosillo et al. 2014).

Different studies have also demonstrated that PEs possess anticarcinogenic properties.

An *in vitro* study showed for example that two EVOO PEs have an antiproliferative effect on colon cancer cells through the interaction with estrogendependent signals involved in tumor cell growth **(Pampaloni et al. 2014)**.

Other studies demonstrated the preventive effect of a complex mixture of PE against oxidative DNA damage in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), promyelocytic leukemia (HL60) (Fabiani et al. 2008) and HeLa cells (Erol et al. 2012)

1.8.2 Hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol and homovanillic alcohol

Hydroxytyrosol (Figure 4) and tyrosol (Figure 5) are the main phenolic alcohols of EVOO (Gomez-Alonso et al. 2002). Their concentration is low in fresh oils, but increases during oil storage due to the hydrolysis of EVOO secoiridoids that contain them in their molecular structures (oleuropein and ligstroside) (Brenes et al. 2001). The homovanillic alcohol (Figure 6) is the methylated derivative and the major identified metabolite of HT in humans, product of catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) activity, and also naturally present in EVOO (Manna et al. 2000, Tuck et al. 2002).

Olive oil phenol alcohols seem to be quite similar in molecule size, although do not exhibit close similarity in their structures: HT is a catechol (o-diphenol), TYR is a phenol and HVA is a methoxyphenol. The configuration of compounds is expected to moderate penetration into membranes and thus affect antioxidant performance in biological systems (**Paiva-Martins et al. 2003**).



Figure 4: Hydroxytyrosol



OH



Figure 6: Homovanillic alcohol

It is well-known that the antioxidant properties of o-diphenols are related to hydrogen-donation, i.e. their ability to improve radical stability by forming an intramolecular hydrogen bond between the free hydrogens of their hydroxyl group and their phenoxyl radicals (Visioli et al. 2002). In fact, although specific investigations on the structure-activity relationship of olive oil phenols are yet to be carried out, similar studies have been performed on flavonoids and have indicated that the degree of antioxidant activity is correlated with the number of hydroxyl substitutions (Rice-Evans et al. 1996).

The results of different studies showed that HT and its derivatives (all sharing odiphenolic structure) are the most potent radical scavengers of olive oil exercising a high antioxidant capacity, whereas monophenols as TYR (with single hydroxyl substitutions) are quite weak, with a low activity. Few and controversial data are available on the radical scavenging activities of HVA, but several studies have shown to be partially active against reactive species in several detection systems (**Tuck et al. 2002, Grasso et al. 2007**).

HT displayed its effective antioxidant characteristics, scavenging free radicals, chelating transition metals (Cu²⁺ and Fe³⁺), breaking peroxidative chain reactions, preventing lipid peroxidation, inhibiting hypochlorous acid derived radicals (Hu et al. 2014).

TYR, although has been reported to have a low antioxidant capacity as compared to HT, has scavenging effects on peroxynitrite (**De la Puerta et al. 2001**) and O^{2⁻} (**Bertelli et al. 2002**) and HVA can actively reduce transition metals (**Aguiar et al. 2007**).

Although the bioactions of phenolic compounds are commonly related to their free radical scavenging activity, current evidence strongly supports that HT and TYR may also provide an indirect protection through increasing the endogenous defense systems involving higher expressions of certain enzymes with antioxidant activities (Jemai et al. 2008a).

Several studies have demonstrated the benefits of phenolic compounds against oxidative damage of macromolecules, in particular lipids (LDL) and DNA. Recently, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) has recognized protective effects of the olive oil phenolic compounds on LDL oxidation, in particular of HT (EFSAJournal 2011), already widely showed in several in vitro and in vivo studies (Salami et al. 1995, Marrugat et al. 2004, Gonzalez-Santiago et al. 2006). The antioxidant capacity of phenolics on LDL has been suspected for decades. In fact, in 1995 Salami et al. (Salami et al. 1995) reported lower levels of isoprostanes and thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances, and therefore lipid peroxidation, in LDL due to HT. Also TYR has been shown to be effective in inhibiting LDL-cholesterol oxidation, and preventing the modification of the apoproteic moiety (Caruso et al. 1999). Subsequent studies confirmed the protective effect of these antioxidants on LDL lipoproteins, suggesting a modulation of atherosclerosis, working with in vitro models as well as with animals (Marrugat et al. 2004, Gonzalez-Santiago et al. 2006, Visioli et al. 2006, Di Benedetto et al. 2007). It has also been confirmed that the incubation of plasma with phenolic compounds of olive oil (among them HT) reduces and prevents LDL oxidation (Leenen et al. 2002). More recently, it has been demonstrated that olive phenols and their metabolites are much more efficient inhibitors of lipid and protein oxidations compared to vitamins C and E (Roche et al. 2009)

In addition, Jemai et al. demonstrated that in rats fed with a cholesterol-rich diet, HT was able to promote hypocholesterolemia, lowering LDL plasma levels and total cholesterol; also, they increased the levels of HDL and the activity of antioxidant enzymes reducing LDL oxidation (Jemai et al. 2008a, Jemai et al. 2008b).

Intercellular and vascular cell adhesion molecules (ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and Eselectin) are crucial for endothelial activation an early step in atherogenesis; HT and HVA were able to inhibit endothelial activation reducing cell surface expression of all the adhesion molecules, inhibiting their mRNA levels, thus decreasing monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells (**Carluccio et al. 2003, Dell'Agli** et al. 2006).

Mixtures of olive phenols were able to reduce hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂)-induced DNA damage in cells (Nousis et al. 2005, Fabiani et al. 2008) as well as individual olive oil phenols as HT and to a lesser extent HVA (Quiles et al. 2002, Nousis et al. 2005, Grasso et al. 2007, Fabiani et al. 2008). The activity of TYR against hydroperoxyde induced DNA damage remains unclear: it is able to reduce DNA oxidation only at high doses in oxidative-stress-sensitive cells (Quiles et al. 2002), and did not exert any protection activity in hydrogen peroxide exposed Jurkat cells (Nousis et al. 2005), nevertheless, in a study with activated monocytes it was reported to be more effective than HT (Fabiani et al. 2008). HT was also highly protective against the peroxynitrite dependent nitration of tyrosine and DNA damage in vitro (Deiana et al. 1999). The role of phenolic compounds on in vivo DNA oxidative damage after olive oil consumption in humans remains unclear. The protective role was observed against DNA oxidative damage taking place in peripheral blood mononuclear cells or lymphocytes (Yamada et al. 1991, Salvini et al. 2006), but not on the whole body DNA oxidation (Hillestrom et al. 2006, Machowetz et al. 2007) measured by accumulation of DNA oxidative products in urine, where it was lowered irrespectively to amount of phenols by any type of olive oil (Machowetz et al. 2007).

Additional evidence of the antioxidant properties of HT was provided by Manna et al. (Manna et al. 1997), who demonstrated an antioxidant effect of HT (but not of TYR) in a model of oxidative stress induced in intestinal epithelial cells. In this experimental model TYR, which lacks the ortho-diphenolic structure, was found to be ineffective. The same group described a protective effect of HT toward hydrogen peroxide-induced damage to human erythrocytes (Manna et al. 1999).

TYR has been effective protecting the Caco-2 intestinal mucosa cells against the cytostatic effects produced by oxidized LDL (Giovannini et al. 1999) and inhibiting the peroxynitrite-induced neuronal oxidative damage in cultured

neurons (Vauzour et al. 2007). TYR has also been shown to improve the intracellular antioxidant defence systems in macrophage-like cell line (Di Benedetto et al. 2007).

Deiana et al. investigated the capacity of HT, TYR and HVA to inhibit H₂O₂ induced oxidative damage in LLC-PK1 studying the effect on specific cell membrane lipid targets, unsaturated fatty acids and cholesterol. Both HT and HVA were able to prevent in renal cells the lipid peroxidation process that plays a central role in tubular cell injury. TYR, instead, in this experimental model, did not exert any protective effect (**Deiana et al. 2008, Loru et al. 2009)**. It was also demonstrated that both compounds (HT and HVA) were capable of inhibiting hydrogen peroxide-induced kidney cell injury via an ability to interact with both MAP kinase and PI3 kinase signalling pathways, albeit at different concentrations (**Incani et al. 2010**).

The same research group investigated the capacity of HT, TYR and HVA to inhibit the insult of dietary lipid hydroperoxides (tert-butyl hydroperoxide-TBH) on the intestinal mucosa, using cultures of Caco-2 and studying the effect of treatment on specific cell membrane lipid targets. Pre-treatment with these simple phenols protected Caco-2 cells from oxidative damage (**Deiana et al. 2010**).

Olive oil phenolics have also shown to display anti-inflammatory properties. It has been observed that HT inhibits in vitro platelet aggregation induced by TXB2 production and collagen (**Petroni et al. 1995**). The same effect was observed in healthy rats assigned to diet supplemented with HT (**Gonzalez-Correa et al. 2008**): in this study it was proposed that both an inhibition of COX-2 with a related decrease of TXA2 blood levels and an increase of vascular nitric oxide production may contribute to this effect (**Gonzalez-Correa et al. 2008**).

TYR has been shown to inhibit the production of LTB4 in rat peritoneal leukocytes, while similar effects have been seen in human platelet cells and leukocytes (**Petroni et al. 1995, Petroni et al. 1997, de la Puerta et al. 1999).** An important observation is that the capacity of TYR to prevent H₂O₂ production by

macrophages induced by oxidized LDL, arachadonic acid release, and PGE2 synthesis, was enhanced by the addition of β -sitosertinol (**Vivancos et al. 2008**).

In a study using J774 murine macrophage cells treated with LPS, a potent macrophage activating stimulus, treatment with HT resulted in the inhibition of expression of two pro-inflammatory genes, iNOS and COX-2. This was found to be due to the prevention of activation of the transcription factors NF- κ B, STAT-1 α , and IRF-1 (Maiuri et al. 2005). HT has been reported to possess significant anti-inflammatory actions in an animal model of inflammation and attenuate TNF α and IL-1 β expression, which are pro-inflammatory cytokines often observed in inflammatory diseases (Gong et al. 2009). Furthermore, an in vitro study has reported the attenuation of iNOS, COX-2 and TNF α by HT in LPS- challenged human monocytic THP-1 cells (Zhang et al. 2009).

EVOO rich in HT diets exerted a noteworthy beneficial effect in chronic dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)-induced colitis by cytokine modulation and COX-2 and iNOS reduction via downregulation of p38 MAPK. In addition to the beneficial effect of EVOO, supplementation of the diet with HT may improve chronic colitis through iNOS downregulation plus its antioxidant capacity (Sanchez-Fidalgo et al. 2012).

HT, at nutritionally relevant concentrations, reduced also matrix metalloproteinase MMP-9 and COX-2 induction in activated human monocytes via protein kinase C (PKC α , PKC β 1) inhibition (Scoditti et al. 2014).

A long period of oxidative stress and inflammatory responses will cause many diseases. A pro-inflammatory cytokine plays an important role in the pathogenesis of chronic and autoimmune diseases. Some data shows that the intake of polyphenols such as OL and HT can affect the formation of advanced glycation end products and their interaction with respective receptors, and modulate chronic inflammatory diseases, for example, type II diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis, and inflammatory bowel disease (Kawaguchi et al. 2011).

2. Aim of the study

A healthy and proper diet is essential to prevent the onset of various diseases, as with the diet we can also introduce harmful substances.

Among others, the oxysterols are particularly relevant; they can be absorbed from the diet and are the oxidized products of cholesterol present in cholesterolcontaining foodstuffs after cooking, processing and storage, such as meat, fish, dairy products and eggs. They can be also generated endogenously from either the spontaneous or enzymatic oxidation of cholesterol.

Oxysterols have been shown to exert several *in vitro* and *in vivo* biochemical activities, physiological but mostly pathological. In particular, they may induce cytotoxicity, cell death (necrosis and apoptosis), pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory effects in different cells and tissues and have been linked with the onset and development of major chronic diseases.

Recently it has been shown that they are involved in irreversible damages to the colonic epithelial layer, because of their ability to induce oxidative stress, apoptosis and inflammatory reactions, and they have been associated with the pathogenesis of the IBD and with an increased risk of developing colon-rectal cancer.

The intestinal epithelium sits in fact at the interface between an organism and its luminal environments and represents the first barrier of defence. As such it is exposed to a wide range of oxidant agents, either endogenous or derived from the diet, like oxysterols, that can damage the intestinal integrity causing various intestinal diseases.

Substantial evidence shows that oxysterols contribute also to the development of atherosclerosis as they are common components of oxidized-LDL and have been detected in both human plasma and in the core of fibrotic plaques inducing and sustaining chronic inflammatory process within the vascular well, especially in hypercholesterolemic subjects.

Over the years, the so-called Mediterranean diet has become widely associated with improved health and well-being as well as protection against chronic diseases. Epidemiological and clinical studies have demonstrated that low chronic disease risk observed in Mediterranean areas seems to be ascribed to high intake of extra virgin olive oil, in particular for the anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of the phenolic fraction.

The phenolic fraction of extra virgin olive oil contains several kinds of chemical compounds, mainly complex phenols, like secoiridoids derivatives, that are not directly absorbed, but undergo gastrointestinal biotransformation, increasing the relative amount of hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol entering the small and large intestine where can be further metabolised before absorption. The phenolic compounds which are absorbed don't reach relevant blood concentrations, however they have been shown to be sufficient to exert a biological systemic effect. Most of the phenols remains in the intestine, where their concentration of these simple phenols may be in the high μ M and they might play an important role in preventing oxidative stress linked diseases.

The aim of this study was to investigate the protective effect of the oil polyphenols (as a whole extract or as pure compounds) against the harmful action of oxysterols both at intestinal and systemic level.

The first part of this study focused on the capability of extra virgin olive oil phenolic extracts to counteract the pro-oxidant, pro-apoptotic and proinflammatory effects induced by dietary oxysterols in the gut.

Caco-2 cell line, an accepted model for human intestinal epithelial cells, was used to investigate these effects in the gut. Caco-2 are an adenocarcinoma colon cell line that spontaneously undergo differentiation into enterocyte-like cells at about 21 days after plating. Differentiated Caco-2 cells express microvilli, basolateral membranes separated by tight junctions, intestine-specific antioxidant enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GPX), glutathione reductase (GRED) and catalase, and possess absorptive properties similar to those of normal intestine. The oxidative damage was induced by an oxysterols mixture composed by the most widely represented oxysterols in processes or/and stored cholesterol-rich foods: 7α -hydroxycholesterol, 7β -hydroxycholesterol, 7-ketocholesterol, cholesterol 5α , 6α -epoxide and cholesterol 5β , 6β -epoxide. The phenolic extracts used, were obtained from monovarietal extra virgin olive oils of two olive cultivars among the most common and widespread varieties in Sardinia (Italy), Bosana and Nera of Gonnos.

Changes in the cellular redox state were evaluated determining ROS generation, variation of intracellular GSH concentration and GPX activity; malondialdehyde (MDA) production, a secondary product of lipid peroxidation, was then evaluated as marker of oxidative damage together with induction of cell death, analysed through a viability test and measuring the activity of caspase 3, as apoptotic index. Caco-2 were also used in order to investigate the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, specifically IL-6 and IL-8 already known to be crucial in chronic intestinal inflammation and sustaining intestinal barrier disruption.

It is also well known that polyphenols can act by modulating different cell signaling pathways and, through these, exert their beneficial effects.

For this reason another purpose of this study was to analyse the signaling pathways modulated by oxysterols and olive oil phenolic extracts to clarify the molecular mechanism involved in the processes of survival/apoptosis and in the antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity (Akt/PKB, MAPK).

The second part of this study focused on the protective action of pure olive oil phenolics, which can be found in the blood stream after absorption, hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol, and homovanillic alcohol, against the pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory activity of oxysterols at systemic level.

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were used for this purpose; these are composed by any blood cell having a round nucleus such as lymphocytes, monocytes and macrophages, and were separated from whole blood of healthy volunteers.

- 63 -
A different biologically compatible oxysterols mixture was used, composed by the most widely represented oxysterols in the blood of hypercholesterolemic subjects, derived in part from the diet and in part from oxidation of endogenous cholesterol: 7α -hydroxycholesterol, 7β -hydroxycholesterol, 7β -hydroxycholesterol, 7κ , 6α -epoxide, cholesterol 5β , 6β -epoxide, cholestane- 3β , 5α , 6β -triol and 25-hydroxycholesterol.

It is well known that oxysterols are able, directly or through a ROS-mediated mechanism, to enhance pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in human macrophages or monocytes, by also modulating redox-sensitive pathways.

Therefore PBMCs were used in order to analyse the ability of the olive oil simple phenols to inhibit the increase of ROS and pro-inflammatory cytokine/chemokine production (MCP-1, IL-1 β , MIF and RANTES) induced by the oxysterols mixture and to modulate the signaling pathways (MAPK) involved in these processes.

3. Materials and methods

3.1 Reagents and chemicals

All solvents, of analytical grade, were purchased from Merk (Darmstadt, Germany).

 7α -hydroxycholesterol (cholest-5-en-3 β , 7α -diol), 7β -hydroxycholesterol (cholest-5en- 3β , 7β -diol) and cholestane- 3β , 5α , 6β -triol (5α , 6β -dihydroxycholestanol) were purchased from Avanti Polar Lipids (Alabaster, Alabama, USA). 7-ketocholesterol (3β-hydroxy-5-cholestene-7-one), 25-hydroxycholesterol (cholest-5-ene-3β,25-diol), cholesterol $5\alpha, 6\alpha$ -epoxide ($5\alpha, 6\alpha$ -epoxycholestan- 3β -ol), cholesterol $5\beta, 6\beta$ -epoxide (5β,6β-epoxycholestan-3β-ol), Neutral red, Trypan blue, 2-thiobarbituric acid (TBA), trichloroacetic acid (TCA), 2-(N-morpholino) ethanesulfonic acid (MES), meta-phosphoric acid (MPA), tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethanehydrochloride (tris-HCL), ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), ethylene glycol-bis (2aminoethylether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid (EGTA), sodium chloride (NaCl), Triton X-100, protease inhibitor cocktail, phenylmethanesulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), sodium orthovanadate, sodium pyrophosphate, sodium fluoride, DLdithiothreitol (DTT), 2',7'-Dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA), horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody, and Bradford reagent, were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (Italy, UK). 1,1,3,3-Tetraethoxypropane (TEP) were purchased from Fluka (AG, Switzerland). The kits to analyse gluthatione peroxidase "Glutathione Peroxydase Assay kit" and gluthatione "Glutathione Assay kit" were purchased from Cayman Chemical Company (Ann Arbor, USA). The kits to analyse interleukin 6 and 8 production "Human IL-6 ELISA Kit" and "Human IL-8 ELISA Kit" were purchased from Gen-Probe (France). The primary antibodies antiphospho-JNK 1/2 anti-JNK, anti-phospho-p38, anti-p38, anti-phospho-Akt (Ser473), anti Akt, anti-phospho-MAP Kinase1/2 (ERK 1/2), anti-MAP Kinase 1/2 (ERK 1/2), cleaved caspase 3, β -actin and the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) reagent were purchase from Millipore (Watford, UK). Gels and all material for electrophoresis and immunoblotting were purchased from Invitrogen (Milan,

Italy). Nitrocellulose membranes were obtained from Amersham (Little Chalfont, UK).

Hydroxytyrosol (HT), Tyrosol (TYR) and Homovanillic Alchool (HVA) were obtained from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, USA). The Vacutainer, sodiumheparin coated tubes, were purchased from Greiner Bio-one Ltd (Gloucestershire, UK).

The kit for the preliminary cytokines analysis "*Human Cytokine Array Panel A*" and the kits to analyse IL-1 β "*Human IL-1\beta/IL-1F2 DuoSet*", RANTES "*Human CCL5/RANTES DuoSet*" and MIF "*Human MIF DuoSet*" were obtained from R&D systems (Abingdon, UK). The kit to analyse MCP-1 "*Human CCL2 (MCP-1) ELISA Ready-SET-Go!*" was purchased from eBioscience (Hatfield, UK).

3.2 Extra virgin olive oils (EVOO)

Monovarietal extra virgin olive oils, were obtained from olives of the Bosana and Nera of Gonnos cultivars harvested and processed by AGRIS, (Villasor, Cagliari), in the years 2012 and 2013. The oils were stored in 5 l steel tanks at 4°C until analysis.

3.3 Extraction of EVOO phenols and secoiridoids

A litre of oil was divided into 4 fractions of 250 ml. Each fraction was put in a 500 ml separating funnel and extracted by vigorous shaking with 100 mL of MeOH/H₂O 80:20 (v/v). After 20 min incubation, the oil phase was separated from the aqueous one, put in a round-bottom flask and concentrated in a Rotavapor (30°C, minimum pressure 30 mbar). The oil phase was extracted again with 100 ml of MeOH/H₂O 80:20, repeating the procedures previously described. The extraction of the oil phase was repeated two more times for a total of four extractions on each 250 ml oil fraction. The aqueous phases concentrated in the round-bottom flask were put in a separating funnel with 100 ml of isohexane. After shaking, the concentrated aqueous phase was collected and dried in a Rotavapor. The residue was dissolved in MeOH, filtered through a cellulose acetate syringe Whatman GD/X 0.45 nm 25 mm and dried in a Rotavapor.

3.4 Determination of phenolic compounds and secoiridoids by liquid chromatography and diode array detector (LC-DAD)

The quali/quantitative determination of phenolic compounds and secoiridoids contained in the hydrophilic fraction was performed using a LC-DAD method (Sarolic et al. 2014). A Varian Pro Star HPLC system equipped with a pump module 230, was used together with an 410 autosampler module (injection volume 10 µl) and a diode array detector UV SpectroSystem 6000lp (ThermoSeparation, San Jose, CA, USA). The separation was obtained with a Gemini C18 column (150 x 4.60 mm, 3 µm, Phenomenex, Casalecchio di Reno, BO, Italy) using a mixture of 0.2 M H₃PO₄ (solvent A) and acetonitrile (solvent B) at a constant flow of 1.0 ml/min and mixed in a linear gradient as follows: t = 0, A:B 85:15, v/v; 60:40 (v/v) in 30 min; 40:60 (v/v) in 10 min and finally 100% B until 50 min. Before each injection, the LC system was stabilized for 10 minutes with the initial ratio A:B (85:15, v/v). The analysis of phenols was performed at optimal wavelengths of detection: 280 nm (hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol, vanillic acid, oleuropein derivatives and ligstroside), 313 nm (p-coumaric acid) and 360 nm (luteolin and apigenin). The derivatives of oleuropein and ligstroside were identified comparing literature data (Garcia-Villalba et al. 2010, Dierkes et al. 2012). Chromatograms and spectra were processed with the software ChromQuest 2:51 V (ThermoQuest, Rodano, MI, Italy). The standard solutions were prepared using methanol and the working solutions using a mixture of methanol:water (80:20, v/v). Calibration curves were constructed using external standards, correlating peak area with concentration (correlation values ranged between 0.9993 and 0.9999). All compounds were assayed using the calibration curve obtained with the respective standard, except the derivatives of oleuropein and ligstroside that were assayed using the calibration curve of oleuropein.

The chemical composition of the EVOO phenolic extracts used (Bosana and Nera of Gonnos) is reported in Table 1.

Compound	Bosana (mg/g) mean ± sd	Nera of Gonnos (mg/g) mean ± sd
hydroxytyrosol	$10,7 \pm 0,1$	$5,2 \pm 0,2$
tyrosol	$19,0 \pm 0,7$	$7,0 \pm 0,3$
vanillic acid	$0,8 \pm 0,0$	$0,5 \pm 0,0$
p-coumaric acid	$1,4 \pm 0,0$	$0,4 \pm 0,0$
3,4-DHPEA-EDA	$27,9 \pm 1,1$	$7,1 \pm 0,2$
pinoresinol	$9,0 \pm 0,3$	$2,7 \pm 0,1$
p-HPEA-EDA	$19,6 \pm 0,8$	$17,0 \pm 0,9$
luteolin	$3,5 \pm 0,1$	$3,9 \pm 0,1$
acetoxypinoresinol	$3,2 \pm 0,1$	$0,6 \pm 0,0$
3,4-DHPEA-EA	$30,8 \pm 1,5$	$24,9 \pm 1,3$
apigenin	$0,9 \pm 0,0$	$1,7 \pm 0,0$
p-HPEA-EA	$15,4 \pm 1,7$	$18,6 \pm 0,9$

Table 1: Chemical composition and concentration of single compounds expressed as mg/g, of Bosana and Nera of Gonnos phenolic extracts.

(3,4-DHPEA-EDA, decarboxymethyl oleuropein aglycone; p-HPEA-EDA, decarboxymethyl ligstroside aglycone; 3,4-DHPEA-EA, oleuropein aglycone; p-HPEA-EA, ligstroside aglycone).

3.5 Caco-2 cell cultures

3.5.1 Material for cell cultures

The Caco-2 cell line (human epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma cells) was obtained from ECACC, (Salisbury, Wiltshire, United Kingdom). The medium "*Dulbecco's modified eagle medium*" (D-MEM), the heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS), the penicillin-streptomycin solution, the phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and the tryspin-EDTA were purchased from Invitrogen (Milan, Italy).

3.5.2 Maintenance of cell cultures

Caco-2 cells were maintained in T75 flasks until their confluence reached the 80%, in D-MEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% antibiotic/antimycotic solution (100 U/ml penicillin, 100 mg/ml streptomycin) at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ humidified atmosphere. The subcultures were prepared by removing the cells with trypsin solution at 1% and then seeded into 6-24-96 well plates and Petri dishes for different experiments. Cells were cultured for 21 days, replacing the medium thrice weekly, to allow their spontaneous differentiation.

3.5.3 Preparation of the oxysterols mixture

The mixture of the most widely represented dietary oxysterols was prepared using pure standard compounds diluted in ethanol.

The oxysterols and their relative percentage used in the mixture were: 7α -hydroxycholesterol (4.26%), 7β -hydroxycholesterol (14.71%), 7-ketocholesterol (42.96%), 5α , 6α -epoxycholesterol (32.3%), 5β , 6β -epoxycholesterol (5.76%) (**Plat et al. 2005**). The concentration of the oxysterols mixture was calculated using an average molecular weight of 403 g/mol (**Biasi et al. 2009**).

3.5.4 Measurement of intracellular reactive oxygen species

(ROS) production

ROS generation in Caco-2 cells was determined using the fluorescent probe 2',7'dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA).

When applied to intact cells, the non-ionic, non-polar DCFH-DA crosses cell membranes and is hydrolyzed enzymatically by intracellular esterases to nonfluorescent DCFH. In the presence of reactive oxygen species (ROS), DCFH is oxidized to highly fluorescent dichlorofluorescein (DCF).

To quantify ROS production, differentiated Caco-2 cells were seeded in 96-well plates. The old medium was removed, cells were washed with 200 μ l of PBS and incubated for 30 minutes with DCFH-DA 10 μ M. Then the DCFH-DA was removed and cells were added with oxysterols mixture (60-90-150 μ M) for different incubation times (5-180 min).

To assess the protection by the two phenolic extracts, cells, after treatment with DCFH-DA, were incubated simultaneously with oxysterols mixture 150 μ M and phenolic extracts at different concentrations (5, 10, 25 μ g/ml) for 1h.

ROS production was monitored by reading the fluorescence emitted from the DCF **(Dinicola et al. 2013)**, taking readings at intervals of 5 min for 180 minutes (for the first set of experiments) and reading after 1 h of incubation (for the second one), using a micro plate reader at controlled temperature of 37°C (Plate reader, Infinite 200, GENios TECAN). The reading was performed using an excitation wavelength of 490 nm and an emission wavelength of 520 nm. The fluorescence values were expressed as f/f0, where f is the fluorescence of the samples pre-treated with DCFH-DA and treated with the compounds and f0 the fluorescence of samples not pre-treated with DCFH-DA.

3.5.5 Quantification of intracellular glutathione (GSH)

In order to quantify the level of GSH a commercial kit ("*Glutathione Assay kit*" Cayman Chemical Company) based on an enzymatic recycling method was used. The sulfhydryl group of GSH reacts with DTNB (5,5'-dithio-bis-2-nitrobenzoic acid) and produces a yellow colored 5-thio-2-nitrobenzoic acid (TNB). The mixed disulfide, GSTNB (between GSH and TNB) that is concomitantly produced, is reduced by glutathione reductase to recycle the GSH and produce more TNB. The rate of TNB production is directly proportional to this recycling reaction which in turn is directly proportional to the concentration of GSH in the sample.

Caco-2 cells were cultured in Petri dishes 9 cm in diameter and used after 20 days of differentiation. In a first set of experiments cells were treated with the oxysterols mixture 150 µM for different times (30 minutes-24 h); in another set of experiments, cells were pre-treated 30 minutes with increasing concentration of phenolic extracts (5-25 µg/ml) and then treated with the oxysterols mixture 150 µM in complete medium with 2,5 % of FBS for 30 minutes. At the end of incubation time, the medium was removed, the cells washed with cold PBS and then scraped with 1 ml of PBS and centrifuged at 1700 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The obtained cellular pellet was resuspended with a cold buffer prepared mixing 50 mM of MES pH 6-7 and 1 mM of EDTA. The samples were then mixed, sonicated for 10 minutes and centrifuged at 10000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C. 600 µl of supernatant were added with 600 µl of MPA reagent to deproteinate the sample. Since almost all biological samples used for GSH measurement contain large amounts of proteins, it is necessary to remove as much protein as possible from the sample to avoid interferences due to particulates and sulfhydryl groups on proteins in the assay. Then, the supernatant obtained after centrifugation was used to analyse the GSH with the commercial kit the following manufacturer's instructions. The measurement of the absorbance of TNB at 405 or 412 nm provides an accurate estimation of GSH in the sample.

3.5.6 Evaluation of glutathione peroxidase activity (GPX)

The changes in GPX activity were assessed using a commercial kit ("*Glutathione Peroxydase Assay kit*" Cayman Chemical Company), based on spectrophotometric determination of NADP⁺, generated in the reaction mixture according to the reactions shown below

ROOH + 2GSH \longrightarrow ROH + GSSG+ H₂O

 $GSSG + NADPH + H^+ \longrightarrow 2GSH + NADP^+$

To perform the assay, cells were cultured in 6-well plates and treated after 20 days of differentiation. In a first set of experiments cells were treated with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M for different times (6-36 h), and in another set Caco-2 cells were pre-treated for 30 min with increasing concentration of phenolic extracts (5-25 μ g/ml) and then treated with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M in complete medium with 2,5 % of FBS for 18 h.

At the end of incubation time, the medium was removed, the cells washed with PBS and then scraped with 1 ml of cold PBS and centrifuged at 1700 g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The obtained cellular pellet was resuspended with a cold buffer prepared mixing Tris-HCl (50 mM), EDTA (5 mM) and DTT (1 mM). The samples were then mixed and centrifuged at 10000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The obtained supernatant was collected and used to analyze the enzymatic activity with the commercial kit following the manufacturer's instructions.

The absorbance was spectrophotometrically measured at a wavelength of 340 nm using a plate reader.

3.5.7 Evaluation of cell viability/malondialdehyde (MDA)

production

To evaluate the cytotoxicity and the MDA production induced by the oxysterols mixture and the protective effects of the phenolic extracts, cells were cultured into 24-well plates with complete medium until differentiation.

In the first set of treatments, the medium was replaced with new complete medium at 2,5% of FBS and the cells were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C with increasing concentration (30-150 μ M) of oxysterols mixture.

In the second set of experiments, cells were incubated for 30 min at 37°C with different concentrations (1-25 μ g/ml) of phenolic extracts and then added with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M for 24 h.

After that, for both types of treatment, the medium was collected for MDA analysis using the TBARS test, and the cellular viability was evaluated using the Neutral red test.

3.5.7.1 TBARS method and HPLC analysis

MDA concentration was determined as MDA-TBA adduct by HPLC **(Templar et al. 1999)**. 400 μ l of the supernatants, taken at the end of the incubation time with oxysterols and phenolic extracts, were added with 100 μ l of TCA (10%), mixed and incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes, and then added with 200 μ l of TBA (0.6%) and incubated at 90°C for 45 min. After centrifugation at 5000 x g for 15 min, aliquots of the supernatant were injected into the HPLC-DAD system System (HPLC-DAD 1050 series, Hewlett Packard). Separation of the MDA-TBA adduct was carried out using a C-8 reversed-phase column (Zorbax Eclipse XDB-C8, 150×4.6 mm, 5 μ m), with a mobile phase of 50 mM KH₂PO/MeOH (65/35, v/v) at flow rate of 1 ml/min. Detection of the adduct peak was carried out at 532 nm.

For each experiment a calibration curve was prepared using a TEP solution in PBS (0.05–10 μ M).

3.5.7.2 Neutral red test

The neutral red method, as originally developed by Borenfreund and Puerner, **(Borenfreund et al. 1984)** is simple, accurate and yields reproducible results. The key component is the vital dye, neutral red (Basic Red 5, Toluylene Red). Viable cells will take up the dye by active transport and incorporate it into lysosomes, whereas non-viable cells will not take up it. The incorporation of the dye into cells depends on their number and on their physiological state.

After treatments with the oxysterols mixture and the phenolic extracts, cells were incubated for 15 minutes at 37°C with Neutral red solution 0,33% in DMEM, in an amount equal to 10% of the culture medium volume (50 μ l in 500 μ l of medium). At the end of the incubation period, the medium was carefully removed and the cells washed in PBS; the incorporated dye was then solubilized in 1 ml of solubilization solution (CH₃COOH 1%, H₂O 49% and EtOH 50%). The absorbance was spectrophotometrically measured at a wavelength of 540 nm using a plate reader.

3.5.8 Modulation of intracellular signaling pathways

3.5.8.1 Cells treatment

Caco-2 cell were cultured in 6-well plates and used after 20 days of differentiation. In the first set of experiments the cells were incubated for 30 minutes (Akt/PKB, MAPK) and 24 h (Caspase3) with different amounts of the oxysterol mixture (30-150 μ M). In the second set of experiments cells were pre-treated with the phenolic extracts (1-5-10 μ g/ml) for 30 min and then treated with the oxysterols mixture 60 μ M, the lowest concentration that induces cell death, for 30 minutes and 24 h.

3.5.8.2 Extraction and quantification of proteins

At the end of the incubation time, cells were washed with cold PBS and suspended in 200 μ l of a cold lysis buffer (Tris base 50 mM, Triton X-100 (1:100 v/v), EDTA 2 mM, EGTA 2 mM, NaCl 150 mM, mammalian protease inhibitor cocktail (1:100 v/v), PMSF 0,5 mM, Sodium ortho-vanadate 1 mM, Sodium pyro-phosphate 5 mM and Sodium fluoride 50 mM) to extract the proteins. The cells were scraped on ice and lysates were collected in eppendorf tubes, incubated on ice for 45 minutes, centrifuged at 15000 x g for 5 minutes and then the supernatants were collected. The protein concentration was determined by the Bradford protein assay (Bradford 1976).

3.5.8.3 Electrophoresis and immunoblotting

Samples were boiled at 70°C for 10 min in boiling buffer (62.5 mM Tris base, pH 6.8 containing 2% SDS, 5% 2-mercaptoethanol, 10% glycerol, and 0.0025% bromophenol blue). The boiled samples were run on 10%, 12% SDS–polyacrylamide gels (20 µg/lane), and the proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Hybond-ECL) by semi-dry electroblotting (1.5 mA/cm²). The nitrocellulose membrane was then incubated in a blocking buffer [TBS supplemented with 0.05% (v/v) Tween 20 (TTBS)] containing 4% (w/v) skimmed milk powder for 1 h at room temperature, followed by three 5 min washes in TTBS. The blots were then incubated with anti-pAkt (Ser473) (1:1000 dilution), anti-ERK 1/2 (1:1000 dilution), anti-PJNK 1/2 (1:1000 dilution), anti-pJNK 1/2 (1:1000 dilution), anti-JNK 1/2 (1:1000 dilution) and Caspase 3 (1:1000 dilution) in TTBS containing 1% (w/v) skimmed milk powder (antibody buffer) overnight at 4°C on a three-dimensional rocking table.

The blots were washed twice for 10 min in TTBS and then incubated with goat anti-rabbit IgG conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (1:2000 dilution) in antibody buffer for 1 h. Finally, the blots were washed twice for 10 min in TTBS, exposed to Hyperfilm-ECL for 2–5 min and developed with the ChemiDoc XRS Imager (BioRad).

The molecular weights of the bands were calculated by comparison with prestained molecular weight markers that were run in parallel with the samples. Protein bands were quantified using Image J software.

3.5.9 Evaluation of cytokines production (IL-6 and IL-8) by ELISA

To assess the pro-inflammatory effect induced by the mixture of oxysterols and the ability of olive oil phenolic extracts to prevent this effect, the modulation of two pro-inflammatory cytokine, interleukin-8 and interleukin-6, was evaluated. These cytokines are crucial in chronic intestinal inflammation in sustaining intestinal barrier disruption.

Caco-2 cells were seeded in T 25 flasks with complete medium and used after 20 days of differentiation. Cells were incubated for 30 minutes with the phenolic extracts (25 μ g/ml) and then treated for 24 hours with the oxysterols mixture 60 μ M. At the end of the treatment, the cell culture medium was collected and centrifuged at 140 x g for 10 minutes and the supernatant was used to quantify the levels of IL-8 and IL-6 by ELISA kit ("*Human IL-8 ELISA Kit"* and "*Human IL-6 ELISA Kit"* Gen-Probe). The absorbance reading was performed using a microplate reader at a wavelength of 450 nm and using as reference the absorbance at a wavelength of 550 nm.

3.6 Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) cultures

3.6.1 Material for cell cultures

The medium RPMI 1640 with HEPES and L-Glutamine and the phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) were purchased from Lonza. The antibiotic solution: pen/strep 5000U/5mg ml and the Histopaque-1077 were purchased from Sigma Aldrich.

3.6.2 PBMCs isolation

Human PBMCs were isolated from freshly collected blood samples obtained from 8 healthy volunteers (male and female), aged between 23 and 40 years. A written consent was obtained from all volunteers, who were enrolled according to specific exclusion and inclusion criteria (Table 2). The trial protocol was reviewed and approved by the Ethics and Research Committee of the University of Reading.

Using standard Ficoll-Paque gradient centrifugation, blood samples, collected in sodium heparin-coated tubes, were transferred to 50 ml tubes and diluted with an equal volume of Histopaque-1077, which is a density gradient separation medium, and centrifuged for 30 minutes at 400 x g. After centrifugation, upper layer (plasma) was kept, and then, the PBMCs layers (the opaque interface) were carefully removed with a pipette, put in new tubes, and resuspended/washed in PBS. This solution was centrifuged first for 10 minutes at 300 x g, then for another 10 minutes at 380 x g and then the supernatant was discarded. Finally, PBMCs were re-suspended in the culture medium consisting of RPMI, 1% v/v glutamine and 1% antibiotics supplemented with autologous plasma (2.5% v/v).

Volunteer inclusion criteria	Volunteer exclusion criteria	
Signed informed consent	History of drug abuse, including alcohol	
Men and women aged 20 – 40	Participation in experimental trials within 3 months prior to	
years	study	
Non smokers	Use of antibiotics within the previous 3 months	
Good general health	Use of prescribed medication	
	Regular use of anti-inflammatory drugs	
	Any kind of inflammatory, auto-immune disease or allergy	
	Any other pathology	

 Table 2. Volunteer inclusion/exclusion criteria for donating blood

3.6.3 Preparation of the oxysterols mixture

The mixture of the most widely represented oxysterols in hypercholesterolemic subjects and their relative percentage were: 7α -hydroxycholesterol (5%), 7β -hydroxycholesterol (10%), cholesterol α -epoxide (20%), cholesterol β -epoxide (20%), cholestan- 3β , 5α , 6β -triol (9%), 7-ketocholesterol (35%), and 25-hydroxycholesterol (1%). The concentration of the oxysterol mixture was calculated by using an average molecular weight of 403. Ethanol was used as solvent to dilute the oxysterols (**Biasi et al. 2004**, **Poli et al. 2009**).

3.6.4 Evaluation of cytokines/chemokines production

3.6.4.1 PBMCs treatments

PBMCs (1x10⁶ cells/ml) were seeded in 24 well plate in complete RPMI and pretreated with pure phenolic compounds, hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol and homovanillic alcohol (0.25, 0.5, 1 μ M) and incubated for 30 min at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere. Then the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M was added in the medium for 24 h. At the end of the incubation period well contents were removed and transferred to eppendorf tubes and centrifuged to pellet the cells at 400 x g for 5 minutes at 20°C. The supernatants were collected in clean tubes and stored at -20°C until analysis.

3.6.4.2 Measurement of cytokine/chemokines production by membrane array spot

A preliminary screening using a commercial kit ("*Human Cytokine Array Panel A*" R&D systems) was performed in order to evaluate which types of cytokines were produced in PBMCs after treatment with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M for 24 h. Carefully selected capture antibodies were spotted in duplicate on nitrocellulose membranes. Cell culture supernatants (400 μ l) of two samples, control and treated with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M, were diluted and mixed with a cocktail of biotinylated detection antibodies. The sample/antibody mixture was then incubated with the Human Cytokine Array Panel A membrane. Any cytokine/detection antibody complex present was bound by its analogous immobilized capture antibody on the membrane. Following a wash to remove unbound material, Streptavidin-HRP and chemiluminescent detection reagents were added sequentially. The membranes were then developed using ImageQuant

LAS 4000 mini. The light was produced at each spot in proportion to the amount of cytokine bound.

3.6.4.3 Evaluation of cytokines/chemokines (MCP-1, IL-1 β , MIF and RANTES) by ELISA

After 24 h treatment, the cell culture medium was collected and centrifuged at 400 x g for 5 minutes and the supernatant stored for ELISA detection.

Levels of human cytokines MCP-1, IL-1 β , MIF and RANTES were quantified using appropriate kits ("*Human CCL2 (MCP-1) ELISA Ready-SET-Go!*" eBioscience, *"Human IL-1\beta/IL-1F2 DuoSet*", *"Human MIF DuoSet*" and *"Human CCL5/RANTES DuoSet"* R&D systems), following the manufacturer's instructions. This assay was based on the quantitative sandwich immunoassay technique. Monoclonal antibodies, specific for the targeted cytokine, are immobilized on the internal surface of the wells of a microplate. Samples were added into the wells and the cytokine present in the sample was bound to its specific immobilized antibody. After removing any unbound compounds, an enzyme-linked polyclonal antibody specific for the cytokine was added to the wells. Following a wash to remove any unbound antibody-enzyme reagent, a substrate solution was added to the wells; the color developed in proportion to the amount of cytokines bound to its specific antibody. The intensity of the color, measured by absorbance in a microplate reader (450 nm), allowed to quantify the amount of cytokine.

3.6.5 Measurement of intracellular ROS production

PBMCs (1x10⁶ cells/ml) were seeded in 24 well plate in complete RPMI. In the first set of experiments cells were incubated for 30 min with DCFH-DA 10 μ M in the dark at 37°C. Then DCFH-DA was removed, cells were washed and incubated with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M added in fresh medium. DCFH-DA loaded cells were immediately placed in a plate reader with temperature maintained at 37°C and the fluorescence of the cells from each well was measured and recorded every 30 min until 3 h. In the second set of experiments cells were pre-treated with pure phenolic compounds, hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol and homovanillic alcohol (0.25, 0.5, 1 μ M) and incubated for 30 min at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere. Then cells were washed, treated with DCFH-DA 10 μ M and incubated for 30 min in the dark at 37°C. After DCFH-DA was removed, cells were washed and incubated with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M added in fresh medium for 2 h. The fluorescence of the cells from each well was then measured, setting the excitation filter at 485 nm and the emission filter at 530 nm.

3.6.6 Modulation of intracellular signaling pathways

3.6.6.1 Cells treatment

PBMCs (5x10⁶ cells/ml) were seeded in 6 well plate in complete RPMI, pre-treated with pure phenolic compounds, hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol and homovanillic alcohol (0.25, 0.5, 1 μ M) and incubated for 30 min at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere. The oxysterols mixture 20 μ M was then added in the medium and cells incubated for 3 h.

3.6.6.2 Extraction and quantification of proteins

At the end of the incubation time well contents were collected in appropriate centrifuge tubes and centrifuged at 400 x g for 5 min at 4°C. Supernatants were discarded and cells washed/centrifuged twice with cold PBS. Finally pellets were suspended with 150 μ L of complete lysis buffer (with protease inhibitors) and incubated on ice for 30 min (by vortexing every 10 min). At the end, lysates were centrifuged at 15000 x g for 5 min at 4°C to remove any particles or cell debris and the supernatants were collected for protein analysis.

The protein concentration was determined by the Bradford protein assay (Bradford 1976).

3.6.6.3 Electrophoresis and immunoblotting

The procedure was conducted as previously described (section 3.5.8.3).

The blots were incubated with these specific antibodies: anti-pJNK1/2 (1:200 dilution), anti-JNK 1/2 (1:200 dilution), anti-pp38 (1:1000 dilution) and anti-p38 (1:1000 dilution) in TTBS containing 1% (w/v) skimmed milk powder (antibody buffer).

3.7 Statistical analysis

Results are expressed as means ± S.D. (standard deviation). The statistical significance of parametric differences among sets of experimental data was evaluated by the one-way ANOVA test associated with Bonferroni's multiple comparison post test using GraphPad InStat (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA).

4. Results

4.1 Pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory activity of oxysterols in the gut and protective effect of EVOO phenolic extracts

4.1.1 Intracellular ROS production

ROS generation in Caco-2 cells was determined using the fluorescent probe DCFH-DA, which can be oxidised to the highly fluorescent compound DCF in the presence of ROS.

Before treatments, cells were incubated with 10 μ M of DCFH-DA for 30 min at 37°C in the dark, then were treated using different concentrations of oxysterols mixture (60-90-150 μ M) for different incubation times (0-180 min).

The incubation with the oxysterols mixture, as shown in Figure 7, induced a significant increase of intracellular ROS production from 90 μ M concentration after 60 minutes of incubation.



Figure 7: Intracellular ROS production (expressed as % of control) in Caco-2 cells treated with different concentrations of the oxysterols mixture (60-90-150 μ M) for different incubation times (0-180 min) using the fluorescence probe DFC-DA 10 μ M for 30 minutes. a =p<0.001, b =p<0.01 vs Ctrl (n=12)

The presence of the phenolic extracts (5-10-25 μ M), added simultaneously with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M for 1h, induced a significant decrease of ROS production all tested concentrations, as shown in Figure 8.



Figure 8: Effects of Bosana and Nera of Gonnos phenolic extracts (5-10-25 μ g/ml) on intracellular ROS production in Caco-2 cells treated with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M for 1 h. *** = p<0.001 vs Ctrl; a = p<0.001 vs Oxy (n=12)

4.1.2 Quantification of glutathione (GSH)

To evaluate the redox state in Caco-2 cells, after ROS production, the level of cellular GSH was quantified. As reported in Figure 9 cells were incubated with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M for different times (30 min-24h); the presence of the mixture resulted in a significant decrease of the concentration of GSH after 30 minutes of incubation. After 3 h the concentration increased, returning to control values after 6 hours.



Figure 9: GSH concentration, expressed as % of the control, in Caco-2 cells incubated for different times (30 min-24h) with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M. a = p<0.001, c = p<0.05 vs Ctrl (n=9) Control value = 55.4 μ M

Figure 10 shows GHS levels (expressed as % of control) in Caco-2 cells pre-treated with the phenolic extracts (5-10-25 μ g/ml) for 30 min, and treated with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M for other 30 min.

The decrease of GSH induced by the oxysterols mixture was significantly counteracted by both phenolic extracts from the concentration of $10 \mu g/ml$.



Figure 10: GSH concentration (expresses as % of control) in Caco-2 cells pre-treated 30 min with Bosana and Nera of Gonnos phenolic extracts (5-10-25 μ g/ml) and treated with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M for 30 min.

**=p<0.01 vs Ctrl; b= p<0.01, c=p<0.05 vs Oxy (n=9) Control value = 28 μ M

4.1.3 Modulation of glutathione peroxidase (GPX) activity

The modulatory effect of the oxysterols mixture on the activity of GPX in Caco-2 cells was also determined.

Figure 11 shows the GPX activity, expressed as % of the control, in Caco-2 cells incubated for different times (6-36 hours) with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M. The mixture induced a significant increase of the enzyme activity after 6, 18 and 24 hours, but after 36 hours of incubation the enzyme activity decreased to the control value.



Figure 11: Glutathione peroxidase activity (GPX), expressed as % of the control, in Caco-2 cells incubated for different times (6-36 min) with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M. a = p<0.001 vs Ctrl (n=9) Control value = 44.4 mmol/min/ml

When Caco-2 cells were incubated with the phenolic extracts (5-10-25 μ g/ml) for 30 min, before the treatment with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M for 18 h, a significant decrease of the GPX activity was observed from 10 μ g/ml for both extracts (Figure 12).



Figure 12: Glutathione peroxidase activity (GPX), expressed as % of the control, in Caco-2 cells pretreated with the phenolic extracts (5-10-25 μ g/ml) for 30 min and treated for 18 h with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M.

*** = p<0.001 vs Ctrl; b = p<0.01, c = p<0.05 vs Oxy (n=9) Control value = 27 mmol/min/ml

4.1.4 Measurement of malondialdehyde (MDA) production

In order to evaluate any oxidative damage induced by oxysterols in Caco-2 cells the amount of malondialdehyde produced was quantified.

MDA is a secondary product of membrane lipids peroxidation and is considered a generic marker of oxidative damage. MDA levels in supernatants of treated cells were measured by the TBARS test with HPLC quantification.

Figure 13 shows the amount of MDA, expressed as percentage compared to control, determined in cells treated for 24 hours with different concentrations of the mixture of oxysterols (30-150 μ M). As shown, oxysterols induced an increase of MDA production compared to control significant from the concentration of 90 μ M.



Figure 13: Percentage of MDA production compared to control in Caco-2 cells incubated for 24 h with different concentrations (30-150 μ M) of the oxysterols mixture. a = p<0.001, c = p<0.5 vs Ctrl (n=12)

The presence of the phenolic extracts, was able to significantly reduce, at all tested concentrations (5-10-25 μ g/ml), the amount of MDA produced in Caco-2 cells after 24 h incubation with oxysterols 150 μ M, as shown in Figure 14.



Figure 14: Percentage of MDA production compared to control in Caco-2 cells pre-treated for 30 min with different amounts of the phenolic extracts (5-10-25 μ g/ml) and incubated for 24 h with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M.

*** = p<0.001 vs Ctrl; a = p<0.001, b = p<0.01 vs Oxy (n=12)

4.1.5 Cell viability

The protective activity of EVOO phenolic extracts was also evaluated against the cytotoxic action of the oxysterols mixture in Caco-2 cells. Cell viability was measured by the Neutral Red test and expressed as percentage of viability compared to the control (100% viability).

Figure 15 shows the percentage of Caco-2 cells viability incubated for 24 hours with increasing concentrations of the oxysterols mixture (30-150 μ M). The presence of the mixture induced a decrease of viability compared to control, that was significant from 60 μ M.



Figure 15: Percentage of cell viability compared to control of Caco-2 cell incubated for 24 h with different concentrations of the oxysterols mixture (30-150 μ M). a = p<0.001 vs Ctrl (n=9)

In order to evaluate the protective activity of EVOO phenolic extracts, cells were pre-treated for 30 min with the phenolic extracts of Bosana and Nera of Gonnos (1- $5-10-25 \mu g/ml$) and treated with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M for 24 h.

Both phenolic extracts were able to significantly inhibit the citotoxicity of oxysterols at all tested concentrations, as shown in Figure 16.



Figure 16: Percentage of viability compared to control of Caco-2 cells pre-treated with Bosana and Nera of Gonnos phenolic extracts (1-25 μ g/ml) and incubated for 24 h with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M.

*** = p<0.001 vs Ctrl; a = p<0.001 vs Oxy (n=9)
4.1.6 Modulation of intracellular signaling pathways

The oxysterols mixture was able to induce cytotoxicity in Caco-2 cells, reducing cell viability significantly from 60 μ M concentration; the mechanism involved in cell death was then analysed.

The ability of the oxysterols to interfere with intracellular signaling pathways involved in programmed cell death (apoptosis) was evaluated, in particular focusing on caspase 3, Akt/PKB, ERK 1/2, JNK 1/2 and p38 modulation.

4.1.6.1 Caspase 3

Figure 17 shows the caspase 3 activity in Caco-2 cells incubated for 24 h with different concentrations of the oxysterols mixture (30-150 μ M). The mixture was able to induce a significant increase of caspase 3 activity from the concentration of 60 μ M.





To evaluate the capability of phenolic extracts to counteract the oxysterols induced caspase 3 increased activity, cells were pre-treated for 30 min with the phenolic extracts (1-5-10-25 μ g/ml) and treated with the oxysterols mixture 60 μ M for 24 h. Both phenolic extracts were able to protect intestinal cells from oxysterols induced death, in particular, the Bosana phenolic extract significantly from the concentration of 5 μ g/ml (Figure 18 A) and the Nera of Gonnos phenolic extract from 10 μ g/ml (Figure 18 B).





Figure 18: Caspase 3 activity in Caco-2 cells pre-treated with Bosana (A) and Nera of Gonnos (B) phenolic extracts (1-25 μ g/ml) and treated for 24 h with the oxysterols mixture 150 μ M. *** = p< 0.001 vs Ctrl; a = p<0.001, b = p<0.01 vs Oxy (n=3)

4.1.6.2 Akt/PKB

Figure 19 shows the change of Akt/PKB phosphorilation state in Caco-2 cells treated with different concentrations of the oxysterols mixture (30-150 μ M) for 30 min. The band values were normalized using the corresponding values of total protein and expressed as a percentage of the control. Oxysterols induced a significant decrease of Akt/PKB phosphorilation compared to control from 60 μ M.



Figure 19: Modulation of Akt/PKB in Caco-2 cell monolayers after 30 min incubation with different concentrations of the oxysterols mixture (30-150 μM). ***= p<0.001, ** = p<0.01vs Ctrl (n=3)

Pre-treatment with both phenolic extracts (1-5-10-25 μ g/ml) significantly inhibited the decrease of Akt/PKB phosforilation induced by the oxysterols, from the lowest tested concentration (Figure 20 A, B).





Figure 20: Modulation of Akt/PKB in Caco-2 cell monolayers pre-treated with Bosana (A) and Nera of Gonnos (B) phenolic extracts for 30 min and treated with the oxysterols mixture 60 μ M. *** = p<0.001, ** = p<0.01 vs Ctrl; a = p<0.001, b = p<0.01 vs Oxy (n=3)

4.1.6.3 ERK 1/2

Figure 21 shows the modulation of ERK 1/2 phosphorilation in Caco-2 cells treated with different concentrations of the oxysterols mixture (30-150 μ M) for 30 min. The band values were normalized using the corresponding values of total protein and expressed as a percentage of the control. Oxysterols induced a significant reduction of ERK 1/2 phosphorilation compared to control, from the 60 μ M.



Figure 21: Modulation of ERK 1/2 in Caco-2 cell monolayers after 30 min of incubation with different concentrations of the oxysterols mixture (30-150 μ M). ***= p<0.001, ** = p<0.01, * = p<0.05 vs Ctrl (n=5)

Pre-treatment with both phenolic extracts (1-5-10-25 μ g/ml) significantly inhibited the decrease of ERK 1/2 phosphorilation induced by the oxysterols (Figure 22 A, B).







4.1.6.4 P38

Figure 23 shows the modulation of p38 phosphorilation in Caco-2 cells pre-treated with different concentrations of the phenolic extract (1-5-10-25 μ g/ml) for 30 min and treated with the oxysterols mixture 60 μ M for 30 min. The band values were normalized using the corresponding values of total protein and expressed as a percentage of the control. Oxysterols induced a significant increase of p38 phosphorilation compared to control, that was counteracted by both Bosana and Nera of Gonnos phenolic extracts at maximum tested concentration. Bosana extract reduced this increase significantly also at the concentration of 10 μ g/ml (Figure 23 A, B).





Figure 23: Modulation of p38 in Caco-2 cell monolayers cells pre-treated or not for 30 min with Bosana (A) and Nera of Gonnos (B) phenolic extracts (1-5-10-25 μ g/ml) and incubated with the oxysterols mixture 60 μ M for 30 min.

***= p<0.001 vs Ctrl; a = p<0.001 vs Oxy (n=3)

4.1.6.5 JNK 1/2

Figure 24 shows the modulation of JNK 1/2 phosphorilation in Caco-2 cells pretreated with different concentrations of the phenolic extract (1-5-10-25 μ g/ml) for 30 min and treated with the oxysterols mixture 60 μ M for 30 min. The band values were normalized using the corresponding values of total protein and expressed as a percentage of the control. Oxysterols induced a significant increase of JNK phosphorilation compared to control; both Bosana and Nera of Gonnos phenolic extracts significantly reduced this increase at all tested concentrations (Figure 24 A, B).





Figure 24: Modulation of JNK 1/2 in Caco-2 cell monolayers cells pre-treated or not for 30 min with Bosana (A) and Nera of Gonnos (B) phenolic extracts (1-5-10-25 μ g/ml) and incubated with the oxysterols mixture 60 μ M for 30 min.

***= p<0.001 vs Ctrl; a = p<0.001 vs Oxy (n=3)

4.1.7 Induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines synthesis: IL-8 and IL-6

The activation of MAPK pathway is involved not only in apoptosis process but leads to the induction of a wide range of genes that contribute to the establishment of the immune response and inflammation, regulating the synthesis/activity of cytokines and chemokines, cell surface receptors, adhesion molecules and inflammatory enzymes.

The capability of the mixture to induce the synthesis of interleukin 8 (IL-8) and interleukin 6 (IL-6) was also evaluated in Caco-2 cells together with the ability of phenolic extracts (Bosana and Nera of Gonnos 25μ g/ml) to counteract this effect. Cytokine concentration, expressed as percentage compared to control, was evaluated by ELISA method in the culture medium.

Treatment of Caco-2 cells with the oxysterols mixture 60 μ M for 24 h induced a significant increase of the synthesis of IL-8. Pre-treatment for 30 min with both phenolic extracts significantly reduced interleukin synthesis induced by the oxysterols (Figure 25).





*** = p<0.001 vs Ctrl; a = p<0.001 vs Oxy (n=5) Control value = 6.23 pg/ml

The oxysterols mixture were also able to increase the production of IL-6 (Figure 26) and, as shown, Bosana and Nera of Gonnos phenolic extracts significantly reduced this effect.



Figure 26: IL-6 synthesis, expressed as % compared to control, in Caco-2 cells pre-treated or not for 30 min with Bosana and Nera of Gonnos phenolic extracts (25 μ g/ml) and incubated with the oxysterols mixture 60 μ M for 24h.

*** = p<0.001 vs Ctrl; a = p<0.001 vs Oxy (n=5) Control value = 2.87 pg/ml

4.2 Pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory activity of oxysterols in PBMCs and protective effects of hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol and homovanillic alcohol

4.2.1 Induction of the synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines/chemokines: MCP-1, IL-1β, MIF and RANTES

A preliminary screening was performed in order to evaluate which proinflammatory cytokines were produced in peripheral blood mononuclear cells treated for 24 h with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M.

The expression of four pro-inflammatory cytokines/chemokines was significantly different between the control and the samples treated with the oxysterols mixture in particular: IL-1 β (Interleukin-1 β), MCP-1 (Monocytes Chemo-attractant Protein-1), MIF (Macrophage migration inhibitory factor) and RANTES (Regulated on Activation, Normal T cell Expressed and Secreted).

Results of preliminary tests, was then confirmed by ELISA. Oxysterols mixture significantly increased the production of cytokines/chemokines MCP-1, IL-1 β , MIF and RANTES in ex in-vivo cultured PBMCs after 24 h of incubation with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M. Hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol and homovanillic alcohol, at all tested concentrations significantly reduced the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines/chemokines induced by the oxysterols mixture (figure 27 A, B, C and D).









Figure 27: Effects of HT, TYR and HVA (0.25-0.5-1 μ M) on MCP-1 (A), IL-1 β (B), MIF (C) and RANTES (D) production in PBMCs treated with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M for 24h. *** = p<0.001 vs Ctrl; a = p < 0.001, b = p< 0.01, c = p< 0.05 vs oxy (n=6) Control value: MCP-1 = 2400 pg/ml, IL-1 β = 91 pg/ml, MIF = 770 pg/ml, RANTES = 2800 pg/ml

4.2.2 Intracellular ROS production

In PBMCs the level of cellular ROS production generated by oxysterols was also quantified, using the fluorescence probe DCFH-DA.

Before treatments, cells were incubated with 10 μ M of DCFH-DA for 30 min at 37°C in the dark. As shown in Figure 28, cells were then treated with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M for different incubation times (15-180 min) and exhibited a significant increase in intracellular ROS production, starting after 15 minutes of incubation.



Figure 28: Intracellular ROS production (expressed as % of the control) in PBMCs treated with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M for different incubation times (15-180 min) using the fluorescence probe DFC-DA 10 μ M for 30 minutes. *** = p<0.001 vs ctrl (n=6)

As shown in Figure 29 pre-treatment of PBMCs for 30 min with pure phenolic compounds, hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol and homovanillic alcohol (0.25, 0.5, 1 μ M) reduced intracellular ROS production induced by the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M, significantly from the concentrations 0.5 μ M.



Figure 29: Effect of HT, TYR and HVA (0.25- 0.5- 1 μ M) on intracellular ROS production in PBMCs treated with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M for 2 h.

*** = p<0.001 vs Ctrl; a = p<0.001, b = p<0.01, c = p<0.05 vs Oxy (n=6)

4.2.3 Modulation of intracellular signaling pathways

Intracellular signal transduction triggered by the oxysterols was investigated also in PBMCs.

The possible modulation of 2 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade was analyzed in PBMCs treated with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M alone and in combination with pure phenolic compounds (HT, TYR and HVA). These kinases have been reported to be activated by various stress stimuli, and they have been also implicated in oxysterol-induced cytokine secretion and apoptosis.

4.2.3.1 JNK 1/2

Figure 30 shows the modulation of JNK 1/2 phosphorilation in PBMCs pre-treated for 30 min with HT, TYR and HVA (0.25-1 μ M) and treated with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M for 3 h.

Oxysterols induced a remarkable increase in the level of the phosphorylated forms of JNK (p-JNK) in PBMCs after 3 h of incubation. Such increases were all prevented by the addition of phenolic compounds at all tested concentration, except for HVA, active only at 1μ M.



Figure 30: Modulation of JNK 1/2 in PBMCs pre-treated or not for 30 min with HT, TYR and HVA (0.25-1 μ M) and incubated with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M for 3h. ***= p<0.001 vs Ctrl; a = p<0.001 vs Oxy (n=3) Changes also of p38 phosphorilation were analysed in PBMCs. As shown in Figure 31, PBMCs were pre-treated for 30 min with HT, TYR and HVA (0.25-1 μ M) and treated with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M for 3 h. All phenolic compounds at the maximum tested concentration were able to counteract the increase of p38 phosphorilation induced by oxysterols in blood cells. HT was active also at 0.25 μ M.



Figure 31: Modulation of p38 in PBMCs pre-treated or not for 30 min with HT, TYR and HVA (0.25-1 μ M) and incubated with the oxysterols mixture 20 μ M for 3h. ***= p<0.001 vs Ctrl; a = p<0.001, c = p<0.05 vs Oxy (n=3)

5. Discussion

Cholesterol oxidation products, termed oxysterols, may either originate endogenously, through enzymatic or non-enzymatic reactions, or may derive from the diet. As regards exogenous sources of oxysterols, foods containing cholesterol are susceptible to oxidation: oxidative reactions occur during food processing, mainly on exposure to heat treatment and during long-term storage (**Biasi et al. 2013a**).

They are involved in physiological processes such as the regulation of cholesterol homeostasis, but it is well established that oxysterols have mostly detrimental biological activities. They provoke an imbalance of the ratio between oxidative and reductive biochemical reactions (oxidative stress) which acts on all organism level, from cell signaling to disease expression through up-regulation of inflammation, apoptosis and fibrosis (Vejux et al. 2009, Otaegui-Arrazola et al. 2010).

Pathological accumulation of oxysterols may contribute in fact to the onset and especially to the development of major chronic diseases in which inflammation, but also oxidative damage and to a certain extent cell death, are hallmarks and primary mechanisms of progression. Indeed, certain oxysterols exercise strong pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory effects at concentrations detectable in the lesions typical of atherosclerosis, neurodegenerative diseases, age-related macular degeneration, and other pathological conditions characterized by altered cholesterol uptake and/or metabolism (Poli et al. 2013).

Only in the last few years, oxysterols have been shown to interfere with the homeostasis of the human digestive tract, demonstrating their involvement in the pathogenesis of human inflammatory bowel disease and colon rectal cancer (**Biasi** et al. 2013b).

The gastrointestinal tract is constantly exposed to dietary oxidised food compounds produced during the reactions that occur during processing and storage of foods, such as lipid hydroperoxides and oxysterols that have been demonstrated to impact intestinal integrity, inducing a strong cytotoxic effect on enterocytes, altering the redox state, triggering an inflammatory reaction and an oxidative damage (**Rezaie et al. 2007**).

Experimental studies suggest that the ingestion of compounds with antioxidant action, such as phenolics, is able to counteract the oxidative stress and inflammatory response in the intestine and inhibit the onset of the main related diseases (Romier et al. 2009).

Polyphenols are the most abundant antioxidants in the human diet and are found in many plant-derived products, i.e. fruits, vegetables, herbs and spices.

Several studies have shown that polyphenols are able to interact with biological systems and act as bioactive molecules, mainly due to their antioxidant activity, acting as scavengers of radical species, chelators of metal ions and modulating intracellular signaling pathways and gene expression (Martin-Pelaez et al. 2013), and have also reported as having a strong anti-inflammatory effect both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Tripoli et al. 2005, Lopez-Miranda et al. 2010).

Extra virgin olive oil, the primary source of fat in the Mediterranean diet, is particularly important.

The association with consumption of extra virgin olive oil rich in phenolics with a lower incidence of various chronic degenerative diseases has been widely reported

(Cicerale et al. 2010).

The benefits of consuming olive oil have been known since antiquity and extensively reported and were traditionally attributed to its high content in oleic acid (Quiles et al. 2006).

However, it is well established that these effects must be attributed to the phenolic fraction of olive oil with its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities.

The phenolic fraction of extra virgin olive oil contains different types of chemical compounds, mainly complex phenols, such as secoiridoids, derivatives of simple phenols hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol, which are the most biologically active **(Granados-Principal et al. 2010)**.

Dietary intake of olive oil polyphenols, in Mediterranean countries, has been estimated to be around 9 mg per day with a daily intake of 25–50 ml of olive oil; at least 1 mg is derived from free hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol, while 8 mg are related to their elenolic esters and to oleuropein and ligstroside aglycons (**de la Torre 2008**).

Extra virgin olive oil complex polyphenols undergo a deep biotransformation in the gastro-intestinal level and some conjugated forms of the HT and TYR are hydrolysed in the stomach, increasing the amount of simple phenols that reach the intestine, where they undergo further metabolization. The phenolic compounds are poorly absorbed; don't reach blood concentrations of relief, most remains in the intestine, where especially the simple phenols can be present at particularly high concentrations (higher than μ M) (Corona et al. 2006). They might thus exert their health benefits by protecting intestinal mucosa from oxidative damage occurring during digestion, contributing to the enhancement of the antioxidant status as a whole (Scalbert et al. 2000).

The first part of this research focuses on this context, with the aim of evaluate the antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity of the phenolic fraction of two extra virgin olive oils obtained from two Sardinian cultivars, Bosana and Nera of Gonnos, against the harmful effect of a dietary oxysterols mixture in Caco-2 cells, an accepted model of human epithelial intestinal cell line.

Caco-2 cell line derives from a human colon adenocarcinoma, but cells undergo in culture a process of spontaneous differentiation that leads to the formation of a monolayer, expressing several morphological and functional characteristics of the mature normal enterocytes. Caco-2 cell monolayers represent a well-established model for the study of intestinal transport of nutrients and xenobiotics, and it is widely used in pharmacology and toxicology (Artursson 1990, Baker et al. 1995, Meunier et al. 1995, Artursson et al. 2001).

Differentiated Caco-2 cells express microvilli, basolateral membranes separated by tight junctions, intestine-specific antioxidant enzymes such as superoxide

dismutase, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione reductase and catalase, and possess absorptive properties similar to those of normal intestine (Rousset et al. 1985, Peters et al. 1989, Baker et al. 1992, Baker et al. 1993).

Cells were treated with a biologically compatible mixture of the most widely oxysterols present in cholesterol-rich foods: 7-ketocholesterol, 7α -hydroxycholesterol, 7β -hydroxycholestrol, 5α , 6α -epoxycholesterol and 5β , 6β -hydroxycholesterol **(Kanner 2007)**.

Most experimental studies reported to date have concerned individual cholesterol oxidation products, although these are always present in dietary lipids as a mixture (Mascia et al. 2010). Their concentrations in foods have been quantified in the 10-100 μ M range; the consumption of different foods containing oxysterols could lead to luminal concentrations of these products much higher than 100 μ M (Kanner 2007).

Depending on the experimental conditions used (incubation time/concentration of oxysterols mixture), oxysterols exerted different toxic effects on Caco-2 cells: at high concentration of mixture (150 μ M), the alteration of the intracellular redox state and the induction of oxidative damage that led to cells death were observed; at lower concentrations oxysterols induced the activation of the redox-sensitive signaling pathways related to the cellular response to oxidative stress, cell survival/apoptosis and induction of the inflammatory response.

Changes in the cellular redox state were evaluated determining ROS generation, variation of intracellular GSH concentration and GPX activity.

The incubation with the oxysterols mixture induced a significant increase of intracellular ROS production after 60 minutes, as demonstrated by the reaction with dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA); a marked increase in fluorescence in the samples treated with the oxysterols, compared to control, was observed. This is in accordance with studies carried out by Biasi and colleagues using an equivalent oxysterols mixture (**Biasi et al. 2009**, **Biasi et al. 2013a**).

The increase of ROS has led to a consequent decrease in the concentration of intracellular GSH, an antioxidant molecule abundant in the mucosal cells of the GI tract. Its primary function is to protect cells from oxidative stress detoxifying reactive oxygen metabolites of endogenous or exogenous origins (Aw 2005).

Other studies carried out in different cell types showed the same results; it has been demonstrated that 7-KC and 7 β -HC induced a significant decrease in GSH levels in PC12 cells and U937 (Lizard et al. 1998, Lyons et al. 2001, O'Callaghan et al. 2001, O'Callaghan et al. 2002, Han et al. 2007).

However oxysterols, individually or in mixture, can exert opposite effects on the levels of intracellular GSH, depending on the experimental conditions used and the cell type **(O'Callaghan et al. 2001, O'Callaghan et al. 2002, O'Sullivan A et al. 2005)**.

Pre-treatment with both olive oil phenolic extracts significantly reduced the increase of ROS induced by oxysterols, at all tested concentrations.

Similar results were obtained in other studies; olive oil phenolics have been found to decrease ROS production (implicated in the development of a number of disease states) and elicit significant free-radical scavenging effects (**Goya et al. 2007, Paiva-Martins et al. 2009, Cioffi G et al. 2010**). Phenolic compounds are believed to be capable of both direct reaction with ROS in the GI tract and of preventing their formation (**Halliwell et al. 2000**).

For example, an olive oil phenolic fraction has been shown to protect colonic cells against injury induced by hydrogen peroxide (Manna et al. 1997, Manna et al. 2002).

Moreover, in this study, a lower decrease of GSH was observed in cells pre-treated with phenolic extracts, confirming their ability to act as effective antioxidants.

Human studies have shown beneficial effects of olive oil phenolic compounds on markers of oxidative stress. Covas et al. **(Covas et al. 2006)** found that phenol-rich EVOO beneficially modulated the balance between gluthathione (GSH) and gluthathione reductase (GSSG) and more recently olive oil phenolic compounds were found to increase GSH concentration in human blood (Visioli et al. 2009) A significant increase in the activity of GPX was observed after 18 hours of treatment with oxysterols mixture; it represents a first line of defence against ingested oxidised lipids and is highly expressed in the intestinal tract; with other enzymes such as superoxide dismutase and catalase, it is part of the detoxification system of radical species responsible of the oxidative cell damage (Piechota-Polanczyk et al. 2014).

Pre-treatment with the phenolic extracts decreased the enzymatic activity, probably because of the reduction of reactive species.

In our experimental system the phenolic extracts did not alter the basal activity of the enzyme. However many experimental studies demonstrated that cellular systems, treated with polyphenols, showed an increase of enzyme activities related to GSH, in particular of γ GCS, Gred, GPX and GST (**Steele et al. 2000, Jeon et al. 2003, Molina et al. 2003, Scharf et al. 2003, Soto et al. 2003**).

Effects of polyphenols on enzymatic activities related to GSH, in particular on GPX, were also demonstrated in *in vivo* studies, both in animal models and humans (Rodrigo et al. 2002, Khan et al. 2004, Fito et al. 2005, Rodrigo et al. 2005), and a mechanism by which polyphenols exert these effects seems related to a direct action on enzymes gene expression (Giovannini C. et al. 2006).

The treatment with the oxysterols mixture induced, in addition, a significant increase of MDA production after 24 h, indicating an advanced oxidative process of cellular macromolecules; this is in accordance with other studies that showed the ability of these compounds to produce MDA, for example in ECV-304 cells (Wu et al. 2006), vascular smooth muscle cells (Tang et al. 2005) and liver mitochondria (Liu et al. 2009).

Both phenolic extracts counteracted this increase, showing a significant protective activity at all tested concentrations; the activity of Bosana and Nera of Gonnos extracts was comparable. Deiana et al. (Deiana et al. 2010) demonstrated that pre-treatment with olive oil simple phenols (HT, TYR and HVA) protected Caco-2 cells from oxidative damage induced by the lipid hydroperoxide TBH. Both HT and HVA, metabolite of HT in humans (Manna et al. 2000, Tuck et al. 2002) and detected as metabolite of HT also in Caco-2 cells (Corona et al. 2006), inhibited the production of oxidation products, thus preserving the level of membrane lipids. It is noteworthy that TYR also exerted a protective action, limiting the oxidative damage, although this effect was achieved at a higher concentration with respect to the other phenols.

In spite of its relatively low antioxidant activity, TYR showed a stable protective effect against oxidized-LDL induced injury in Caco-2 cells; a study demonstrated that TYR inhibited membrane, modifications of cytoskeleton network, microtubular disorganization, loss of cell–cell and cell–substrate contacts, cell detachment and cell death (Giovannini et al. 1999).

Similar results, regarding all aspects discussed above, were obtained in a study conducted in HpeG2 cells challenged with TBH; pre-treatment with hydroxytyrosol, the main phenolic acid present in olive oil phenolic fraction, significantly reduced the increase of ROS, GPX activity, and MDA, and the decrease of GSH induced by TBH (Goya et al. 2007).

Intracellular ROS production by oxysterols may induce modification of cell proteins and alter various signaling pathways and gene expression (Morrissey PA et al. 2006), leading to cell death.

A large number of *in vitro* studies has in fact described the potential pro-apoptotic effect of oxysterols in various cell systems (**Vejux et al. 2008**).

In this study the induction of cell death by oxysterols was firstly analysed through Neutral red viability test, where a significant decrease of cell viability was observed from the concentration of $60 \ \mu M$.

In order to clarify the molecular mechanisms involved in cell death, the induction of caspase 3 activation was evaluated. Caspase 3 is considered the most important effector caspase and, as regards to oxysterol-induced apoptosis, it is the most widely studied.

Oxysterols induced a significant increase of caspase 3 activity in Caco-2 cells and this result agrees with many other studies.

Biasi and colleagues showed same results using an equivalent oxysterols mixture in intestinal cells (**Biasi et al. 2009, Mascia et al. 2010**); authors showed that these oxysterols can exert their damaging effect in Caco-2 cells also when they are administered singly.

Studies from O'Sullivan and colleagues have shown that 25-HC, 5α , 6α -EC, 5β , 6β -EC or 7β -HC added individually to undifferentiated Caco-2 cells determined a reduction in cell viability assessed by the neutral red uptake assay **(O'Sullivan et al. 2003)**. The same research group further challenged undifferentiated Caco-2 cells for 24 h in the presence of 30 µM 5 β , 6β -EC, 7β -HC, or 7-KC, showing that cell viability, in terms of neutral red uptake, had decreased by 36, 11, and 17%, respectively **(Ryan et al. 2005)**.

However, the treatment of colon cancer cells with a diet-compatible mixture of oxysterols did not elicit the same responses than individual components added to the cells at the same concentrations at which they are present in the mixture. 60 μ M oxysterols mixture showed a slight pro-apoptotic effect on human colon cancer Caco-2 cell line, evaluated in terms of caspase 3 and caspase 7 activation; conversely, 7 α -HC, 7 β -HC and 5 α ,6 α -EC were identified to be able to induce a significant pro-apoptotic effect if added to cell culture singly; 7 β -HC had stronger action than other compounds (**Biasi et al. 2013a**).

This effect has been confirmed in other cell types treated with oxysterols, mainly involving 7 β -HC or 7-KC: addition of 25-HC to 7 β -HC or 7-KC significantly reduced the amount of oxysterol-induced apoptosis, which, on the contrary, was enhanced by 20-40 μ M 7 β -HC or 7-KC in human U937 pro-monocytic cells **(Aupeix et al. 1995, Larsson et al. 2006)**. Experimental studies on vascular cells reported that equimolar amounts of 7 β -HC and 7-KC decreased the degree of

apoptosis caused by 7-KC alone in endothelial cells and in murine J774.A1 macrophages (**Biasi et al. 2004, Steffen et al. 2006**). Conversely, synergistic cytotoxicity was found between 7-KC and 7 β -HC, administered to monocytes in proportions similar to that found in atherosclerotic lesions (**Larsson et al. 2006**). In another study 30 μ M of individual oxysterol components in the diet has shown that all 5 α ,6 α -EC, 5 β ,6 β -EC, 7-KC, and 7 β -HC significantly reduced U937 viability and increased caspase activity and DNA fragmentation (**Kenny et al. 2012**).

Pre-treatment with Bosana and Nera of Gonnos phenolic extracts protected cells against death, significantly increasing cell viability and reducing caspase 3 activity. A recent study showed similar results: Erol-Dayi Ö et al. investigated the protective effects of olive oil phenolic extract and one of its constituents, gallic acid (GA) against H₂O₂-induced oxidative stress and apoptotic cell death in HeLa cells, a model for human epithelial cells; both PE and GA were able to inhibit ROS production and the increase of caspase 9 induced by H₂O₂ (Erol-Dayi et al. 2012).

Apoptosis is a multistep process, and protein kinases (MAPK, Akt/PKB) have been implicated in both the upstream induction phase of apoptosis and in the downstream execution stage, as direct targets for caspases (**Cross et al. 2000**).

The modulation of these signals pathways was thus evaluated in the cells treated with the oxysterols mixture.

Akt has been well characterized as an antiapoptotic kinase that trasduces cellular survival signals in many cell types. The downstream actions of Akt appear to include phosphorylation of proteins involved in the apoptotic cascade and regulation of the expression of apoptotic proteins (Cross et al. 2000, Maddika et al. 2007). Therefore, for apoptosis to occur, Akt must be inactivated early in the apoptotic process.

The results obtained in this study showed that exposure of Caco-2 cells for 30 min to the oxysterols mixture induced a significant decrease of Akt/PKB phoshorilation, confirming the induction of apoptotic process.

- 130 -

Other studies confirmed this effect, using oxysterols in mixture (**Biasi et al. 2009**), and individually; in a murine macrophage-like cell line, 25-HC was found to induce apoptosis through degradation of Akt (**Rusinol et al. 2004**). Berthier et al. (**Berthier et al. 2005**), observed Akt inactivation during the initial steps of 7-KC-induced apoptosis in THP-1 cells. In support of these findings, two studies revealed that treatment of THP-1 macrophages with 7-KC coincides with decreased levels of Akt (**Palozza et al. 2007**, **Palozza et al. 2010**). Moreover, 7β -HC induced apoptosis caused a decrease in Akt activation compared to untreated U937 cells (**Lordan et al. 2008**).

MAPKs are a family of serine–threonine kinase enzymes which includes extracellular signal-regulated kinases ERK-1 and -2, JNK and p38. These proteins orchestrate the recruitment of gene transcription, protein biosynthesis, cell cycle control, apoptosis, and differentiation and allow cells to respond to oxidative stress and inflammatory stimuli (Cross et al. 2000, Cardeno et al. 2014b).

Oxysterols mixture, in the experimental conditions of this study, was found to significantly reduce the phosphorilation of ERK 1/2, and to induce an increase of JNK and p38 phosphorilation in intestinal cells.

Activation of JNK and p38 is generally associated with the promotion of apoptosis, while ERK activity inhibits apoptosis (**Cross et al. 2000**). Numerous *in vitro* studies have demonstrated modifications in ERK 1/2 activity following exposure to oxysterols (**Ares et al. 2000**, **Leonarduzzi et al. 2005**, **Prunet et al. 2006**, **Palozza et al. 2007**). In C6 glioma cells, an early decrease in ERK 1/2 activity was found to correlate with the toxic effects of 7β-HC (**Adamczyk et al. 1998**).

Following treatment with a different oxysterol, 7-KC, ERK 1/2 phosphorylation in THP-1 cells peaked at 2–3 h then declined toward basal levels after 12 h, while apoptosis increased significantly (Berthier et al. 2005).

Other studies involving various cell lines have observed an increased ERK 1/2 activity immediately after cell challenge with oxysterols with no activation of JNK or p38 (Ares et al. 2000, Berthier et al. 2005, Leonarduzzi et al. 2005). However,

this pattern of activity has not been consistently detected. Exposure to 7-KC for 24 h induced significant levels of apoptosis in THP-1 cells along with a remarkable increase in the level of the phosphorylated forms of ERK 1/2, JNK and p38 (Palozza et al. 2007). Conversely, Yoon et al. (Yoon et al. 2004) showed that 22-HC activates ERK 1/2 and p38, but not JNK, in human cholangiocytes.

Interestingly, results obtained in this research showed that both phenolic extracts modulated all these pathways; the proapoptotic effects induced by oxysterols was completely reverted by the presence of olive oil phenolic extracts in cell medium; they were able to significantly reduce the decrease of Akt/PKB and ERK 1/2 phosphorilation, and to inhibit the phosphorilation of JNK and p38, suggesting an effective protection against oxysterols-induced cell death.

In the literature there aren't specific studies regarding the anti-apoptotic effets of olive oil phenolics in the GI tract, but their ability to counteract cell death was showed in other cellular systems. For example studies conducted by Deiana et al. demonstrated the ability of HT and its metabolite HVA to modulate Akt/PKB, ERK 1/2 and JNK phosphorilation, protecting kidney cells against cell death induced by H₂O₂ (Deiana et al. 2008, Incani et al. 2010).

Several studies showed a strong modulatory effect of different classes of phenolic compounds on MAPKs, whose activity can be inhibited or increased depending on cell type and experimental conditions (Santangelo et al. 2007).

MAPK are also involved in the early stages of the inflammatory response, as well as in the modulation of oxidative and apoptotic processes (McCubrey et al. 2006). The activation of MAPK pathway leads to the induction of a wide range of genes that contribute to the establishment of the immune response and inflammation, regulating the synthesis/activity of cytokines and chemokines, cell surface receptors, adhesion molecules and inflammatory enzymes. The inhibition of these intracellular signaling pathways, in any point of the cascade, allows a modulation of the inflammatory process (Kaminska 2005). JNK signaling pathway, classically linked to induction of apoptosis, plays an important role in the pro-atherogenic and pro-inflammatory effect of some oxysterols, in particular of 7-KC (**Pedruzzi et al. 2004**).

It has also been shown that the pro-inflammatory action of some oxysterols (22-HC and α -triol) is mediated by the activation of p38 (Yoon et al. 2004, Liao et al. 2009).

The activation of p38 is a key point of the inflammatory response in the intestine, since regulates the expression of several pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, IL-8, COX-2, IL-1 β , etc.), both in cells of the immune system in those structural of the intestinal wall, through modulation of transcription factors such as NF-kB, or the modulation of the stability and translation of specific mRNA (Feng et al. 2001).

As demonstrated in *in vitro* models and humans (**Biasi et al. 2013b**) treatment with oxysterols induced the secretion of several cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-8, crucial mediators in sustaining the chronic intestinal inflammation.

In the experimental model of this study, oxysterols mixture showed the capability to induce the increase of IL-6 and IL-8; both phenolic extracts demonstrated a significant anti-inflammatory effect, inhibiting cytokines secretion.

Phenolic compounds derived from EVOO have been reported to have significant anti-inflammatory capacity. *In vivo* and *in vitro* research has suggested that the dietary intake of EVOO, containing significant concentrations of phenolics, may attenuate inflammatory responses in the body and therefore reduce the risk of chronic inflammatory disease development (**Corona et al. 2009, Khymenets et al. 2009, Konstantinidou et al. 2010)**.

Recent epidemiological studies have shown that habitual consumption of extra virgin olive oil is effective in the prevention of diverse types of digestive disorders such as inflammatory bowel disease. A recent study evaluated the protective effect of dietary extra virgin olive oil polyphenol extract supplementation in the inflammatory response associated to chronic colitis (DSS-induced) in rats; in EVOO+PE fed mice MCP-1, TNF- α , COX-2 and iNOS expression were

significantly reduced and in addition a down-regulation of JNK and p38 phosphorilation was observed, confirming the involvement of MAPK in the inflammatory process (Sanchez-Fidalgo et al. 2013).

Another study investigated the ability of a phenolic extract from extra virgin olive oil to modulate the inflammatory response in intestinal epithelial cells (Caco-2). Phenolic extract prevented IL-8 expression and secretion induced by LPS and down-regulated the activation of p38 and JNK (**Muto et al. 2015**).

Impellizzeri et al. (Impellizzeri et al. 2011) further found that the EVOO phenolic, oleuropein aglycone attenuates inflammatory responses in a carrageenan challenged mouse model of inflammation. Camargo et al. (Camargo et al. 2010) have recently shown that intake of an EVOO enriched-breakfast high in phenolics decreases the expression of several inflammatory genes including NF-KB and COX-2 among others.

Several studies in animals and humans have shown that dietary oxysterols, after digestion can be absorbed from the gut and transported into the circulation within chylomicrons and other lipoproteins (Brown et al. 1999, Carpenter 2002). Furthermore, the presence of oxysterols in plasma can derive from the oxidation of endogenous cholesterol through enzymatic or spontaneous reactions (Vejux et al. 2009).

Oxysterols have been found at increased levels in the plasma of hypercholesterolemic subjects and have been linked with the atherosclerotic process (Leonarduzzi et al. 2012). Oxysterols in human plasma or serum may vary from about 1 μ M (0.05% of total cholesterol) in healthy subjects to 20-30 μ M (0.5-0.75% of total cholesterol) in diseased individuals (Schroepfer 2000).

The intake of dietary antioxidant, as those present in extra virgin olive oil, could counteract the harmful effect of oxysterols, not only in the gastrointestinal tract even at systemic level. In this context the second part of this study specifically focused on the protective effect of pure olive oil phenolics, which can be found in the blood stream after absorption (hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol, and homovanillic alcohol) against the prooxidant and pro-inflammatory activity of oxysterols in blood cells.

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) separated from whole blood of healthy volunteers were used for this purpose; these are composed by lymphocytes, monocytes and macrophages, critical components in the immune system to fight inflammation and source of pro-inflammatory molecules.

PBMCs cells were treated with a biologically compatible oxysterols mixture composed by the most widely represented oxysterols in plasma of hypercholesterolemic subjects: 7α -hydroxycholesterol, 7β -hydroxycholesterol,

The first intent was to examine the ability of PBMCs to produce cytokines and chemokines in the presence of oxysterols, in particular MCP-1, IL-1 β , MIF and RANTES, usually involved in pro-inflammatory processes; the oxysterols mixture was able to significantly increase the secretion of all cytokines/chemokines analysed.

Since it has been suggested that oxysterols may increase the levels of cytokines by modulating redox-sensitive pathways (**Palozza et al. 2011**), the oxidative status of PBMCs treated with the oxysterols mixture was then measured.

An early increase (after 15 min) of intracellular ROS production was observed in PBMCs challenged with oxysterols compared to control.

At moderate concentrations, ROS may act as second messengers in signal transduction, by modulating redox-sensitive MAPKs; these kinases have been already reported to be activated by treatment with oxysterols and have been implicated in oxysterols-induced cytokine secretion (**Palozza et al. 2010**).
In the experimental conditions of this research, the oxysterols mixture induced a significant increase of both JNK and p38 phosphorilation suggesting their involvement in cytokine secretion.

These results are in accordance with other experimental studies.

Up-regulation of MCP-1 has been reported in U937 promonocytic cells stimulated by a biologically relevant oxysterols mixture compatible with the same used in this study, and this activation was linked with a net increment of ERK 1/2 phosphorilation (Leonarduzzi et al. 2005).

Furthermore, in human monocytic cells, 7 β -HC and 25-HC, but also 7-KC to a lesser extent, are potent *in vitro* inducers of MCP-1, IL-1 β , IL-8, TNF- α , and MIP-1 β , as well as of other inflammatory molecules (**Prunet et al. 2006**). The same study demonstrated that IL-8 secretion was associated with activation of the ERK 1/2 signaling pathway (**Prunet et al. 2006**). The oxysterols 7-KC and 25-HC have also been observed to enhance IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- α mRNA and secretion levels, in a dose-dependent manner, although to different extents. These effects were associated with increased ROS production, and a net phosphorylation of MAPKs (ERK 1/2, JNK, p38) and NF-KB activation also occurred (**Palozza et al. 2011**).

Up-regulation of IL-1 β is another important event, because this cytokine increases the surface expression of endothelial adhesion molecules, by facilitating inflammatory cells attachment to the artery endothelium. Expression and synthesis of IL-1 β were found to be stimulated by 25-HC in human macrophages, through the involvement of the LXR, as well as, but less strongly, by 27-HC (**Rosklint et al. 2002**). IL-1 β secretion was also markedly induced by 7 β -HC, 7-KC, and 7 α -HC in human promonocytic cells U937 and U4 (**Lizard et al. 1997**, **Lemaire-Ewing et al. 2005**) and in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) (**Lemaire et al. 1998**). Production of the proinflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IL-1 β is also induced by 25-HC in adherent human peripheral blood mononuclear leukocytes, through phosphorylation of p38 MAPK (Feng et al. 2001).

In the literature there isn't any specific correlation between oxysterols and RANTES and MIF secretion; but the increased RANTES and MIF expressions have been associated with a wide range of inflammatory disorders and pathologies, such as inflammatory bowel disease and atherosclerosis where oxysterols exert a pivotal role.

RANTES and MIF are cytokines with chemokine-like function and critical mediators of the host immune and inflammatory response; they are thought to act by recruiting and promoting leukocytes infiltration to sites of inflammation (Appay et al. 2001, Asare et al. 2013).

In this study it was demonstrated that all phenolic compounds HT, TYR and HVA at all tested concentrations, were able to inhibit oxysterol-induced proinflammatory cytokines production in immune cells.

According to the hypotesis that pro-inflammatory cytokines release may be induced by changes in intracellular redox status, it was observed that, in human PBMCs treated with the oxysterols mixture, simple phenols were able to inhibit ROS production significantly from the concentration of 0.5 μ M as well as to suppress both redox-based MAPK phosphorylation (JNK, p38).

In the literature there are several studies that confirmed the anti-inflammatory activity of olive oil phenolics in different districts such as in blood cells.

Differential anti-inflammatory effects of phenolic compounds from extra virgin olive oil were identified in human whole blood cultures: oleuropein glycoside and caffeic acid decreased the concentration of IL-1 β and kaempferol decreased the concentration of PGE2 induced by LPS (Miles et al. 2005).

A recent study reported similar results in macrophages where oil phenolic extracts exerted their protective effects against LPS-induced oxidative stress and inflammatory responses (Cardeno et al. 2014a, Cardeno et al. 2014b). The olive oil PE significantly decreased NO (nitric oxide) and ROS production and in addition significant down regulated iNOS, COX-2 and mPGES1 protein expression, reduced MAPK (JNK, p38) phosphorilation and prevented the nuclear NF-KB traslocation.

HT inhibits iNOS and COX-2 expression in LPS-stimulated J774 cells at the transcriptional level by preventing the activation of NF-KB, STAT-1 α and IRF-1 (Maiuri et al. 2005) and TYR prevented RAW 264.7 macrophages activation induced by gliadin and INF γ (De Stefano et al. 2007).

A recent study conducted by Palozza et al. (Palozza et al. 2011) investigated the ability of lycopene, a strong antioxidant compound present in tomato, to prevent oxysterols induced pro-inflammatory cytokine cascade in human macrophages.

Lycopene prevented oxysterol-induced increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α) secretion and expression, such an effect was accompanied by an inhibition of oxysterols-induced ROS production and MAPK (ERK 1/2, JNK and p38).

Olive oil phenolics analysed showed similar capabilities against the harmful effects of the oxysterols mixture in ex-vivo blood cells.

Further studies are needed to clarify the mechanism by which the phenolic compounds exert their protective action; however, data obtained in these experimental systems, suggested that these compounds act primarily by counteracting the initial stages of the pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory effects of oxysterols, inhibiting the formation of ROS and then all subsequent cascading effects.

In conclusion data reported in this study confirmed the ability of oxysterols, of both endogenous and exogenous origin, to play important roles in different districts, involving cytotoxic, pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory processes, in particular in the gastro-intestinal tract, constantly exposed to dietary oxidised lipids and at systemic level where these compounds can be found after absorption. The olive oil phenolics exerted a protective effect in both systems.

- 138 -

The Bosana and Nera of Gonnos extracts as a whole may contribute to preserve the integrity of intestinal mucosa, scavenging free radicals, preventing lipids peroxidation, enhancing endogenous defences, preventing cell death and cytokines production through the modulation of different protein kinases.

These results suggest a possible preventive effect of olive oil phenolic fraction on intestinal diseases related to oxidative stress and inflammation.

Both extracts demonstrated the same effectiveness; however Bosana extract has been shown to contain a higher amount of phenolic contents in particular HT, TYR and their secoiridoids derivatives. The high concentration of phenolic in an extract is not crucial for its biological activity, but depends on the molecular structures of the individual phenolic compounds present and the possible synergy or antagonism between the different classes of compounds.

Olive oil simple phenols, derived from metabolism and absorption of whole extracts, exerted their protection also at systemic level specifically reducing ROS production and cytokines secretion, modulating MAPK; HT, TYR and HVA showed a comparable significant action.

These findings may indicate antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of absorbed phenolics, which may be therapeutically useful in controlling chronic immune and/or inflammatory processes, such as atherosclerosis or neurodegerative diseases.

Bibliography

Adamczyk, M., E. Scherrer, A. Kupferberg, A. N. Malviya and M. Mersel (1998). "Inhibition of p42/p44 mitogen-activated protein kinase by oxysterols in rat astrocyte primary cultures and C6 glioma cell lines." <u>J Neurosci Res</u> **53**(1): 38-50.

Addis, P. B. (1986). "Occurrence of lipid oxidation products in foods." <u>Food Chem Toxicol</u> **24**(10-11): 1021-1030.

Aguiar, A. and A. Ferraz (2007). "Fe(3+)- and Cu(2+)-reduction by phenol derivatives associated with Azure B degradation in Fenton-like reactions." <u>Chemosphere</u> **66**(5): 947-954.

Aguilera, C. M., M. D. Mesa, M. C. Ramirez-Tortosa, M. T. Nestares, E. Ros and A. Gil (2004). "Sunflower oil does not protect against LDL oxidation as virgin olive oil does in patients with peripheral vascular disease." <u>Clin Nutr</u> **23**(4): 673-681.

Alemany, L., J. M. Laparra, R. Barbera and A. Alegria (2012). "Evaluation of the cytotoxic effect of 7keto-stigmasterol and 7keto-cholesterol in human intestinal (Caco-2) cells." <u>Food</u> <u>Chem Toxicol</u> **50**(9): 3106-3113.

Alemany, L., J. M. Laparra, R. Barbera and A. Alegria (2013). "Relative expression of cholesterol transport-related proteins and inflammation markers through the induction of 7-ketosterol-mediated stress in Caco-2 cells." <u>Food Chem Toxicol</u> **56**: 247-253.

Aparicio, R. and R. Aparicio-Ruiz (2000). "Authentication of vegetable oils by chromatographic techniques." <u>J Chromatogr A</u> **881**(1-2): 93-104.

Appay, V. and S. L. Rowland-Jones (2001). "RANTES: a versatile and controversial chemokine." <u>Trends Immunol</u> **22**(2): 83-87.

Ares, M. P., M. I. Porn-Ares, S. Moses, J. Thyberg, L. Juntti-Berggren, P. Berggren, A. Hultgardh-Nilsson, B. Kallin and J. Nilsson (2000). "7beta-hydroxycholesterol induces Ca(2+) oscillations, MAP kinase activation and apoptosis in human aortic smooth muscle cells." <u>Atherosclerosis</u> **153**(1): 23-35.

Artursson, P. (1990). "Epithelial transport of drugs in cell culture. I: A model for studying the passive diffusion of drugs over intestinal absorptive (Caco-2) cells." <u>J Pharm Sci</u> **79**(6): 476-482.

Artursson, P., K. Palm and K. Luthman (2001). "Caco-2 monolayers in experimental and theoretical predictions of drug transport." <u>Adv Drug Deliv Rev</u> **46**(1-3): 27-43.

Asare, Y., M. Schmitt and J. Bernhagen (2013). "The vascular biology of macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF). Expression and effects in inflammation, atherogenesis and angiogenesis." <u>Thromb Haemost</u> **109**(3): 391-398.

Aupeix, K., D. Weltin, J. E. Mejia, M. Christ, J. Marchal, J. M. Freyssinet and P. Bischoff (1995). "Oxysterol-induced apoptosis in human monocytic cell lines." <u>Immunobiology</u> **194**(4-5): 415-428.

Aw, T. Y. (2005). "Intestinal glutathione: determinant of mucosal peroxide transport, metabolism, and oxidative susceptibility." <u>Toxicol Appl Pharmacol</u> **204**(3): 320-328.

Bach-Faig, A., E. M. Berry, D. Lairon, J. Reguant, A. Trichopoulou, S. Dernini, F. X. Medina, M. Battino, R. Belahsen, G. Miranda, L. Serra-Majem and G. Mediterranean Diet Foundation Expert (2011). "Mediterranean diet pyramid today. Science and cultural updates." <u>Public Health Nutr</u> **14**(12A): 2274-2284.

Bai, B., K. Yamamoto, H. Sato, H. Sugiura and T. Tanaka (2005). "Combined effect of 25hydroxycholesterol and IL-1beta on IL-8 production in human colon carcinoma cell line (Caco-2)." <u>Inflammation</u> **29**(4-6): 141-146.

Baker, R. D., S. S. Baker and K. LaRosa (1995). "Polarized Caco-2 cells. Effect of reactive oxygen metabolites on enterocyte barrier function." <u>Dig Dis Sci</u> **40**(3): 510-518.

Baker, S. S. and R. D. Baker, Jr. (1992). "Antioxidant enzymes in the differentiated Caco-2 cell line." <u>In Vitro Cell Dev Biol</u> **28A**(9-10): 643-647.

Baker, S. S. and R. D. Baker, Jr. (1993). "Caco-2 cell metabolism of oxygen-derived radicals." <u>Dig Dis Sci</u> **38**(12): 2273-2280.

Barclay, A. W., P. Petocz, J. McMillan-Price, V. M. Flood, T. Prvan, P. Mitchell and J. C. Brand-Miller (2008). "Glycemic index, glycemic load, and chronic disease risk--a meta-analysis of observational studies." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **87**(3): 627-637.

Bartram, H. P., W. Scheppach, S. Gerlach, G. Ruckdeschel, E. Kelber and H. Kasper (1994). "Does yogurt enriched with Bifidobacterium longum affect colonic microbiology and fecal metabolites in health subjects?" <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **59**(2): 428-432.

Beauchamp, G. K., R. S. Keast, D. Morel, J. Lin, J. Pika, Q. Han, C. H. Lee, A. B. Smith and P. A. Breslin (2005). "Phytochemistry: ibuprofen-like activity in extra-virgin olive oil." <u>Nature</u> **437**(7055): 45-46.

Bertelli, A. A., M. Migliori, V. Panichi, B. Longoni, N. Origlia, A. Ferretti, M. G. Cuttano and L. Giovannini (2002). "Oxidative stress and inflammatory reaction modulation by white wine." <u>Ann N Y Acad Sci</u> **957**: 295-301.

Berthier, A., S. Lemaire-Ewing, C. Prunet, T. Montange, A. Vejux, J. P. Pais de Barros, S. Monier, P. Gambert, G. Lizard and D. Neel (2005). "7-Ketocholesterol-induced apoptosis. Involvement of several pro-apoptotic but also anti-apoptotic calcium-dependent transduction pathways." <u>FEBS J</u> **272**(12): 3093-3104.

Bianco, A., F. Buiarelli, G. Cartoni, F. Coccioli, I. Muzzalupo, A. Polidori and N. Uccella (2001). "Anlaysis by HPLC-MS/MS of biophenolic components in olives and oils." <u>Anal.</u> <u>Lett.</u> **34**: 1033-1051.

Bianco, A., F. Coccioli, M. Guiso and C. Marra (2001). "The occurrence in olive oil of a new class of phenolic compounds: Hydroxy-isochromans." <u>Food Chem Toxicol</u> **77**: 405-411.

Biasi, F., E. Chiarpotto, B. Sottero, M. Maina, C. Mascia, T. Guina, P. Gamba, S. Gargiulo, G. Testa, G. Leonarduzzi and G. Poli (2013a). "Evidence of cell damage induced by major components of a diet-compatible mixture of oxysterols in human colon cancer CaCo-2 cell line." <u>Biochimie</u> **95**(3): 632-640.

Biasi, F., T. Guina, M. Maina, B. Cabboi, M. Deiana, C. I. Tuberoso, S. Calfapietra, E. Chiarpotto, B. Sottero, P. Gamba, S. Gargiulo, V. Brunetto, G. Testa, M. A. Dessi, G. Poli and G. Leonarduzzi (2013b). "Phenolic compounds present in Sardinian wine extracts protect against the production of inflammatory cytokines induced by oxysterols in CaCo-2 human enterocyte-like cells." <u>Biochem Pharmacol</u> **86**(1): 138-145.

Biasi, F., G. Leonarduzzi, B. Vizio, D. Zanetti, A. Sevanian, B. Sottero, V. Verde, B. Zingaro, E. Chiarpotto and G. Poli (2004). "Oxysterol mixtures prevent proapoptotic effects of 7-ketocholesterol in macrophages: implications for proatherogenic gene modulation." <u>FASEB J</u> **18**(6): 693-695.

Biasi, F., C. Mascia, M. Astegiano, E. Chiarpotto, M. Nano, B. Vizio, G. Leonarduzzi and G. Poli (2009). "Pro-oxidant and proapoptotic effects of cholesterol oxidation products on human colonic epithelial cells: a potential mechanism of inflammatory bowel disease progression." <u>Free Radic Biol Med</u> **47**(12): 1731-1741.

Biasi, F., C. Mascia and G. Poli (2007). "TGFbeta1 expression in colonic mucosa: modulation by dietary lipids." <u>Genes Nutr</u> **2**(2): 233-243.

Biasi, F., C. Mascia and G. Poli (2008). "The contribution of animal fat oxidation products to colon carcinogenesis, through modulation of TGF-beta1 signaling." <u>Carcinogenesis</u> **29**(5): 890-894.

Bibbins-Domingo, K., G. M. Chertow, P. G. Coxson, A. Moran, J. M. Lightwood, M. J. Pletcher and L. Goldman (2010). "Projected effect of dietary salt reductions on future cardiovascular disease." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **362**(7): 590-599.

Bisignano, G., A. Tomaino, R. Lo Cascio, G. Crisafi, N. Uccella and A. Saija (1999). "On the in-vitro antimicrobial activity of oleuropein and hydroxytyrosol." <u>J Pharm Pharmacol</u> **51**(8): 971-974.

Biswas, S. K., D. E. Newby, I. Rahman and I. L. Megson (2005). "Depressed glutathione synthesis precedes oxidative stress and atherogenesis in Apo-E(-/-) mice." <u>Biochem</u> <u>Biophys Res Commun</u> **338**(3): 1368-1373.

Bjorkhem, I. (2007). "Rediscovery of cerebrosterol." Lipids 42(1): 5-14.

Bjorkhem, I., O. Andersson, U. Diczfalusy, B. Sevastik, R. J. Xiu, C. Duan and E. Lund (1994). "Atherosclerosis and sterol 27-hydroxylase: evidence for a role of this enzyme in elimination of cholesterol from human macrophages." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **91**(18): 8592-8596.

Bjorkhem, I., M. Heverin, V. Leoni, S. Meaney and U. Diczfalusy (2006). "Oxysterols and Alzheimer's disease." <u>Acta Neurol Scand Suppl</u> **185**: 43-49.

Bogani, P., C. Galli, M. Villa and F. Visioli (2007). "Postprandial anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects of extra virgin olive oil." <u>Atherosclerosis</u> **190**(1): 181-186.

Borenfreund, E. and J. A. Puerner (1984). "A simple quantitative procedure using monolayer cultures for cytotoxicity assay (HTD/NR-90)." <u>Journal of tissue culture methods</u> **9**: 7-9.

Bos, M. B., J. H. de Vries, E. J. Feskens, S. J. van Dijk, D. W. Hoelen, E. Siebelink, R. Heijligenberg and L. C. de Groot (2010). "Effect of a high monounsaturated fatty acids diet and a Mediterranean diet on serum lipids and insulin sensitivity in adults with mild abdominal obesity." <u>Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis</u> **20**(8): 591-598.

Bosco, D. A., D. M. Fowler, Q. Zhang, J. Nieva, E. T. Powers, P. Wentworth, Jr., R. A. Lerner and J. W. Kelly (2006). "Elevated levels of oxidized cholesterol metabolites in Lewy body disease brains accelerate alpha-synuclein fibrilization." <u>Nat Chem Biol</u> **2**(5): 249-253.

Bosetti, C., S. Gallus, A. Trichopoulou, R. Talamini, S. Franceschi, E. Negri and C. La Vecchia (2003). "Influence of the Mediterranean diet on the risk of cancers of the upper aerodigestive tract." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **12**(10): 1091-1094.

Boskou, D. and (1996). History and characteristics of the olive tree. <u>In Olive Oil Chemistry</u> <u>and Technology</u>. D. Boskou, Ed. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. Press: Champaign, IL, USA.

Boskou, D., G. Blekas and M. Tsimidou (2006). "Olive oil composition." <u>In Olive Oil:</u> <u>Chemistry and Technology</u>: 1-33.

Bradford, M. M. (1976). "A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding." <u>Anal Biochem</u> **72**: 248-254.

Brenes, M., A. Garcia, P. Garcia and A. Garrido (2001). "Acid hydrolysis of secoiridoid aglycons during storage of virgin olive oil." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **49**(11): 5609-5614.

Breuer, O. and I. Bjorkhem (1990). "Simultaneous quantification of several cholesterol autoxidation and monohydroxylation products by isotope-dilution mass spectrometry." <u>Steroids</u> **55**(4): 185-192.

Brooks, C. J., W. A. Harland and G. Steel (1966). "Squalene, 26-hydroxycholesterol and 7-ketocholesterol in human atheromatous plaques." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **125**(3): 620-622.

Brown, A. J. and W. Jessup (1999). "Oxysterols and atherosclerosis." <u>Atherosclerosis</u> **142**(1): 1-28.

Brown, A. J. and W. Jessup (2009). "Oxysterols: Sources, cellular storage and metabolism, and new insights into their roles in cholesterol homeostasis." <u>Molecular Aspects of Medicine</u> **30**(3): 111-122.

Brown, A. J. and W. Jessup (2009). "Oxysterols: Sources, cellular storage and metabolism, and new insights into their roles in cholesterol homeostasis." <u>Mol Aspects Med</u> **30**(3): 111-122.

Brown, M. S. and J. L. Goldstein (1974). "Suppression of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase activity and inhibition of growth of human fibroblasts by 7-ketocholesterol." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **249**(22): 7306-7314.

Bruce, W. R., A. Giacca and A. Medline (2000). "Possible mechanisms relating diet and risk of colon cancer." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **9**(12): 1271-1279.

Camargo, A., J. Ruano, J. M. Fernandez, L. D. Parnell, A. Jimenez, M. Santos-Gonzalez, C. Marin, P. Perez-Martinez, M. Uceda, J. Lopez-Miranda and F. Perez-Jimenez (2010). "Gene expression changes in mononuclear cells in patients with metabolic syndrome after acute intake of phenol-rich virgin olive oil." <u>BMC Genomics</u> **11**: 253.

Cao, G., K. R. Bales, R. B. DeMattos and S. M. Paul (2007). "Liver X receptor-mediated gene regulation and cholesterol homeostasis in brain: relevance to Alzheimer's disease therapeutics." <u>Curr Alzheimer Res</u> 4(2): 179-184.

Cardeno, A., M. Sanchez-Hidalgo, M. Aparicio-Soto and C. Alarcon-de-la-Lastra (2014a). "Unsaponifiable fraction from extra virgin olive oil inhibits the inflammatory response in LPS-activated murine macrophages." <u>Food Chem</u> **147**: 117-123.

Cardeno, A., M. Sanchez-Hidalgo, M. Aparicio-Soto, S. Sanchez-Fidalgo and C. Alarconde-la-Lastra (2014b). "Extra virgin olive oil polyphenolic extracts downregulate inflammatory responses in LPS-activated murine peritoneal macrophages suppressing NFkappaB and MAPK signalling pathways." <u>Food Funct</u> **5**(6): 1270-1277.

Carluccio, M. A., L. Siculella, M. A. Ancora, M. Massaro, E. Scoditti, C. Storelli, F. Visioli, A. Distante and R. De Caterina (2003). "Olive oil and red wine antioxidant polyphenols inhibit endothelial activation: antiatherogenic properties of Mediterranean diet phytochemicals." <u>Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol</u> **23**(4): 622-629.

Carpenter, K. L. (2002). "Good COP, bad COP: an unsolved murder. Are dietary cholesterol oxidation products guilty of atherogenicity?" <u>Br J Nutr</u> **88**(4): 335-338.

Caruso, D., B. Berra, F. Giavarini, N. Cortesi, E. Fedeli and G. Galli (1999). "Effect of virgin olive oil phenolic compounds on in vitro oxidation of human low density lipoproteins." <u>Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis</u> **9**(3): 102-107.

Caruso, D., F. Visioli, R. Patelli, C. Galli and G. Galli (2001). "Urinary excretion of olive oil phenols and their metabolites in humans." <u>Metabolism</u> **50**(12): 1426-1428.

Cerretani, L., A. Bendini, A. Del Caro, A. Piga, V. Vacca, M. Caboni and T. Toschi (2006). "Preliminary characterization of virgin olive oils obtained from different cultivars in Sardinia " <u>Eur Food Res Technol</u> **222**: 354-361. Chalubinski, M., K. Wojdan, P. Gorzelak, M. Borowiec and M. Broncel (2014). "The effect of oxidized cholesterol on barrier functions and IL-10 mRNA expression in human intestinal epithelium co-cultured with dendritic cells in the transwell system." <u>Food Chem</u> <u>Toxicol</u> **69**: 289-293.

Chalubinski, M., K. Zemanek, W. Skowron, K. Wojdan, P. Gorzelak and M. Broncel (2013). "The effect of 7-ketocholesterol and 25-hydroxycholesterol on the integrity of the human aortic endothelial and intestinal epithelial barriers." <u>Inflamm Res</u> **62**(12): 1015-1023.

Chang, Y. H., D. S. Abdalla and A. Sevanian (1997). "Characterization of cholesterol oxidation products formed by oxidative modification of low density lipoprotein." <u>Free</u> <u>Radic Biol Med</u> **23**(2): 202-214.

Chiesi, C., C. Fernandez-Blanco, L. Cossignani, G. Font and M. J. Ruiz (2015). "Alternariolinduced cytotoxicity in Caco-2 cells. Protective effect of the phenolic fraction from virgin olive oil." <u>Toxicon</u> **93**: 103-111.

Chiva-Blanch, G., S. Arranz, R. M. Lamuela-Raventos and R. Estruch (2013). "Effects of wine, alcohol and polyphenols on cardiovascular disease risk factors: evidences from human studies." <u>Alcohol Alcohol</u> **48**(3): 270-277.

Cicerale, S., X. A. Conlan, A. J. Sinclair and R. S. Keast (2009). "Chemistry and health of olive oil phenolics." <u>Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr</u> **49**(3): 218-236.

Cicerale, S., L. Lucas and R. Keast (2010). "Biological activities of phenolic compounds present in virgin olive oil." <u>Int J Mol Sci</u> **11**(2): 458-479.

Cicerale, S., L. J. Lucas and R. S. Keast (2012). "Antimicrobial, antioxidant and antiinflammatory phenolic activities in extra virgin olive oil." <u>Curr Opin Biotechnol</u> **23**(2): 129-135.

Cioffi G, Pesca MS, De Caprariis P, Braca A, Severino L and D. T. N. (2010). "Phenolic compounds in olive oil ans olive pomace from Cilento (Campania, Italy) and their antioxidant activity." <u>Food Chem Toxicol</u> **121**: 105-121.

Colles, S. M., J. M. Maxson, S. G. Carlson and G. M. Chisolm (2001). "Oxidized LDLinduced injury and apoptosis in atherosclerosis. Potential roles for oxysterols." <u>Trends</u> <u>Cardiovasc Med</u> **11**(3-4): 131-138.

Cooke, M. S., M. D. Evans, M. Dizdaroglu and J. Lunec (2003). "Oxidative DNA damage: mechanisms, mutation, and disease." <u>FASEB J</u> **17**(10): 1195-1214.

Corona, G., J. P. Spencer and M. A. Dessi (2009). "Extra virgin olive oil phenolics: absorption, metabolism, and biological activities in the GI tract." <u>Toxicol Ind Health</u> **25**(4-5): 285-293.

Corona, G., X. Tzounis, M. Assunta Dessi, M. Deiana, E. S. Debnam, F. Visioli and J. P. Spencer (2006). "The fate of olive oil polyphenols in the gastrointestinal tract: implications

of gastric and colonic microflora-dependent biotransformation." <u>Free Radic Res</u> **40**(6): 647-658.

Covas, M. I. (2007). "Olive oil and the cardiovascular system." <u>Pharmacol Res</u> 55(3): 175-186.

Covas, M. I., V. Konstantinidou and M. Fito (2009). "Olive oil and cardiovascular health." J <u>Cardiovasc Pharmacol</u> **54**(6): 477-482.

Covas, M. I., K. Nyyssonen, H. E. Poulsen, J. Kaikkonen, H. J. Zunft, H. Kiesewetter, A. Gaddi, R. de la Torre, J. Mursu, H. Baumler, S. Nascetti, J. T. Salonen, M. Fito, J. Virtanen, J. Marrugat and E. S. Group (2006). "The effect of polyphenols in olive oil on heart disease risk factors: a randomized trial." <u>Ann Intern Med</u> **145**(5): 333-341.

Cross, T. G., D. Scheel-Toellner, N. V. Henriquez, E. Deacon, M. Salmon and J. M. Lord (2000). "Serine/threonine protein kinases and apoptosis." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **256**(1): 34-41.

D'Angelo, S., C. Manna, V. Migliardi, O. Mazzoni, P. Morrica, G. Capasso, G. Pontoni, P. Galletti and V. Zappia (2001). "Pharmacokinetics and metabolism of hydroxytyrosol, a natural antioxidant from olive oil." <u>Drug Metab Dispos</u> **29**(11): 1492-1498.

Danielsson, H., I. Kalles and K. Wikvall (1984). "Regulation of hydroxylations in biosynthesis of bile acids. Isolation of a protein from rat liver cytosol stimulating reconstituted cholesterol 7 alpha-hydroxylase activity." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **259**(7): 4258-4262.

De La Cruz, J. P., M. A. Villalobos, J. A. Carmona, M. Martin-Romero, J. M. Smith-Agreda and F. S. de la Cuesta (2000). "Antithrombotic potential of olive oil administration in rabbits with elevated cholesterol." <u>Thromb Res</u> **100**(4): 305-315.

De la Puerta, R., M. E. Martinez Dominguez, V. Ruiz-Gutierrez, J. A. Flavill and J. R. Hoult (2001). "Effects of virgin olive oil phenolics on scavenging of reactive nitrogen species and upon nitrergic neurotransmission." <u>Life Sci 69(10)</u>: 1213-1222.

de la Puerta, R., V. Ruiz Gutierrez and J. R. Hoult (1999). "Inhibition of leukocyte 5lipoxygenase by phenolics from virgin olive oil." <u>Biochem Pharmacol</u> **57**(4): 445-449.

de la Torre, R. (2008). "Bioavailability of olive oil phenolic compounds in humans." Inflammopharmacology **16**(5): 245-247.

De Stefano, D., M. C. Maiuri, V. Simeon, G. Grassia, A. Soscia, M. P. Cinelli and R. Carnuccio (2007). "Lycopene, quercetin and tyrosol prevent macrophage activation induced by gliadin and IFN-gamma." <u>Eur J Pharmacol</u> **566**(1-3): 192-199.

Deiana, M., O. I. Aruoma, M. L. Bianchi, J. P. Spencer, H. Kaur, B. Halliwell, R. Aeschbach, S. Banni, M. A. Dessi and F. P. Corongiu (1999). "Inhibition of peroxynitrite dependent DNA base modification and tyrosine nitration by the extra virgin olive oil-derived antioxidant hydroxytyrosol." <u>Free Radic Biol Med</u> **26**(5-6): 762-769.

Deiana, M., G. Corona, A. Incani, D. Loru, A. Rosa, A. Atzeri, M. Paola Melis and M. Assunta Dessi (2010). "Protective effect of simple phenols from extravirgin olive oil against lipid peroxidation in intestinal Caco-2 cells." <u>Food Chem Toxicol</u> **48**(10): 3008-3016.

Deiana, M., A. Incani, A. Rosa, G. Corona, A. Atzeri, D. Loru, M. Paola Melis and M. Assunta Dessi (2008). "Protective effect of hydroxytyrosol and its metabolite homovanillic alcohol on H(2)O(2) induced lipid peroxidation in renal tubular epithelial cells." <u>Food</u> <u>Chem Toxicol</u> **46**(9): 2984-2990.

Del Chierico, F., P. Vernocchi, B. Dallapiccola and L. Putignani (2014). "Mediterranean diet and health: food effects on gut microbiota and disease control." <u>Int J Mol Sci</u> **15**(7): 11678-11699.

Dell'Agli, M., R. Fagnani, N. Mitro, S. Scurati, M. Masciadri, L. Mussoni, G. V. Galli, E. Bosisio, M. Crestani, E. De Fabiani, E. Tremoli and D. Caruso (2006). "Minor components of olive oil modulate proatherogenic adhesion molecules involved in endothelial activation." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **54**(9): 3259-3264.

Di Benedetto, R., R. Vari, B. Scazzocchio, C. Filesi, C. Santangelo, C. Giovannini, P. Matarrese, M. D'Archivio and R. Masella (2007). "Tyrosol, the major extra virgin olive oil compound, restored intracellular antioxidant defences in spite of its weak antioxidative effectiveness." <u>Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis</u> **17**(7): 535-545.

Dierkes, G., S. Krieger, R. Duck, A. Bongartz, O. J. Schmitz and H. Hayen (2012). "Highperformance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry profiling of phenolic compounds for evaluation of olive oil bitterness and pungency." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **60**(31): 7597-7606.

Diestel, A., O. Aktas, D. Hackel, I. Hake, S. Meier, C. S. Raine, R. Nitsch, F. Zipp and O. Ullrich (2003). "Activation of microglial poly(ADP-ribose)-polymerase-1 by cholesterol breakdown products during neuroinflammation: a link between demyelination and neuronal damage." J Exp Med **198**(11): 1729-1740.

Dinicola, S., M. A. Mariggio, C. Morabito, S. Guarnieri, A. Cucina, A. Pasqualato, F. D'Anselmi, S. Proietti, P. Coluccia and M. Bizzarri (2013). "Grape seed extract triggers apoptosis in Caco-2 human colon cancer cells through reactive oxygen species and calcium increase: extracellular signal-regulated kinase involvement." <u>Br J Nutr</u> **110**(5): 797-809.

Dulak, J., A. Jozkowicz, M. Frick, H. F. Alber, W. Dichtl, S. P. Schwarzacher, O. Pachinger and F. Weidinger (2001). "Vascular endothelial growth factor: angiogenesis, atherogenesis or both?" <u>J Am Coll Cardiol</u> **38**(7): 2137-2138.

Dushkin, M. I., O. M. Khoshchenko, E. N. Kudinova and Y. Schwartz (2006). "Effects of hydroxysterols and atorvastatin on lipopolysaccharide-induced secretion of tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-10 by mouse macrophages." <u>Bull Exp Biol Med</u> **141**(2): 233-235.

Dzeletovic, S., O. Breuer, E. Lund and U. Diczfalusy (1995). "Determination of cholesterol oxidation products in human plasma by isotope dilution-mass spectrometry." <u>Anal Biochem</u> **225**(1): 73-80.

Edgecombe, S. C., G. L. Stretch and P. J. Hayball (2000). "Oleuropein, an antioxidant polyphenol from olive oil, is poorly absorbed from isolated perfused rat intestine." <u>J Nutr</u> **130**(12): 2996-3002.

EFSAJournal (2011). "Scientific Opinion." EFSA Journal 9(4): 2033-2057.

Erol-Dayi, O., N. Arda and G. Erdem (2012). "Protective effects of olive oil phenolics and gallic acid on hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptosis." <u>Eur J Nutr</u> **51**(8): 955-960.

Erol, O., N. Arda and G. Erdem (2012). "Phenols of virgin olive oil protects nuclear DNA against oxidative damage in HeLa cells." <u>Food Chem Toxicol</u> **50**(10): 3475-3479.

Esposito, K., R. Marfella, M. Ciotola, C. Di Palo, F. Giugliano, G. Giugliano, M. D'Armiento, F. D'Andrea and D. Giugliano (2004). "Effect of a mediterranean-style diet on endothelial dysfunction and markers of vascular inflammation in the metabolic syndrome: a randomized trial." JAMA **292**(12): 1440-1446.

Estruch, R. and J. Salas-Salvado (2013). ""Towards an even healthier Mediterranean diet"." <u>Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis</u> **23**(12): 1163-1166.

Evan, G. I. and K. H. Vousden (2001). "Proliferation, cell cycle and apoptosis in cancer." <u>Nature</u> **411**(6835): 342-348.

Fabiani, R., A. De Bartolomeo, P. Rosignoli, M. Servili, R. Selvaggini, G. F. Montedoro, C. Di Saverio and G. Morozzi (2006). "Virgin olive oil phenols inhibit proliferation of human promyelocytic leukemia cells (HL60) by inducing apoptosis and differentiation." <u>J Nutr</u> **136**(3): 614-619.

Fabiani, R., P. Rosignoli, A. De Bartolomeo, R. Fuccelli, M. Servili, G. F. Montedoro and G. Morozzi (2008). "Oxidative DNA damage is prevented by extracts of olive oil, hydroxytyrosol, and other olive phenolic compounds in human blood mononuclear cells and HL60 cells." <u>J Nutr</u> **138**(8): 1411-1416.

Feng, Y., G. F. Schreiner, S. Chakravarty, D. Y. Liu and A. H. Joly (2001). "Inhibition of the mitogen activated protein kinase, p38 alpha, prevents proinflammatory cytokine induction by human adherent mononuclear leukocytes in response to lipid loading." <u>Atherosclerosis</u> **158**(2): 331-338.

Fito, M., M. Cladellas, R. de la Torre, J. Marti, M. Alcantara, M. Pujadas-Bastardes, J. Marrugat, J. Bruguera, M. C. Lopez-Sabater, J. Vila, M. I. Covas and S. I. members of the (2005). "Antioxidant effect of virgin olive oil in patients with stable coronary heart disease: a randomized, crossover, controlled, clinical trial." <u>Atherosclerosis</u> **181**(1): 149-158.

Fito, M., M. Cladellas, R. de la Torre, J. Marti, D. Munoz, H. Schroder, M. Alcantara, M. Pujadas-Bastardes, J. Marrugat, M. C. Lopez-Sabater, J. Bruguera, M. I. Covas and S.

Investigators (2008). "Anti-inflammatory effect of virgin olive oil in stable coronary disease patients: a randomized, crossover, controlled trial." <u>Eur J Clin Nutr</u> **62**(4): 570-574.

Fito, M., R. de la Torre and M. I. Covas (2007). "Olive oil and oxidative stress." <u>Mol Nutr</u> <u>Food Res</u> **51**(10): 1215-1224.

Fito, M., R. de la Torre, M. Farre-Albaladejo, O. Khymenetz, J. Marrugat and M. I. Covas (2007). "Bioavailability and antioxidant effects of olive oil phenolic compounds in humans: a review." <u>Ann Ist Super Sanita</u> **43**(4): 375-381.

Fortes, C., F. Forastiere, S. Farchi, S. Mallone, T. Trequattrinni, F. Anatra, G. Schmid and C. A. Perucci (2003). "The protective effect of the Mediterranean diet on lung cancer." <u>Nutr</u> <u>Cancer</u> **46**(1): 30-37.

Franceschi, S., A. Favero, E. Conti, R. Talamini, R. Volpe, E. Negri, L. Barzan and C. La Vecchia (1999). "Food groups, oils and butter, and cancer of the oral cavity and pharynx." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **80**(3-4): 614-620.

Fredrickson, W. R. (2000). Method and composition for antiviral therapy. <u>F&S Group, Inc.</u>

Fuda, H., N. B. Javitt, K. Mitamura, S. Ikegawa and C. A. Strott (2007). "Oxysterols are substrates for cholesterol sulfotransferase." <u>J Lipid Res</u> **48**(6): 1343-1352.

Furneri, P. M., A. Piperno, A. Sajia and G. Bisignano (2004). "Antimycoplasmal activity of hydroxytyrosol." <u>Antimicrob Agents Chemother</u> **48**(12): 4892-4894.

Garcia-Segovia, P., A. Sanchez-Villegas, J. Doreste, F. Santana and L. Serra-Majem (2006). "Olive oil consumption and risk of breast cancer in the Canary Islands: a populationbased case-control study." <u>Public Health Nutr</u> **9**(1A): 163-167.

Garcia-Villalba, R., A. Carrasco-Pancorbo, E. Nevedomskaya, O. A. Mayboroda, A. M. Deelder, A. Segura-Carretero and A. Fernandez-Gutierrez (2010). "Exploratory analysis of human urine by LC-ESI-TOF MS after high intake of olive oil: understanding the metabolism of polyphenols." <u>Anal Bioanal Chem</u> **398**(1): 463-475.

Garcia-Villalba, R., A. Carrasco-Pancorbo, C. Oliveras-Ferraros, A. Vazquez-Martin, J. A. Menendez, A. Segura-Carretero and A. Fernandez-Gutierrez (2010). "Characterization and quantification of phenolic compounds of extra-virgin olive oils with anticancer properties by a rapid and resolutive LC-ESI-TOF MS method." J Pharm Biomed Anal 51(2): 416-429.

Garritano, S., B. Pinto, I. Giachi, L. Pistelli and D. Reali (2005). "Assessment of estrogenic activity of flavonoids from Mediterranean plants using an in vitro short-term test." <u>Phytomedicine</u> **12**(1-2): 143-147.

Gilani, A. H., A. U. Khan, A. J. Shah, J. Connor and Q. Jabeen (2005). "Blood pressure lowering effect of olive is mediated through calcium channel blockade." <u>Int J Food Sci</u> <u>Nutr</u> **56**(8): 613-620.

Gill, S., R. Chow and A. J. Brown (2008). "Sterol regulators of cholesterol homeostasis and beyond: the oxysterol hypothesis revisited and revised." <u>Prog Lipid Res</u> **47**(6): 391-404.

Gimeno, E., M. Fito, R. M. Lamuela-Raventos, A. I. Castellote, M. Covas, M. Farre, M. C. de La Torre-Boronat and M. C. Lopez-Sabater (2002). "Effect of ingestion of virgin olive oil on human low-density lipoprotein composition." <u>Eur J Clin Nutr</u> **56**(2): 114-120.

Giovannini, C., E. Straface, D. Modesti, E. Coni, A. Cantafora, M. De Vincenzi, W. Malorni and R. Masella (1999). "Tyrosol, the major olive oil biophenol, protects against oxidized-LDL-induced injury in Caco-2 cells." <u>J Nutr</u> **129**(7): 1269-1277.

Giovannini C., Filesi C., D'Archivio M., Scazzocchio B., Santangelo C. and M. R. (2006). "[Polyphenols and endogenous antioxidant defences: effects on glutathione and glutathione related enzymes]." <u>Ann Ist Super Sanità</u> **42**(3): 336-347.

Girao, H., M. C. Mota, J. Ramalho and P. Pereira (1998). "Cholesterol oxides accumulate in human cataracts." <u>Exp Eye Res</u> **66**(5): 645-652.

Gomez-Alonso, S., M. D. Salvador and G. Fregapane (2002). "Phenolic compounds profile of cornicabra virgin olive oil." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **50**(23): 6812-6817.

Gong, D., C. Geng, L. Jiang, J. Cao, H. Yoshimura and L. Zhong (2009). "Effects of hydroxytyrosol-20 on carrageenan-induced acute inflammation and hyperalgesia in rats." <u>Phytother Res</u> **23**(5): 646-650.

Gonzalez-Correa, J. A., M. D. Navas, J. Munoz-Marin, M. Trujillo, J. Fernandez-Bolanos and J. P. de la Cruz (2008). "Effects of hydroxytyrosol and hydroxytyrosol acetate administration to rats on platelet function compared to acetylsalicylic acid." <u>J Agric Food</u> <u>Chem</u> **56**(17): 7872-7876.

Gonzalez-Santiago, M., E. Martin-Bautista, J. J. Carrero, J. Fonolla, L. Baro, M. V. Bartolome, P. Gil-Loyzaga and E. Lopez-Huertas (2006). "One-month administration of hydroxytyrosol, a phenolic antioxidant present in olive oil, to hyperlipemic rabbits improves blood lipid profile, antioxidant status and reduces atherosclerosis development." <u>Atherosclerosis</u> **188**(1): 35-42.

Gorinstein, S., H. Leontowicz, A. Lojek, M. Leontowicz, M. Ciz, R. Krzeminski, M. Gralak, J. Czerwinski, Z. Jastrzebski, S. Trakhtenberg, N. Grigelmo-Miguel, R. Soliva-Fortuny and O. Martin-Belloso (2002). "Olive oils improve lipid metabolism and increase antioxidant potential in rats fed diets containing cholesterol." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **50**(21): 6102-6108.

Goya, L., R. Mateos and L. Bravo (2007). "Effect of the olive oil phenol hydroxytyrosol on human hepatoma HepG2 cells. Protection against oxidative stress induced by tertbutylhydroperoxide." <u>Eur J Nutr</u> **46**(2): 70-78.

Granados-Principal, S., J. L. Quiles, C. L. Ramirez-Tortosa, P. Sanchez-Rovira and M. C. Ramirez-Tortosa (2010). "Hydroxytyrosol: from laboratory investigations to future clinical trials." <u>Nutr Rev</u> **68**(4): 191-206.

Grasso, S., L. Siracusa, C. Spatafora, M. Renis and C. Tringali (2007). "Hydroxytyrosol lipophilic analogues: enzymatic synthesis, radical scavenging activity and DNA oxidative damage protection." <u>Bioorg Chem</u> **35**(2): 137-152.

Grosso, G., F. Galvano, S. Marventano, M. Malaguarnera, C. Bucolo, F. Drago and F. Caraci (2014). "Omega-3 fatty acids and depression: scientific evidence and biological mechanisms." <u>Oxid Med Cell Longev</u> **2014**: 313570.

Grosso, G., A. Pajak, S. Marventano, S. Castellano, F. Galvano, C. Bucolo, F. Drago and F. Caraci (2014). "Role of omega-3 fatty acids in the treatment of depressive disorders: a comprehensive meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials." <u>PLoS One</u> **9**(5): e96905.

Guardiola, F., R. Codony, P. B. Addis, M. Rafecas and J. Boatella (1996). "Biological effects of oxysterols: current status." <u>Food Chem Toxicol</u> **34**(2): 193-211.

Guardiola, F., P. C. Dutta and G. P. Savage (2002). Cholesterol and phytosterol oxydation products: analysis, occurrence, and biological effects. . <u>Champaign: AOCS Press.</u>

Haas, P., M. J. Machado, A. A. Anton, A. S. Silva and A. de Francisco (2009). "Effectiveness of whole grain consumption in the prevention of colorectal cancer: meta-analysis of cohort studies." <u>Int J Food Sci Nutr</u> **60 Suppl 6**: 1-13.

Halliwell, B., K. Zhao and M. Whiteman (2000). "The gastrointestinal tract: a major site of antioxidant action?" <u>Free Radic Res</u> **33**(6): 819-830.

Han, J. H., Y. J. Kim, E. S. Han and C. S. Lee (2007). "Prevention of 7-ketocholesterolinduced mitochondrial damage and cell death by calmodulin inhibition." <u>Brain Res</u> **1137**(1): 11-19.

Harper, C. R., M. C. Edwards and T. A. Jacobson (2006). "Flaxseed oil supplementation does not affect plasma lipoprotein concentration or particle size in human subjects." J <u>Nutr</u> **136**(11): 2844-2848.

Higashi, Y., H. Fuda, H. Yanai, Y. Lee, T. Fukushige, T. Kanzaki and C. A. Strott (2004). "Expression of cholesterol sulfotransferase (SULT2B1b) in human skin and primary cultures of human epidermal keratinocytes." <u>J Invest Dermatol</u> **122**(5): 1207-1213.

Hillestrom, P. R., M. I. Covas and H. E. Poulsen (2006). "Effect of dietary virgin olive oil on urinary excretion of etheno-DNA adducts." <u>Free Radic Biol Med</u> **41**(7): 1133-1138.

Hodge, A. M., D. R. English, M. R. McCredie, G. Severi, P. Boyle, J. L. Hopper and G. G. Giles (2004). "Foods, nutrients and prostate cancer." <u>Cancer Causes Control</u> **15**(1): 11-20.

Hovenkamp, E., I. Demonty, J. Plat, D. Lutjohann, R. P. Mensink and E. A. Trautwein (2008). "Biological effects of oxidized phytosterols: a review of the current knowledge." <u>Prog Lipid Res</u> **47**(1): 37-49.

Hu, T., X. W. He, J. G. Jiang and X. L. Xu (2014). "Hydroxytyrosol and its potential therapeutic effects." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **62**(7): 1449-1455.

Impellizzeri, D., E. Esposito, E. Mazzon, I. Paterniti, R. Di Paola, P. Bramanti, V. M. Morittu, A. Procopio, D. Britti and S. Cuzzocrea (2011). "The effects of oleuropein aglycone, an olive oil compound, in a mouse model of carrageenan-induced pleurisy." <u>Clin Nutr</u> **30**(4): 533-540.

Incani, A., M. Deiana, G. Corona, K. Vafeiadou, D. Vauzour, M. A. Dessi and J. P. Spencer (2010). "Involvement of ERK, Akt and JNK signalling in H2O2-induced cell injury and protection by hydroxytyrosol and its metabolite homovanillic alcohol." <u>Mol Nutr Food Res</u> 54(6): 788-796.

Iwasaki, A. and B. L. Kelsall (2001). "Unique functions of CD11b+, CD8 alpha+, and double-negative Peyer's patch dendritic cells." <u>J Immunol</u> **166**(8): 4884-4890.

Jacomelli, M., V. Pitozzi, M. Zaid, M. Larrosa, G. Tonini, A. Martini, S. Urbani, A. Taticchi, M. Servili, P. Dolara and L. Giovannelli (2010). "Dietary extra-virgin olive oil rich in phenolic antioxidants and the aging process: long-term effects in the rat." <u>J Nutr Biochem</u> **21**(4): 290-296.

Jakobsen, M. U., E. J. O'Reilly, B. L. Heitmann, M. A. Pereira, K. Balter, G. E. Fraser, U. Goldbourt, G. Hallmans, P. Knekt, S. Liu, P. Pietinen, D. Spiegelman, J. Stevens, J. Virtamo, W. C. Willett and A. Ascherio (2009). "Major types of dietary fat and risk of coronary heart disease: a pooled analysis of 11 cohort studies." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **89**(5): 1425-1432.

Jemai, H., M. Bouaziz, I. Fki, A. El Feki and S. Sayadi (2008a). "Hypolipidimic and antioxidant activities of oleuropein and its hydrolysis derivative-rich extracts from Chemlali olive leaves." <u>Chem Biol Interact</u> **176**(2-3): 88-98.

Jemai, H., I. Fki, M. Bouaziz, Z. Bouallagui, A. El Feki, H. Isoda and S. Sayadi (2008b). "Lipid-lowering and antioxidant effects of hydroxytyrosol and its triacetylated derivative recovered from olive tree leaves in cholesterol-fed rats." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **56**(8): 2630-2636.

Jeon, S. E., S. Choi-Kwon, K. A. Park, H. J. Lee, M. S. Park, J. H. Lee, S. B. Kwon and K. C. Park (2003). "Dietary supplementation of (+)-catechin protects against UVB-induced skin damage by modulating antioxidant enzyme activities." <u>Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed</u> **19**(5): 235-241.

Jessup, W. and A. J. Brown (2005). "Novel routes for metabolism of 7-ketocholesterol." <u>Rejuvenation Res</u> **8**(1): 9-12.

Joffre, C., L. Leclere, B. Buteau, L. Martine, S. Cabaret, L. Malvitte, N. Acar, G. Lizard, A. Bron, C. Creuzot-Garcher and L. Bretillon (2007). "Oxysterols induced inflammation and oxidation in primary porcine retinal pigment epithelial cells." <u>Curr Eye Res</u> **32**(3): 271-280.

Jusakul, A., P. Yongvanit, W. Loilome, N. Namwat and R. Kuver (2011). "Mechanisms of oxysterol-induced carcinogenesis." <u>Lipids Health Dis</u> **10**: 44.

Kader, H. A., V. T. Tchernev, E. Satyaraj, S. Lejnine, G. Kotler, S. F. Kingsmore and D. D. Patel (2005). "Protein microarray analysis of disease activity in pediatric inflammatory bowel disease demonstrates elevated serum PLGF, IL-7, TGF-beta1, and IL-12p40 levels in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients in remission versus active disease." <u>Am J</u> <u>Gastroenterol</u> **100**(2): 414-423.

Kaminska, B. (2005). "MAPK signalling pathways as molecular targets for antiinflammatory therapy--from molecular mechanisms to therapeutic benefits." <u>Biochim</u> <u>Biophys Acta</u> **1754**(1-2): 253-262.

Kan, C. C., J. Yan and R. Bittman (1992). "Rates of spontaneous exchange of synthetic radiolabeled sterols between lipid vesicles." <u>Biochemistry</u> **31**(6): 1866-1874.

Kandutsch, A. A. and H. W. Chen (1974). "Inhibition of sterol synthesis in cultured mouse cells by cholesterol derivatives oxygenated in the side chain." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **249**(19): 6057-6061.

Kanner, J. (2007). "Dietary advanced lipid oxidation endproducts are risk factors to human health." <u>Mol Nutr Food Res</u> **51**(9): 1094-1101.

Kawaguchi, K., T. Matsumoto and Y. Kumazawa (2011). "Effects of antioxidant polyphenols on TNF-alpha-related diseases." <u>Curr Top Med Chem</u> **11**(14): 1767-1779.

Kenny, O., Y. O'Callaghan, N. M. O'Connell, F. O. McCarthy, A. R. Maguire and N. M. O'Brien (2012). "Oxidized derivatives of dihydrobrassicasterol: cytotoxic and apoptotic potential in U937 and HepG2 cells." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **60**(23): 5952-5961.

Keshavarzian, A., A. Banan, A. Farhadi, S. Komanduri, E. Mutlu, Y. Zhang and J. Z. Fields (2003). "Increases in free radicals and cytoskeletal protein oxidation and nitration in the colon of patients with inflammatory bowel disease." <u>Gut</u> **52**(5): 720-728.

Keys, A. (1980). "Seven countries: a multivariate analysis of death and coronary heart disease." <u>Harvard University Press</u>.

Khan, N. and S. Sultana (2004). "Abrogation of potassium bromate-induced renal oxidative stress and subsequent cell proliferation response by soy isoflavones in Wistar rats." <u>Toxicology</u> **201**(1-3): 173-184.

Khymenets, O., M. Fito, M. I. Covas, M. Farre, M. A. Pujadas, D. Munoz, V. Konstantinidou and R. de la Torre (2009). "Mononuclear cell transcriptome response after sustained virgin olive oil consumption in humans: an exploratory nutrigenomics study." <u>OMICS</u> **13**(1): 7-19.

Konstantinidou, V., M. I. Covas, D. Munoz-Aguayo, O. Khymenets, R. de la Torre, G. Saez, C. Tormos Mdel, E. Toledo, A. Marti, V. Ruiz-Gutierrez, M. V. Ruiz Mendez and M. Fito (2010). "In vivo nutrigenomic effects of virgin olive oil polyphenols within the frame of the Mediterranean diet: a randomized controlled trial." <u>FASEB J</u> 24(7): 2546-2557.

Lairon, D. (2007). "Intervention studies on Mediterranean diet and cardiovascular risk." <u>Mol Nutr Food Res</u> **51**(10): 1209-1214.

Landis, M. S., H. V. Patel and J. P. Capone (2002). "Oxysterol activators of liver X receptor and 9-cis-retinoic acid promote sequential steps in the synthesis and secretion of tumor necrosis factor-alpha from human monocytes." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **277**(7): 4713-4721.

Larsson, D. A., S. Baird, J. D. Nyhalah, X. M. Yuan and W. Li (2006). "Oxysterol mixtures, in atheroma-relevant proportions, display synergistic and proapoptotic effects." <u>Free</u> <u>Radic Biol Med</u> **41**(6): 902-910.

Larsson, H., Y. Bottiger, L. Iuliano and U. Diczfalusy (2007). "In vivo interconversion of 7beta-hydroxycholesterol and 7-ketocholesterol, potential surrogate markers for oxidative stress." <u>Free Radic Biol Med</u> **43**(5): 695-701.

Leenen, R., A. J. Roodenburg, M. N. Vissers, J. A. Schuurbiers, K. P. van Putte, S. A. Wiseman and F. H. van de Put (2002). "Supplementation of plasma with olive oil phenols and extracts: influence on LDL oxidation." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **50**(5): 1290-1297.

Lemaire-Ewing, S., C. Prunet, T. Montange, A. Vejux, A. Berthier, G. Bessede, L. Corcos, P. Gambert, D. Neel and G. Lizard (2005). "Comparison of the cytotoxic, pro-oxidant and pro-inflammatory characteristics of different oxysterols." <u>Cell Biol Toxicol</u> **21**(2): 97-114.

Lemaire, S., G. Lizard, S. Monier, C. Miguet, S. Gueldry, F. Volot, P. Gambert and D. Neel (1998). "Different patterns of IL-1beta secretion, adhesion molecule expression and apoptosis induction in human endothelial cells treated with 7alpha-, 7beta-hydroxycholesterol, or 7-ketocholesterol." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **440**(3): 434-439.

Leonarduzzi, G., P. Gamba, S. Gargiulo, F. Biasi and G. Poli (2012). "Inflammation-related gene expression by lipid oxidation-derived products in the progression of atherosclerosis." <u>Free Radic Biol Med</u> **52**(1): 19-34.

Leonarduzzi, G., P. Gamba, S. Gargiulo, B. Sottero, A. Kadl, F. Biasi, E. Chiarpotto, N. Leitinger, G. Vendemiale, G. Serviddio and G. Poli (2008). "Oxidation as a crucial reaction for cholesterol to induce tissue degeneration: CD36 overexpression in human promonocytic cells treated with a biologically relevant oxysterol mixture." <u>Aging Cell</u> 7(3): 375-382.

Leonarduzzi, G., P. Gamba, B. Sottero, A. Kadl, F. Robbesyn, R. A. Calogero, F. Biasi, E. Chiarpotto, N. Leitinger, A. Sevanian and G. Poli (2005). "Oxysterol-induced up-regulation of MCP-1 expression and synthesis in macrophage cells." <u>Free Radic Biol Med</u> **39**(9): 1152-1161.

Leonarduzzi, G., A. Scavazza, F. Biasi, E. Chiarpotto, S. Camandola, S. Vogel, R. Dargel and G. Poli (1997). "The lipid peroxidation end product 4-hydroxy-2,3-nonenal upregulates transforming growth factor beta1 expression in the macrophage lineage: a link between oxidative injury and fibrosclerosis." <u>FASEB J</u> **11**(11): 851-857.

Leonarduzzi, G., A. Sevanian, B. Sottero, M. C. Arkan, F. Biasi, E. Chiarpotto, H. Basaga and G. Poli (2001). "Up-regulation of the fibrogenic cytokine TGF-beta1 by oxysterols: a mechanistic link between cholesterol and atherosclerosis." <u>FASEB J</u> **15**(9): 1619-1621.

Leonarduzzi, G., B. Sottero and G. Poli (2002). "Oxidized products of cholesterol: dietary and metabolic origin, and proatherosclerotic effects (review)." <u>J Nutr Biochem</u> **13**(12): 700-710.

Leoni, V., D. Lutjohann and T. Masterman (2005). "Levels of 7-oxocholesterol in cerebrospinal fluid are more than one thousand times lower than reported in multiple sclerosis." <u>J Lipid Res</u> **46**(2): 191-195.

Liao, P. L., Y. W. Cheng, C. H. Li, Y. L. Lo and J. J. Kang (2009). "Cholesterol-3-beta, 5alpha, 6-beta-triol induced PI(3)K-Akt-eNOS-dependent cyclooxygenase-2 expression in endothelial cells." <u>Toxicol Lett</u> **190**(2): 172-178.

Linseisen, J. and G. Wolfram (1998). "Absorption of cholesterol oxidation products from ordinary foodstuff in humans." <u>Ann Nutr Metab</u> **42**(4): 221-230.

Liu, H., T. Wang and K. Huang (2009). "Cholestane-3beta,5alpha,6beta-triol-induced reactive oxygen species production promotes mitochondrial dysfunction in isolated mice liver mitochondria." <u>Chem Biol Interact</u> **179**(2-3): 81-87.

Liu, H., L. Yuan, S. Xu, K. Wang and T. Zhang (2005). "Cholestane-3beta,5alpha,6beta-triol inhibits osteoblastic differentiation and promotes apoptosis of rat bone marrow stromal cells." <u>J Cell Biochem</u> **96**(1): 198-208.

Liu, S. X., Y. Chen, M. Zhou and J. Wan (1998). "Oxidized cholesterol in oxidized low density lipoprotein may be responsible for the inhibition of LPS-induced nitric oxide production in macrophages." <u>Atherosclerosis</u> **136**(1): 43-49.

Liu, Y., L. M. Hulten and O. Wiklund (1997). "Macrophages isolated from human atherosclerotic plaques produce IL-8, and oxysterols may have a regulatory function for IL-8 production." <u>Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol</u> **17**(2): 317-323.

Lizard, G., S. Gueldry, O. Sordet, S. Monier, A. Athias, C. Miguet, G. Bessede, S. Lemaire, E. Solary and P. Gambert (1998). "Glutathione is implied in the control of 7-ketocholesterol-induced apoptosis, which is associated with radical oxygen species production." <u>FASEB J</u> **12**(15): 1651-1663.

Lizard, G., S. Lemaire, S. Monier, S. Gueldry, D. Neel and P. Gambert (1997). "Induction of apoptosis and of interleukin-1beta secretion by 7beta-hydroxycholesterol and 7-ketocholesterol: partial inhibition by Bcl-2 overexpression." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **419**(2-3): 276-280.

Lopez-Miranda, J., J. Delgado-Lista, P. Perez-Martinez, Y. Jimenez-Gomez, F. Fuentes, J. Ruano and C. Marin (2007). "Olive oil and the haemostatic system." <u>Mol Nutr Food Res</u> **51**(10): 1249-1259.

Lopez-Miranda, J., F. Perez-Jimenez, E. Ros, R. De Caterina, L. Badimon, M. I. Covas, E. Escrich, J. M. Ordovas, F. Soriguer, R. Abia, C. A. de la Lastra, M. Battino, D. Corella, J. Chamorro-Quiros, J. Delgado-Lista, D. Giugliano, K. Esposito, R. Estruch, J. M. Fernandez-Real, J. J. Gaforio, C. La Vecchia, D. Lairon, F. Lopez-Segura, P. Mata, J. A. Menendez, F. J. Muriana, J. Osada, D. B. Panagiotakos, J. A. Paniagua, P. Perez-Martinez, J. Perona, M. A. Peinado, M. Pineda-Priego, H. E. Poulsen, J. L. Quiles, M. C. Ramirez-Tortosa, J. Ruano, L. Serra-Majem, R. Sola, M. Solanas, V. Solfrizzi, R. de la Torre-Fornell, A. Trichopoulou, M. Uceda, J. M. Villalba-Montoro, J. R. Villar-Ortiz, F. Visioli and N. Yiannakouris (2010). "Olive oil and health: summary of the II international conference on olive oil and health consensus report, Jaen and Cordoba (Spain) 2008." <u>Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis</u> **20**(4): 284-294.

Lordan, S., J. J. Mackrill and N. M. O'Brien (2009). "Oxysterols and mechanisms of apoptotic signaling: implications in the pathology of degenerative diseases." <u>J Nutr Biochem</u> **20**(5): 321-336.

Lordan, S., C. O'Neill and N. M. O'Brien (2008). "Effects of apigenin, lycopene and astaxanthin on 7 beta-hydroxycholesterol-induced apoptosis and Akt phosphorylation in U937 cells." <u>Br J Nutr</u> **100**(2): 287-296.

Loru, D., A. Incani, M. Deiana, G. Corona, A. Atzeri, M. P. Melis, A. Rosa and M. A. Dessi (2009). "Protective effect of hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol against oxidative stress in kidney cells." <u>Toxicol Ind Health</u> **25**(4-5): 301-310.

Lutjohann, D., O. Breuer, G. Ahlborg, I. Nennesmo, A. Siden, U. Diczfalusy and I. Bjorkhem (1996). "Cholesterol homeostasis in human brain: evidence for an agedependent flux of 24S-hydroxycholesterol from the brain into the circulation." <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci U S A</u> **93**(18): 9799-9804.

Lyons, M. A. and A. J. Brown (2001). "Metabolism of an oxysterol, 7-ketocholesterol, by sterol 27-hydroxylase in HepG2 cells." <u>Lipids</u> **36**(7): 701-711.

Lyons, N. M., J. A. Woods and N. M. O'Brien (2001). "alpha-Tocopherol, but not gammatocopherol inhibits 7 beta-hydroxycholesterol-induced apoptosis in human U937 cells." <u>Free Radic Res</u> **35**(3): 329-339.

Ma, S. C., Z. D. He, X. L. Deng, P. P. But, V. E. Ooi, H. X. Xu, S. H. Lee and S. F. Lee (2001). "In vitro evaluation of secoiridoid glucosides from the fruits of Ligustrum lucidum as antiviral agents." <u>Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo)</u> **49**(11): 1471-1473.

Machowetz, A., H. E. Poulsen, S. Gruendel, A. Weimann, M. Fito, J. Marrugat, R. de la Torre, J. T. Salonen, K. Nyyssonen, J. Mursu, S. Nascetti, A. Gaddi, H. Kiesewetter, H. Baumler, H. Selmi, J. Kaikkonen, H. J. Zunft, M. I. Covas and C. Koebnick (2007). "Effect of olive oils on biomarkers of oxidative DNA stress in Northern and Southern Europeans." <u>Faseb J</u> **21**(1): 45-52.

Maddika, S., S. R. Ande, S. Panigrahi, T. Paranjothy, K. Weglarczyk, A. Zuse, M. Eshraghi, K. D. Manda, E. Wiechec and M. Los (2007). "Cell survival, cell death and cell cycle

pathways are interconnected: implications for cancer therapy." <u>Drug Resist Updat</u> **10**(1-2): 13-29.

Maiuri, M. C., D. De Stefano, P. Di Meglio, C. Irace, M. Savarese, R. Sacchi, M. P. Cinelli and R. Carnuccio (2005). "Hydroxytyrosol, a phenolic compound from virgin olive oil, prevents macrophage activation." <u>Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol</u> **371**(6): 457-465.

Malvitte, L., T. Montange, C. Joffre, A. Vejux, C. Maiza, A. Bron, C. Creuzot-Garcher and G. Lizard (2006). "[Analogies between atherosclerosis and age-related maculopathy: expected roles of oxysterols]." <u>J Fr Ophtalmol</u> **29**(5): 570-578.

Manach, C., A. Scalbert, C. Morand, C. Remesy and L. Jimenez (2004). "Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **79**(5): 727-747.

Mangas-Cruz, M. A., A. Fernandez-Moyano, T. Albi, A. Guinda, F. Relimpio, A. Lanzon, J. L. Pereira, J. L. Serrera, C. Montilla, R. Astorga and P. P. Garcia-Luna (2001). "Effects of minor constituents (non-glyceride compounds) of virgin olive oil on plasma lipid concentrations in male Wistar rats." <u>Clin Nutr</u> **20**(3): 211-215.

Manna, C., S. D'Angelo, V. Migliardi, E. Loffredi, O. Mazzoni, P. Morrica, P. Galletti and V. Zappia (2002). "Protective effect of the phenolic fraction from virgin olive oils against oxidative stress in human cells." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **50**(22): 6521-6526.

Manna, C., P. Galletti, V. Cucciolla, O. Moltedo, A. Leone and V. Zappia (1997). "The protective effect of the olive oil polyphenol (3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)-ethanol counteracts reactive oxygen metabolite-induced cytotoxicity in Caco-2 cells." <u>J Nutr</u> **127**(2): 286-292.

Manna, C., P. Galletti, V. Cucciolla, G. Montedoro and V. Zappia (1999). "Olive oil hydroxytyrosol protects human erythrocytes against oxidative damages." <u>J Nutr Biochem</u> **10**(3): 159-165.

Manna, C., P. Galletti, G. Maisto, V. Cucciolla, S. D'Angelo and V. Zappia (2000). "Transport mechanism and metabolism of olive oil hydroxytyrosol in Caco-2 cells." <u>FEBS</u> <u>Lett</u> **470**(3): 341-344.

Mannino, S., M. S. Cosio and M. Bertuccioli (1993). "High performance liquid chromatography of phenolic compounds in virgin olive oil using amperometryc detector." <u>Ital. J. Food Sci.</u> **4**: 363-370.

Marek, A., J. Brodzicki, A. Liberek and M. Korzon (2002). "TGF-beta (transforming growth factor-beta) in chronic inflammatory conditions - a new diagnostic and prognostic marker?" <u>Med Sci Monit</u> 8(7): RA145-151.

Marrugat, J., M. I. Covas, M. Fito, H. Schroder, E. Miro-Casas, E. Gimeno, M. C. Lopez-Sabater, R. de la Torre, M. Farre and S. Investigators (2004). "Effects of differing phenolic content in dietary olive oils on lipids and LDL oxidation--a randomized controlled trial." <u>Eur J Nutr</u> **43**(3): 140-147.

Martin-Moreno, J. M., W. C. Willett, L. Gorgojo, J. R. Banegas, F. Rodriguez-Artalejo, J. C. Fernandez-Rodriguez, P. Maisonneuve and P. Boyle (1994). "Dietary fat, olive oil intake and breast cancer risk." <u>Int J Cancer</u> **58**(6): 774-780.

Martin-Pelaez, S., M. I. Covas, M. Fito, A. Kusar and I. Pravst (2013). "Health effects of olive oil polyphenols: recent advances and possibilities for the use of health claims." <u>Mol Nutr Food Res</u> **57**(5): 760-771.

Mascia, C., M. Maina, E. Chiarpotto, G. Leonarduzzi, G. Poli and F. Biasi (2010). "Proinflammatory effect of cholesterol and its oxidation products on CaCo-2 human enterocyte-like cells: effective protection by epigallocatechin-3-gallate." <u>Free Radic Biol</u> <u>Med</u> **49**(12): 2049-2057.

McCubrey, J. A. and R. A. Franklin (2006). "Reactive oxygen intermediates and signaling through kinase pathways." <u>Antioxid Redox Signal</u> **8**(9-10): 1745-1748.

Medina, E., M. Brenes, C. Romero, A. Garcia and A. de Castro (2007). "Main antimicrobial compounds in table olives." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **55**(24): 9817-9823.

Medina, E., A. de Castro, C. Romero and M. Brenes (2006). "Comparison of the concentrations of phenolic compounds in olive oils and other plant oils: correlation with antimicrobial activity." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **54**(14): 4954-4961.

Meunier, V., M. Bourrie, Y. Berger and G. Fabre (1995). "The human intestinal epithelial cell line Caco-2; pharmacological and pharmacokinetic applications." <u>Cell Biol Toxicol</u> **11**(3-4): 187-194.

Meza-Miranda, E. R., O. A. Rangel-Zuniga, C. Marin, P. Perez-Martinez, J. Delgado-Lista, C. Haro, P. Pena-Orihuela, A. I. Jimenez-Morales, M. M. Malagon, F. J. Tinahones, J. Lopez-Miranda, F. Perez-Jimenez and A. Camargo (2015). "Virgin olive oil rich in phenolic compounds modulates the expression of atherosclerosis-related genes in vascular endothelium." <u>Eur J Nutr</u>.

Miguet-Alfonsi, C., C. Prunet, S. Monier, G. Bessede, S. Lemaire-Ewing, A. Berthier, F. Menetrier, D. Neel, P. Gambert and G. Lizard (2002). "Analysis of oxidative processes and of myelin figures formation before and after the loss of mitochondrial transmembrane potential during 7beta-hydroxycholesterol and 7-ketocholesterol-induced apoptosis: comparison with various pro-apoptotic chemicals." <u>Biochem Pharmacol</u> **64**(3): 527-541.

Miles, E. A., P. Zoubouli and P. C. Calder (2005). "Differential anti-inflammatory effects of phenolic compounds from extra virgin olive oil identified in human whole blood cultures." <u>Nutrition</u> **21**(3): 389-394.

Mills, S. C., A. C. Windsor and S. C. Knight (2005). "The potential interactions between polyunsaturated fatty acids and colonic inflammatory processes." <u>Clin Exp Immunol</u> **142**(2): 216-228.

Miro-Casas, E., M. I. Covas, M. Farre, M. Fito, J. Ortuno, T. Weinbrenner, P. Roset and R. de la Torre (2003a). "Hydroxytyrosol disposition in humans." <u>Clin Chem</u> **49**(6 Pt 1): 945-952.

Miro-Casas, E., M. I. Covas, M. Fito, M. Farre-Albadalejo, J. Marrugat and R. de la Torre (2003b). "Tyrosol and hydroxytyrosol are absorbed from moderate and sustained doses of virgin olive oil in humans." <u>Eur J Clin Nutr</u> **57**(1): 186-190.

Miro-Casas, E., M. Farre Albaladejo, M. I. Covas, J. O. Rodriguez, E. Menoyo Colomer, R. M. Lamuela Raventos and R. de la Torre (2001a). "Capillary gas chromatography-mass spectrometry quantitative determination of hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol in human urine after olive oil intake." <u>Anal Biochem</u> **294**(1): 63-72.

Miro Casas, E., M. Farre Albadalejo, M. I. Covas Planells, M. Fito Colomer, R. M. Lamuela Raventos and R. de la Torre Fornell (2001b). "Tyrosol bioavailability in humans after ingestion of virgin olive oil." <u>Clin Chem</u> **47**(2): 341-343.

Molina, M. F., I. Sanchez-Reus, I. Iglesias and J. Benedi (2003). "Quercetin, a flavonoid antioxidant, prevents and protects against ethanol-induced oxidative stress in mouse liver." <u>Biol Pharm Bull</u> **26**(10): 1398-1402.

Montedoro, G., M. Servili, M. Baldioli and E. Miniati (1992). "Simple and hydrolyzable phenolic compounds in virgin olive oil. 1. Their extraction, separation, and quantitative and semiquantitative evaluation by HPLC." J. Agric. Food Chem 40: 1571-1576.

Montedoro, G. F. (1972). "Phenolic constituents of virgin olive oils. I. Identification of some phenolic acids and their antioxidant capacity." <u>Sci. Technol. Alimenti</u> **3**: 177-186.

Montedoro, G. F. and M. Servili (1992). <u>Tradizone ed Innovazioni Tecnologiche nell</u> <u>Estrazione degli Olii Extravergini Di Oliva</u>. Proceedings of International Congress "Olive Oil Quality", Firenze.

Monteleone, G., G. Del Vecchio Blanco, I. Monteleone, D. Fina, R. Caruso, V. Gioia, S. Ballerini, G. Federici, S. Bernardini, F. Pallone and T. T. MacDonald (2005). "Post-transcriptional regulation of Smad7 in the gut of patients with inflammatory bowel disease." <u>Gastroenterology</u> **129**(5): 1420-1429.

Morrissey PA and K. M. (2006). <u>Oxysterols: formation and biological function</u>. New York, Springer.

Muto, E., M. Dell'Agli, E. Sangiovanni, N. Mitro, M. Fumagalli, M. Crestani, E. De Fabiani and D. Caruso (2015). "Olive oil phenolic extract regulates interleukin-8 expression by transcriptional and post-transcriptional mechanisms in Caco-2 cells." <u>Mol Nutr Food Res</u>.

Naito, Y., M. Shimozawa, H. Manabe, M. Kuroda, N. Tomatsuri, K. Uchiyama, T. Takagi, N. Yoshida and T. Yoshikawa (2004). "Inhibitory effects of red wine extracts on endothelial-dependent adhesive interactions with monocytes induced by oxysterols." <u>Biol</u> <u>Res</u> **37**(2): 231-238.

Niaounakis, M. and C. P. Halvadakis (2006). Characterization of Olive Processing Waste.

Nicolaiew, N., N. Lemort, L. Adorni, B. Berra, G. Montorfano, S. Rapelli, N. Cortesi and B. Jacotot (1998). "Comparison between extra virgin olive oil and oleic acid rich sunflower oil: effects on postprandial lipemia and LDL susceptibility to oxidation." <u>Ann Nutr Metab</u> **42**(5): 251-260.

Ninfali, P., G. Mea, S. Giorgini, M. Rocchi and M. Bacchiocca (2005). "Antioxidant capacity of vegetables, spices and dressings relevant to nutrition." <u>Br J Nutr</u> **93**(2): 257-266.

Norlin, M., A. Toll, I. Bjorkhem and K. Wikvall (2000). "24-hydroxycholesterol is a substrate for hepatic cholesterol 7alpha-hydroxylase (CYP7A)." <u>J Lipid Res</u> **41**(10): 1629-1639.

Nousis, L., P. T. Doulias, N. Aligiannis, D. Bazios, A. Agalias, D. Galaris and S. Mitakou (2005). "DNA protecting and genotoxic effects of olive oil related components in cells exposed to hydrogen peroxide." <u>Free Radic Res</u> **39**(7): 787-795.

O'Callaghan, Y. C., J. A. Woods and N. M. O'Brien (2001). "Comparative study of the cytotoxicity and apoptosis-inducing potential of commonly occurring oxysterols." <u>Cell</u> <u>Biol Toxicol</u> **17**(2): 127-137.

O'Callaghan, Y. C., J. A. Woods and N. M. O'Brien (2002). "Characteristics of 7 betahydroxycholesterol-induced cell death in a human monocytic blood cell line, U937, and a human hepatoma cell line, HepG2." <u>Toxicol In Vitro</u> **16**(3): 245-251.

O'Sullivan A, J., C. O'Callaghan Y and M. O'Brien N (2005). "Differential effects of mixtures of cholesterol oxidation products on bovine aortic endothelial cells and human monocytic U937 cells." <u>Int J Toxicol</u> **24**(3): 173-179.

O'Sullivan, A. J., Y. C. O'Callaghan, J. A. Woods and N. M. O'Brien (2003). "Toxicity of cholesterol oxidation products to Caco-2 and HepG2 cells: modulatory effects of alphaand gamma-tocopherol." <u>J Appl Toxicol</u> **23**(3): 191-197.

Ortega, R. M., A. Palencia and A. M. Lopez-Sobaler (2006). "Improvement of cholesterol levels and reduction of cardiovascular risk via the consumption of phytosterols." <u>Br J Nutr</u> **96 Suppl 1**: 589-93.

Osada, K., E. Sasaki and M. Sugano (1994). "Lymphatic absorption of oxidized cholesterol in rats." <u>Lipids</u> **29**(8): 555-559.

Otaegui-Arrazola, A., M. Menendez-Carreno, D. Ansorena and I. Astiasaran (2010). "Oxysterols: A world to explore." <u>Food Chem Toxicol</u> **48**(12): 3289-3303.

Owen, R. W., W. Mier, A. Giacosa, W. E. Hull, B. Spiegelhalder and H. Bartsch (2000). "Phenolic compounds and squalene in olive oils: the concentration and antioxidant potential of total phenols, simple phenols, secoiridoids, lignansand squalene." <u>Food Chem</u> <u>Toxicol</u> **38**(8): 647-659. Paiva-Martins, F., J. Fernandes, S. Rocha, H. Nascimento, R. Vitorino, F. Amado, F. Borges, L. Belo and A. Santos-Silva (2009). "Effects of olive oil polyphenols on erythrocyte oxidative damage." <u>Mol Nutr Food Res</u> **53**(5): 609-616.

Paiva-Martins, F., M. H. Gordon and P. Gameiro (2003). "Activity and location of olive oil phenolic antioxidants in liposomes." <u>Chem Phys Lipids</u> **124**(1): 23-36.

Palozza, P., S. Serini, S. Verdecchia, M. Ameruso, S. Trombino, N. Picci, G. Monego and F. O. Ranelletti (2007). "Redox regulation of 7-ketocholesterol-induced apoptosis by beta-carotene in human macrophages." <u>Free Radic Biol Med</u> **42**(10): 1579-1590.

Palozza, P., R. Simone, A. Catalano, A. Boninsegna, V. Bohm, K. Frohlich, M. C. Mele, G. Monego and F. O. Ranelletti (2010). "Lycopene prevents 7-ketocholesterol-induced oxidative stress, cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in human macrophages." <u>J Nutr Biochem</u> **21**(1): 34-46.

Palozza, P., R. Simone, A. Catalano, G. Monego, A. Barini, M. C. Mele, N. Parrone, S. Trombino, N. Picci and F. O. Ranelletti (2011). "Lycopene prevention of oxysterol-induced proinflammatory cytokine cascade in human macrophages: inhibition of NF-kappaB nuclear binding and increase in PPARgamma expression." <u>I Nutr Biochem</u> **22**(3): 259-268.

Pampaloni, B., C. Mavilia, S. Fabbri, A. Romani, F. Ieri, A. Tanini, F. Tonelli and M. L. Brandi (2014). "In vitro effects of extracts of extra virgin olive oil on human colon cancer cells." <u>Nutr Cancer</u> **66**(7): 1228-1236.

Panico, A. M., V. Cardile, F. Garufi, C. Puglia, F. Bonina and G. Ronsisvalle (2005). "Protective effect of Capparis spinosa on chondrocytes." <u>Life Sci</u> 77(20): 2479-2488.

Pedruzzi, E., C. Guichard, V. Ollivier, F. Driss, M. Fay, C. Prunet, J. C. Marie, C. Pouzet, M. Samadi, C. Elbim, Y. O'Dowd, M. Bens, A. Vandewalle, M. A. Gougerot-Pocidalo, G. Lizard and E. Ogier-Denis (2004). "NAD(P)H oxidase Nox-4 mediates 7-ketocholesterol-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in human aortic smooth muscle cells." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **24**(24): 10703-10717.

Perez-Jimenez, F., J. Ruano, P. Perez-Martinez, F. Lopez-Segura and J. Lopez-Miranda (2007). "The influence of olive oil on human health: not a question of fat alone." <u>Mol Nutr</u> <u>Food Res</u> **51**(10): 1199-1208.

Perez-Lopez, F. R., P. Chedraui, J. Haya and J. L. Cuadros (2009). "Effects of the Mediterranean diet on longevity and age-related morbid conditions." <u>Maturitas</u> **64**(2): 67-79.

Peters, W. H. and H. M. Roelofs (1989). "Time-dependent activity and expression of glutathione S-transferases in the human colon adenocarcinoma cell line Caco-2." <u>Biochem</u> J **264**(2): 613-616.

Petroni, A., M. Blasevich, N. Papini, M. Salami, A. Sala and C. Galli (1997). "Inhibition of leukocyte leukotriene B4 production by an olive oil-derived phenol identified by mass-spectrometry." <u>Thromb Res</u> **87**(3): 315-322.

Petroni, A., M. Blasevich, M. Salami, N. Papini, G. F. Montedoro and C. Galli (1995). "Inhibition of platelet aggregation and eicosanoid production by phenolic components of olive oil." <u>Thromb Res</u> **78**(2): 151-160.

Piechota-Polanczyk, A. and J. Fichna (2014). "Review article: the role of oxidative stress in pathogenesis and treatment of inflammatory bowel diseases." <u>Naunyn Schmiedebergs</u> <u>Arch Pharmacol</u> **387**(7): 605-620.

Plat, J., J. A. Nichols and R. P. Mensink (2005). "Plant sterols and stanols: effects on mixed micellar composition and LXR (target gene) activation." <u>J Lipid Res</u> **46**(11): 2468-2476.

Poli, G. (2000). "Pathogenesis of liver fibrosis: role of oxidative stress." <u>Mol Aspects Med</u> **21**(3): 49-98.

Poli, G., F. Biasi and G. Leonarduzzi (2013). "Oxysterols in the pathogenesis of major chronic diseases." <u>Redox Biol</u> **1**(1): 125-130.

Poli, G., B. Sottero, S. Gargiulo and G. Leonarduzzi (2009). "Cholesterol oxidation products in the vascular remodeling due to atherosclerosis." <u>Mol Aspects Med</u> **30**(3): 180-189.

Prunet, C., T. Montange, A. Vejux, A. Laubriet, J. F. Rohmer, J. M. Riedinger, A. Athias, S. Lemaire-Ewing, D. Neel, J. M. Petit, E. Steinmetz, R. Brenot, P. Gambert and G. Lizard (2006). "Multiplexed flow cytometric analyses of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the culture media of oxysterol-treated human monocytic cells and in the sera of atherosclerotic patients." <u>Cytometry A</u> **69**(5): 359-373.

Quiles, J. L., A. J. Farquharson, D. K. Simpson, I. Grant and K. W. Wahle (2002). "Olive oil phenolics: effects on DNA oxidation and redox enzyme mRNA in prostate cells." <u>Br J Nutr</u> **88**(3): 225-234; discussion 223-224.

Quiles, J. L., M. C. Ramirez-Tortosa and P. Yaqoob (2006). "Olive Oil and Health." <u>CABI</u> <u>Publishing Oxford</u>.

Rafehi, H., K. Ververis and T. C. Karagiannis (2012). "Mechanisms of action of phenolic compounds in olive." <u>J Diet Suppl</u> **9**(2): 96-109.

Rantham Prabhakara, J. P., G. Feist, S. Thomasson, A. Thompson, E. Schommer and O. Ghribi (2008). "Differential effects of 24-hydroxycholesterol and 27-hydroxycholesterol on tyrosine hydroxylase and alpha-synuclein in human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells." J <u>Neurochem</u> **107**(6): 1722-1729.

Rezaie, A., R. D. Parker and M. Abdollahi (2007). "Oxidative stress and pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease: an epiphenomenon or the cause?" <u>Dig Dis Sci</u> **52**(9): 2015-2021.

Rice-Evans, C. A., N. J. Miller and G. Paganga (1996). "Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids." <u>Free Radic Biol Med</u> **20**(7): 933-956.

Rimoldi, M., M. Chieppa, V. Salucci, F. Avogadri, A. Sonzogni, G. M. Sampietro, A. Nespoli, G. Viale, P. Allavena and M. Rescigno (2005). "Intestinal immune homeostasis is regulated by the crosstalk between epithelial cells and dendritic cells." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **6**(5): 507-514.

Roche, M., C. Dufour, M. Loonis, M. Reist, P. A. Carrupt and O. Dangles (2009). "Olive phenols efficiently inhibit the oxidation of serum albumin-bound linoleic acid and butyrylcholine esterase." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1790**(4): 240-248.

Rodrigo, R., R. Castillo, R. Carrasco, P. Huerta and M. Moreno (2005). "Diminution of tissue lipid peroxidation in rats is related to the in vitro antioxidant capacity of wine." <u>Life Sci</u> **76**(8): 889-900.

Rodrigo, R., G. Rivera, M. Orellana, J. Araya and C. Bosco (2002). "Rat kidney antioxidant response to long-term exposure to flavonol rich red wine." <u>Life Sci</u> **71**(24): 2881-2895.

Rodriguez-Morato, J., L. Xicota, M. Fito, M. Farre, M. Dierssen and R. de la Torre (2015). "Potential Role of Olive Oil Phenolic Compounds in the Prevention of Neurodegenerative Diseases." <u>Molecules</u> **20**(3): 4655-4680.

Rokutan, K., T. Kawahara, Y. Kuwano, K. Tominaga, K. Nishida and S. Teshima-Kondo (2008). "Nox enzymes and oxidative stress in the immunopathology of the gastrointestinal tract." <u>Semin Immunopathol</u> **30**(3): 315-327.

Romer, S. and N. Garti (2006). "The activity and absorption relationship of cholesterol and phytosterols." <u>Colloids and Surfaces a-Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects</u> **282**: 435-456.

Romero, C., E. Medina, J. Vargas, M. Brenes and A. De Castro (2007). "In vitro activity of olive oil polyphenols against Helicobacter pylori." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **55**(3): 680-686.

Romier, B., Y. J. Schneider, Y. Larondelle and A. During (2009). "Dietary polyphenols can modulate the intestinal inflammatory response." <u>Nutr Rev</u> **67**(7): 363-378.

Rosenblat, M. and M. Aviram (2002). "Oxysterol-induced activation of macrophage NADPH-oxidase enhances cell-mediated oxidation of LDL in the atherosclerotic apolipoprotein E deficient mouse: inhibitory role for vitamin E." <u>Atherosclerosis</u> **160**(1): 69-80.

Rosillo, M. A., M. J. Alcaraz, M. Sanchez-Hidalgo, J. G. Fernandez-Bolanos, C. Alarcon-dela-Lastra and M. L. Ferrandiz (2014). "Anti-inflammatory and joint protective effects of extra-virgin olive-oil polyphenol extract in experimental arthritis." <u>J Nutr Biochem</u> **25**(12): 1275-1281.

Rosklint, T., B. G. Ohlsson, O. Wiklund, K. Noren and L. M. Hulten (2002). "Oxysterols induce interleukin-1beta production in human macrophages." <u>Eur J Clin Invest</u> **32**(1): 35-42.

Ross, R. (1999). "Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory disease." <u>N Engl J Med</u> 340(2): 115-126.

Rousset, M., M. Laburthe, M. Pinto, G. Chevalier, C. Rouyer-Fessard, E. Dussaulx, G. Trugnan, N. Boige, J. L. Brun and A. Zweibaum (1985). "Enterocytic differentiation and glucose utilization in the human colon tumor cell line Caco-2: modulation by forskolin." J <u>Cell Physiol</u> **123**(3): 377-385.

Roussi, S., F. Gosse, D. Aoude-Werner, X. Zhang, E. Marchioni, P. Geoffroy, M. Miesch and F. Raul (2007). "Mitochondrial perturbation, oxidative stress and lysosomal destabilization are involved in 7beta-hydroxysitosterol and 7beta-hydroxycholesterol triggered apoptosis in human colon cancer cells." <u>Apoptosis</u> **12**(1): 87-96.

Roussi, S., A. Winter, F. Gosse, D. Werner, X. Zhang, E. Marchioni, P. Geoffroy, M. Miesch and F. Raul (2005). "Different apoptotic mechanisms are involved in the antiproliferative effects of 7beta-hydroxysitosterol and 7beta-hydroxycholesterol in human colon cancer cells." <u>Cell Death Differ</u> **12**(2): 128-135.

Rovellini, P. and N. Cortesi (2002). "Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry in the study of oleuropein and ligstroside aglycons in virgin olive oils: Aldehydic, dialdehydic forms and their oxidized products." <u>Riv. Ital. Sostanze Grasse</u> **79**: 1-14.

Ruano, J., J. Lopez-Miranda, F. Fuentes, J. A. Moreno, C. Bellido, P. Perez-Martinez, A. Lozano, P. Gomez, Y. Jimenez and F. Perez Jimenez (2005). "Phenolic content of virgin olive oil improves ischemic reactive hyperemia in hypercholesterolemic patients." <u>J Am</u> <u>Coll Cardiol</u> **46**(10): 1864-1868.

Rubio, L., A. Serra, C. Y. Chen, A. Macia, M. P. Romero, M. I. Covas, R. Sola and M. J. Motilva (2014). "Effect of the co-occurring components from olive oil and thyme extracts on the antioxidant status and its bioavailability in an acute ingestion in rats." <u>Food Funct</u> **5**(4): 740-747.

Rusinol, A. E., D. Thewke, J. Liu, N. Freeman, S. R. Panini and M. S. Sinensky (2004). "AKT/protein kinase B regulation of BCL family members during oxysterol-induced apoptosis." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **279**(2): 1392-1399.

Russell, D. W. (2000). "Oxysterol biosynthetic enzymes." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1529**(1-3): 126-135.

Ryan, D. and K. Robards (1998). "Phenolic compounds in olives." Analyst 123: 31R-44R.

Ryan, E., J. Chopra, F. McCarthy, A. R. Maguire and N. M. O'Brien (2005). "Qualitative and quantitative comparison of the cytotoxic and apoptotic potential of phytosterol oxidation products with their corresponding cholesterol oxidation products." <u>Br J Nutr</u> **94**(3): 443-451.

Ryan, E., F. O. McCarthy, A. R. Maguire and N. M. O'Brien (2009). "Phytosterol oxidation products: their formation, occurrence, and biological effects." <u>Food Rev. Int.</u> **25**(2): 157-174.

Rydberg, E. K., L. Salomonsson, L. M. Hulten, K. Noren, G. Bondjers, O. Wiklund, T. Bjornheden and B. G. Ohlsson (2003). "Hypoxia increases 25-hydroxycholesterol-induced interleukin-8 protein secretion in human macrophages." <u>Atherosclerosis</u> **170**(2): 245-252.

Salami, M., C. Galli, L. De Angelis and F. Visioli (1995). "Formation of F2-isoprostanes in oxidized low density lipoprotein: inhibitory effect of hydroxytyrosol." <u>Pharmacol Res</u> **31**(5): 275-279.

Salvayre, R., N. Auge, H. Benoist and A. Negre-Salvayre (2002). "Oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced apoptosis." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1585**(2-3): 213-221.

Salvini, S., F. Sera, D. Caruso, L. Giovannelli, F. Visioli, C. Saieva, G. Masala, M. Ceroti, V. Giovacchini, V. Pitozzi, C. Galli, A. Romani, N. Mulinacci, R. Bortolomeazzi, P. Dolara and D. Palli (2006). "Daily consumption of a high-phenol extra-virgin olive oil reduces oxidative DNA damage in postmenopausal women." <u>Br J Nutr</u> **95**(4): 742-751.

Sanchez-Fidalgo, S., A. Cardeno, M. Sanchez-Hidalgo, M. Aparicio-Soto and C. A. de la Lastra (2013). "Dietary extra virgin olive oil polyphenols supplementation modulates DSS-induced chronic colitis in mice." <u>J Nutr Biochem</u> **24**(7): 1401-1413.

Sanchez-Fidalgo, S., L. Sanchez de Ibarguen, A. Cardeno and C. Alarcon de la Lastra (2012). "Influence of extra virgin olive oil diet enriched with hydroxytyrosol in a chronic DSS colitis model." <u>Eur J Nutr</u> **51**(4): 497-506.

Santangelo, C., R. Vari, B. Scazzocchio, R. Di Benedetto, C. Filesi and R. Masella (2007). "Polyphenols, intracellular signalling and inflammation." <u>Ann Ist Super Sanita</u> **43**(4): 394-405.

Sarolic, M., M. Gugic, C. I. Tuberoso, I. Jerkovic, M. Suste, Z. Marijanovic and P. M. Kus (2014). "Volatile profile, phytochemicals and antioxidant activity of virgin olive oils from Croatian autochthonous varieties Masnjaca and Krvavica in comparison with Italian variety Leccino." <u>Molecules</u> **19**(1): 881-895.

Scalbert, A. and G. Williamson (2000). "Dietary intake and bioavailability of polyphenols." <u>J Nutr</u> **130**(8S Suppl): 2073S-2085S.

Scharf, G., S. Prustomersky, S. Knasmuller, R. Schulte-Hermann and W. W. Huber (2003). "Enhancement of glutathione and g-glutamylcysteine synthetase, the rate limiting enzyme of glutathione synthesis, by chemoprotective plant-derived food and beverage components in the human hepatoma cell line HepG2." <u>Nutr Cancer</u> **45**(1): 74-83.

Schroepfer, G. J., Jr. (2000). "Oxysterols: modulators of cholesterol metabolism and other processes." <u>Physiol Rev</u> **80**(1): 361-554.

Schweizer, R. A., M. Zurcher, Z. Balazs, B. Dick and A. Odermatt (2004). "Rapid hepatic metabolism of 7-ketocholesterol by 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1: species-specific differences between the rat, human, and hamster enzyme." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **279**(18): 18415-18424.

Scoditti, E., A. Nestola, M. Massaro, N. Calabriso, C. Storelli, R. De Caterina and M. A. Carluccio (2014). "Hydroxytyrosol suppresses MMP-9 and COX-2 activity and expression in activated human monocytes via PKCalpha and PKCbeta1 inhibition." <u>Atherosclerosis</u> **232**(1): 17-24.

Selma, M. V., J. C. Espin and F. A. Tomas-Barberan (2009). "Interaction between phenolics and gut microbiota: role in human health." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **57**(15): 6485-6501.

Serra-Majem, L., M. Bes-Rastrollo, B. Roman-Vinas, K. Pfrimer, A. Sanchez-Villegas and M. A. Martinez-Gonzalez (2009). "Dietary patterns and nutritional adequacy in a Mediterranean country." <u>Br J Nutr</u> **101 Suppl 2**: S21-28.

Serra-Majem, L., B. Roman and R. Estruch (2006). "Scientific evidence of interventions using the Mediterranean diet: a systematic review." <u>Nutr Rev</u> **64**(2 Pt 2): S27-47.

Servili, M., R. Selvaggini, S. Esposto, A. Taticchi, G. Montedoro and G. Morozzi (2004). "Health and sensory properties of virgin olive oil hydrophilic phenols: agronomic and technological aspects of production that affect their occurrence in the oil." <u>J Chromatogr A</u> **1054**(1-2): 113-127.

Sevanian, A., H. N. Hodis, J. Hwang, L. L. McLeod and H. Peterson (1995). "Characterization of endothelial cell injury by cholesterol oxidation products found in oxidized LDL." <u>J Lipid Res</u> **36**(9): 1971-1986.

Smith, L. L. (1987). "Cholesterol autoxidation 1981-1986." <u>Chem Phys Lipids</u> 44(2-4): 87-125.

Smith, L. L. (1996). "Review of progress in sterol oxidations: 1987-1995." <u>Lipids</u> **31**(5): 453-487.

Smith, L. L. and B. H. Johnson (1989). "Biological activities of oxysterols." <u>Free Radic Biol</u> <u>Med</u> **7**(3): 285-332.

Soler, M., L. Chatenoud, C. La Vecchia, S. Franceschi and E. Negri (1998). "Diet, alcohol, coffee and pancreatic cancer: final results from an Italian study." <u>Eur J Cancer Prev</u> 7(6): 455-460.

Soto, C., R. Recoba, H. Barron, C. Alvarez and L. Favari (2003). "Silymarin increases antioxidant enzymes in alloxan-induced diabetes in rat pancreas." <u>Comp Biochem Physiol</u> <u>C Toxicol Pharmacol</u> **136**(3): 205-212.

Sottero, B., P. Gamba, S. Gargiulo, G. Leonarduzzi and G. Poli (2009). "Cholesterol oxidation products and disease: an emerging topic of interest in medicinal chemistry." <u>Curr Med Chem</u> **16**(6): 685-705.

Staprans, I., X. M. Pan, J. H. Rapp and K. R. Feingold (2003). "Oxidized cholesterol in the diet is a source of oxidized lipoproteins in human serum." <u>J Lipid Res</u> **44**(4): 705-715.

Staprans, I., X. M. Pan, J. H. Rapp and K. R. Feingold (2005). "The role of dietary oxidized cholesterol and oxidized fatty acids in the development of atherosclerosis." <u>Mol Nutr</u> <u>Food Res</u> **49**(11): 1075-1082.

Stark, A. H. and Z. Madar (2002). "Olive oil as a functional food: epidemiology and nutritional approaches." <u>Nutr Rev</u> **60**(6): 170-176.

Steele, V. E., G. J. Kelloff, D. Balentine, C. W. Boone, R. Mehta, D. Bagheri, C. C. Sigman, S. Zhu and S. Sharma (2000). "Comparative chemopreventive mechanisms of green tea, black tea and selected polyphenol extracts measured by in vitro bioassays." <u>Carcinogenesis</u> **21**(1): 63-67.

Steffen, Y., I. Wiswedel, D. Peter, T. Schewe and H. Sies (2006). "Cytotoxicity of myeloperoxidase/nitrite-oxidized low-density lipoprotein toward endothelial cells is due to a high 7beta-hydroxycholesterol to 7-ketocholesterol ratio." <u>Free Radic Biol Med</u> **41**(7): 1139-1150.

Steinberg, D. (2002). "Atherogenesis in perspective: hypercholesterolemia and inflammation as partners in crime." <u>Nat Med</u> **8**(11): 1211-1217.

Steinberg, D., S. Parthasarathy, T. E. Carew, J. C. Khoo and J. L. Witztum (1989). "Beyond cholesterol. Modifications of low-density lipoprotein that increase its atherogenicity." <u>N</u> Engl J Med **320**(14): 915-924.

Stocker, R. and J. F. Keaney, Jr. (2004). "Role of oxidative modifications in atherosclerosis." <u>Physiol Rev</u> **84**(4): 1381-1478.

Stoneham, M., M. Goldacre, V. Seagroatt and L. Gill (2000). "Olive oil, diet and colorectal cancer: an ecological study and a hypothesis." <u>J Epidemiol Community Health</u> **54**(10): 756-760.

Sung, S. C., K. Kim, K. A. Lee, K. H. Choi, S. M. Kim, Y. H. Son, Y. S. Moon, S. K. Eo and B. Y. Rhim (2009). "7-Ketocholesterol upregulates interleukin-6 via mechanisms that are distinct from those of tumor necrosis factor-alpha, in vascular smooth muscle cells." <u>J Vasc</u> <u>Res</u> **46**(1): 36-44.

Tai, C. Y., Y. C. Chen and B. H. Chen (1999). "Analysis, formation and inhibition of cholesterol oxidation products in foods: An overview (Part I)." Journal of Food and Drug <u>Analysis</u> 7(4): 243-257.

Tang, R., H. Liu, T. Wang and K. Huang (2005). "Mechanisms of selenium inhibition of cell apoptosis induced by oxysterols in rat vascular smooth muscle cells." <u>Arch Biochem Biophys</u> **441**(1): 16-24.

Templar, J., S. P. Kon, T. P. Milligan, D. J. Newman and M. J. Raftery (1999). "Increased plasma malondialdehyde levels in glomerular disease as determined by a fully validated HPLC method." <u>Nephrol Dial Transplant</u> **14**(4): 946-951.

Togna, G. I., A. R. Togna, M. Franconi, C. Marra and M. Guiso (2003). "Olive oil isochromans inhibit human platelet reactivity." <u>J Nutr</u> **133**(8): 2532-2536.

Trichopoulou, A., K. Katsouyanni, S. Stuver, L. Tzala, C. Gnardellis, E. Rimm and D. Trichopoulos (1995). "Consumption of olive oil and specific food groups in relation to breast cancer risk in Greece." <u>J Natl Cancer Inst</u> **87**(2): 110-116.

Tripoli, E., M. Giammanco, G. Tabacchi, D. Di Majo, S. Giammanco and M. La Guardia (2005). "The phenolic compounds of olive oil: structure, biological activity and beneficial effects on human health." <u>Nutr Res Rev</u> **18**(1): 98-112.

Tuck, K. L., M. P. Freeman, P. J. Hayball, G. L. Stretch and I. Stupans (2001). "The in vivo fate of hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol, antioxidant phenolic constituents of olive oil, after intravenous and oral dosing of labeled compounds to rats." <u>J Nutr</u> **131**(7): 1993-1996.

Tuck, K. L., P. J. Hayball and I. Stupans (2002). "Structural characterization of the metabolites of hydroxytyrosol, the principal phenolic component in olive oil, in rats." J <u>Agric Food Chem</u> **50**(8): 2404-2409.

Ubhayasekera, S. J. K. A., A. Tres, R. Codony and P. C. Dutta (2010b). "Effect of feed fat byproducts with trans fatty acids and heated oil on cholesterol and oxycholesterols in chicken." J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 87.

Ubhayasekera, S. J. K. A., A. Tres, R. Codony, P. C. Dutta and (2010a). "Effects of different levels of trans fatty acids and oxidised lipids in diet on cholesterol and cholesterol oxidation products formation in rabbit." <u>Food Chem.</u> **121**(4): 1198-1202.

Uttara, B., A. V. Singh, P. Zamboni and R. T. Mahajan (2009). "Oxidative stress and neurodegenerative diseases: a review of upstream and downstream antioxidant therapeutic options." <u>Curr Neuropharmacol</u> 7(1): 65-74.

Uylaser, V. and G. Yildiz (2014). "The historical development and nutritional importance of olive and olive oil constituted an important part of the Mediterranean diet." <u>Crit Rev</u> <u>Food Sci Nutr</u> **54**(8): 1092-1101.

van Amerongen, A., R. A. Demel, J. Westerman and K. W. Wirtz (1989). "Transfer of cholesterol and oxysterol derivatives by the nonspecific lipid transfer protein (sterol carrier protein 2): a study on its mode of action." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1004**(1): 36-43.

Vauzour, D., K. Vafeiadou, G. Corona, S. E. Pollard, X. Tzounis and J. P. Spencer (2007). "Champagne wine polyphenols protect primary cortical neurons against peroxynitriteinduced injury." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **55**(8): 2854-2860.

Vaya, J. and H. M. Schipper (2007). "Oxysterols, cholesterol homeostasis, and Alzheimer disease." <u>J Neurochem</u> **102**(6): 1727-1737.

Vejux, A. and G. Lizard (2009). "Cytotoxic effects of oxysterols associated with human diseases: Induction of cell death (apoptosis and/or oncosis), oxidative and inflammatory activities, and phospholipidosis." <u>Mol Aspects Med</u> **30**(3): 153-170.

Vejux, A., L. Malvitte and G. Lizard (2008). "Side effects of oxysterols: cytotoxicity, oxidation, inflammation, and phospholipidosis." <u>Braz J Med Biol Res</u> **41**(7): 545-556.

Vicente, S. J. V., G. R. Sampaio, C. K. B. Ferrari and E. A. F. S. Torres (2012). "Oxidation of Cholesterol in Foods and Its Importance for Human Health." <u>Food Reviews International</u> **28**(1): 47-70.

Vine, D. F., C. L. Mamo, L. J. Beilin, T. A. Mori and K. D. Croft (1998). "Dietary oxysterols are incorporated in plasma triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, increase their susceptibility to oxidation and increase aortic cholesterol concentration of rabbits." <u>J Lipid Res</u> **39**(10): 1995-2004.

Vinha, A. F., F. Ferreres, B. M. Silva, P. Valentao, A. Goncalves, J. A. Pereira, M. B. Oliveira, R. M. Seabra and P. B. Andrade (2005). " Phenolic profiles of Portuguese olive fruits (Olea europaea L.): Influences of cultivar and geographical origin." <u>Food Chemistry</u> **89**: 561-568.

Viola, P. and M. Viola (2009). "Virgin olive oil as a fundamental nutritional component and skin protector." <u>Clin Dermatol</u> **27**(2): 159-165.

Visioli, F., D. Caruso, S. Grande, R. Bosisio, M. Villa, G. Galli, C. Sirtori and C. Galli (2005). "Virgin Olive Oil Study (VOLOS): vasoprotective potential of extra virgin olive oil in mildly dyslipidemic patients." <u>Eur J Nutr</u> **44**(2): 121-127.

Visioli, F., D. Caruso, E. Plasmati, R. Patelli, N. Mulinacci, A. Romani, G. Galli and C. Galli (2001). "Hydroxytyrosol, as a component of olive mill waste water, is dose- dependently absorbed and increases the antioxidant capacity of rat plasma." <u>Free Radic Res</u> **34**(3): 301-305.

Visioli, F. and C. Galli (2002). "Biological properties of olive oil phytochemicals." <u>Crit Rev</u> <u>Food Sci Nutr</u> **42**(3): 209-221.

Visioli, F., C. Galli, F. Bornet, A. Mattei, R. Patelli, G. Galli and D. Caruso (2000b). "Olive oil phenolics are dose-dependently absorbed in humans." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **468**(2-3): 159-160.

Visioli, F., C. Galli, S. Grande, K. Colonnelli, C. Patelli, G. Galli and D. Caruso (2003). "Hydroxytyrosol excretion differs between rats and humans and depends on the vehicle of administration." <u>J Nutr</u> **133**(8): 2612-2615.

Visioli, F., S. Grande, P. Bogani and C. Galli (2006). "Antioxidanrt properties of olive oil phenolics." <u>Olive Oil and Health</u> 109-118.

Visioli, F., A. Poli and C. Gall (2002). "Antioxidant and other biological activities of phenols from olives and olive oil." <u>Med Res Rev</u> **22**(1): 65-75.

Visioli, F., R. Wolfram, D. Richard, M. I. Abdullah and R. Crea (2009). "Olive phenolics increase glutathione levels in healthy volunteers." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u> **57**(5): 1793-1796.

Vissers, M. N., P. L. Zock, A. J. Roodenburg, R. Leenen and M. B. Katan (2002). "Olive oil phenols are absorbed in humans." <u>J Nutr</u> **132**(3): 409-417.

Vissers, M. N., P. L. Zock, S. A. Wiseman, S. Meyboom and M. B. Katan (2001). "Effect of phenol-rich extra virgin olive oil on markers of oxidation in healthy volunteers." <u>Eur J</u> <u>Clin Nutr</u> **55**(5): 334-341.

Vitaglione, P., M. Savarese, A. Paduano, L. Scalfi, V. Fogliano and R. Sacchi (2013). "Healthy virgin olive oil: a matter of bitterness." <u>Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr</u>.

Vivancos, M. and J. J. Moreno (2008). "Effect of resveratrol, tyrosol and beta-sitosterol on oxidised low-density lipoprotein-stimulated oxidative stress, arachidonic acid release and prostaglandin E2 synthesis by RAW 264.7 macrophages." <u>Br J Nutr</u> **99**(6): 1199-1207.

Vogelsang, H., M. Schwarzenhofer and G. Oberhuber (1998). "Changes in gastrointestinal permeability in celiac disease." <u>Dig Dis</u> **16**(6): 333-336.

Weinbrenner, T., M. Fito, R. de la Torre, G. T. Saez, P. Rijken, C. Tormos, S. Coolen, M. F. Albaladejo, S. Abanades, H. Schroder, J. Marrugat and M. I. Covas (2004). "Olive oils high in phenolic compounds modulate oxidative/antioxidative status in men." <u>J Nutr</u> **134**(9): 2314-2321.

White, J. G. (1994). "Platelets and atherosclerosis." <u>Eur J Clin Invest</u> 24 Suppl 1: 25-29.

Whiting, C. V., P. W. Bland and J. F. Tarlton (2005). "Dietary n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids reduce disease and colonic proinflammatory cytokines in a mouse model of colitis." <u>Inflamm Bowel Dis</u> **11**(4): 340-349.

Willett, W. C., F. Sacks, A. Trichopoulou, G. Drescher, A. Ferro-Luzzi, E. Helsing and D. Trichopoulos (1995). "Mediterranean diet pyramid: a cultural model for healthy eating." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **61**(6 Suppl): 1402S-1406S.

Witztum, J. L. (1994). "The oxidation hypothesis of atherosclerosis." <u>Lancet</u> **344**(8925): 793-795.

Wu, Q. and K. Huang (2006). "Protective effect of ebselen on cytotoxicity induced by cholestane-3 beta, 5 alpha, 6 beta-triol in ECV-304 cells." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1761**(3): 350-359.

Yamada, T. and M. B. Grisham (1991). "Role of neutrophil-derived oxidants in the pathogenesis of intestinal inflammation." <u>Klin Wochenschr</u> **69**(21-23): 988-994.

Yoon, J. H., A. E. Canbay, N. W. Werneburg, S. P. Lee and G. J. Gores (2004). "Oxysterols induce cyclooxygenase-2 expression in cholangiocytes: implications for biliary tract carcinogenesis." <u>Hepatology</u> **39**(3): 732-738.

Yudkin, J. S., M. Kumari, S. E. Humphries and V. Mohamed-Ali (2000). "Inflammation, obesity, stress and coronary heart disease: is interleukin-6 the link?" <u>Atherosclerosis</u> **148**(2): 209-214.

Zhang, X., J. Cao and L. Zhong (2009). "Hydroxytyrosol inhibits pro-inflammatory cytokines, iNOS, and COX-2 expression in human monocytic cells." <u>Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol</u> **379**(6): 581-586.